EXHIBIT A
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[ STATE OF NORTH CAROLINA | P o 3o

ONSLOW County " In The General Court Of Justice
' — pamn [JDistrict  {] Superior Court Division

NameOlPla/‘n&ﬁ“ ——— — = e
, MARKANTHONYGUTHRIE ’ !

hdGress , ) ’ ; CIVIL SUMMONS

zl/; ;::b;: & Perdue, P.A. 9208 Falls of Neuse Road, Suite 201 [JALIAS AND PLURIES SUMMONS (ASSESS FEE)

Ralglgh L ~ NC 27615

VERSUS o [ o . ' @.S. 1A-1, Rules 3 and 4
Name Of Defendant(s) . o - Date Original Summons Issued ™~ C . -
PHH MORTGAGE CORPORATION, TRANS UNION, LLC,

EQUIFAX INC., EQUIFAX INFORMATION SERVICES, LLC  {Date(s) Subsoquent Summens(as) Issiod -
\and EXPERIAN INFORMATION SOLUTIONS, INC. ' :

1 To Each Of The Defendant(s) Named Below:

Nama AadAddross Of Detandart 1 - ) Name And Address Of D:élendant 2

‘PHH MORTGAGE CORPORATION JTRANS UNION, LLC
Attn: Corporation Service Company - Registered Agent ‘| Attn; The Prentice-Hall Corporation System, Inc.
{2626 Glenwood Avenue, Suite 550 - 12626 Glenwood Avenue, Suite 550
|Raleigh 3 _ NC_ 27608  |Raleigh _ NC_ 27608

IMPORTANTI You have been sued! These papers are legal documenis DO NOT throw these papers out!
You have to respond within 30 days. You may want to talk with a fawyer about your case as soon as
possible, and, if needed, speak with someone who reads English and can translate these papers!

{IMPORTANTE! {Se ha entablado un proceso civil en su contral Estos papeles son documentos legales.
{NO TIRE estos papeles!

Tiene que contestar a mds tardar en 30 dias. jPuede querer consultar con un abogado lo antes posible
acerca de su caso y, de ser necesarlo, hablar con alguien que lea inglés y que pueda traducir estos

T documentos!

| A Civil Action Has Been Commenced Against You!
" You are notified to appear and answer the complaint of the plaintiff as follows:

1 1. Serve a copy of your written answer to the complaint upon the plaintiff or plaintiff's attorney within thirty (30) days after you have been
served. You may serve your answer by defivering a copy to the pfaintiif or by mailing it to the plaintiff's last known address, and

1 2. File the original of the wriften answer with the Clerk of Superior Court of the county named above.
If you fail to answer the complaint, the p!amtiff will apply to the Court for the relief dernanded in the complamt

Neme And Address Of Plaintiff's Attomey (if nons, Address Of Piaintif) | |Date lssued ) N o

{ LANDON G. VAN WINKLE, ESQ. | 12620 Sb /@ E]”M

‘| STUBBS & PERDUE, P.A. ‘ ;ignatum D ér‘ ene —I]B

1 9208 Falls of Neuse Road, Suite 201 . - —— =

{ Raleigh ' NC 27615 [l oeputy csc S&isfam csc  [_] Glerk Of Supsrior Court

i ’ - = — - pafé'OtEndorsemebt ' -17ms ) - -

! C1ENDORSEMENT (ASSESS FEE) I o ) Olaw [dem
This Summons was originally issued on the date indicated Signaturo o . o
above and returned not served. At the request of the plaintiff,
the time within which this Summons must be served is e L = —— e
extended sixty (60) days. [ beputy csC [] Assistant cSC ) crerk of superior Court

NOTE TO PARTIES: Many counties have MANDATORY ARBITRATION programs in which most cases where the amount in controversy is $25,000 or
less are heard by an arbitrator before a irial. The parties will bs notified if this case I assigned for mandatory arbitration, end, if
S0, what procedure Is to be followed. '

(Qver)
AOC-CV-100, Rev, 4/18
© 2018 Administrative Office of the Courts
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| RETURNOFSERVICE |

| certify that this Summons and a copy of the complaint were received and served as follows:

] DEFENDANT 1

Daste Sefved Time‘Served Name OF Defendant

Clam [Jem

» [ By delivering to the defendant named above a copy of the summons and complaint.
1 By leaving a copy of the surmmons and complaint at the dwelling house or usual place of abode of the defendant named above with a
person of suitable age and discretion then residing therein. )
[C] As the defendant is a corporation, service was effected by delivering a copy of the summons and complaint to the person named
below.

Name And Address Of Person With Whom Coples Lef (if corporation, give tille of parson copies left with)

O Other manner of service (specify)

(I Defendant WAS NOT served for the following reason:

DEFENDANT 2 -

Name Of Defendant

[jAM Oem

Dete Served ' Time Served

{7 By delivering to the defendant named above a copy of the summons and complaint.

[[1 By leaving a capy of the summons and complaint at the dwelling house or usual place of abode of the defendant named above with a
person of suitable age and discretion then residing therein, -~

[ As the defendant is a corporation, service was effected by delivering a copy of the summons and complaint to the person named
below.

| Name And Address Of Person With Whom 'COpies'Le!i‘ (if corporatian, gfve title of person capies left with)

[C] Other manner of service (specify)

[ Defendant WAS NOT served for the following reason:

Service Fee Pald ) Signature Of Deputy Sheriff Making Refum
$ .

Dals Received Name Of Sheniff (type or print)

Date Of Retumn County Of Sherft

AOC-CV-100, Side Two, Rev. 4/18
© 2018 Administrative Office of the Courts
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PHH MORTGAGE CORPORATION, TRANS UNION, LLC,
EQUIFAX INC., EQUIFAX INFORMATION SERVICES, LLC

and EXPERIAN INFORMATION SOLUTIONS, INC.

File No. )
STATE OF NORTH CAROLINA ) M ecvs. =
ONSLOW County In The General Court Of Justice
[ District  [X] Superior Court Division
Name OF Plaintiff
MARK ANTHONY GUTHRIE
Address i
. CIVIL SUMNMONS
;/; ;::b:,: & Perdue, P.‘A. 9298 Falls of Neuse Road, Suite 201 []ALIAS AND PLURIES SUMMONS (ASSESS FEE)
Raleigh NC 27615
' VERSUS , G.S. 1A-1, Rules 3 and 4
Name Of Defendant(s) Date Origlnal Summons Issued

Dale(s) Subsequent Summons{es) Issued

To Each Of The Defendant{s) Named Below:

Neme And Address Of Defendant 1
PHH MORTGAGE CORPORATION

Attn; Corporation Service Company - Registered Agent
2626 Glenwood Avenue, Suite 550

Raleigh NC 27608

» Name And Address Of Defendant 2

TRANS UNION, LLC
Attn: The Prentice-Hall Corporation System, Inc.
2626 Glenwood Avenue, Suite 550

Raleigh NC 27608

/N

A Civil Action Has Been Commenced Against Youl

iNO TIRE estos papeles!

documentos!

IMPORTANT!I You have been sued! These papers are legal documents, DO NOT throw these papers out!
You have to respond within 30 days. You may want to talk with a lawyer about your case as soon as
possible, and, If heeded, speak with someone who reads English and can translate these papers!

[IMPORTANTE! {Se ha entablado un proceso civil en su contral Estos papeles son documentos legales.

Tiene que contestar a mas tardar en 30 dias. {Puede querer consultar con un abogado lo antes posible
acerca de su caso y, de ser necesarlo, hablar con alguien que lea inglés y que pueda traducir estos

“You are notified to appear and answer the complaint of the plaintiff as follows:

1 1. Serve a copy of your written answer to the complaint upon the plaintiff or plaintiff's attorney within thirty (30) days after you have been
served. You may serve your answer by delivering a copy to the plaintiff or by mailing it to the plaintiff's last known address, and

2. File the original of the written answer with the Clerk of Superior Court of the county named above.
If you fail to answer the complaint, the plaintiff will apply to the Court for the relief demanded in the complaint.

Name And Address Of Flaintiff's Attomey (if none, Address Of Plainiiff)
'| LANDON G. VAN WINKLE, ESQ.

STUBBS & PERDUE, P.A.

9208 Falls of Neuse Road, Suite 201

Raleigh NC 27615

Date issued

"13) J2s20 ["Ip 56 S O

Signature Da rl en e C Futra ‘

: EI Depuly CSC /'Exisslstanf csc I:I Clerk Of Superior Court

[[] ENDORSEMENT (ASSESS FEE)
This Summons was originally issued on the date indicated
above and returned not served. At the request of the plaintiff,
the time within which this Summons must be served is
extended sixty (60) days.

so, what procedure is to be followed.

AOC-CV-100, Rev. 4/18
©® 2018 Administrative Office of the Courts

Date Of Endorsement Time
: [dam [em
Signature
[Jbeputycsc ~ [] Assistant €SC (] Crerk Of Supsrior Court

NOTE TO PARTIES: Many counties have MANDATORY ARBITRATION programs in which most casss whera the amount in controversy is $25,000 or
lass are heard by an arbitrator before a frial. The parties will be notified if this case is assigned for mandatory arbitration, and, if

(Over)
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]

RETURN OF SERVICE |

| certify that this Summons and a copy of the complaint were received and served as follows:

DEFENDANT 1

[Date Served

Time Served

Name OF Defendant
Oam [Jem .

below.

[[] By delivering to the defendant named above a copy of the summons and complaint.

] By leaving a copy of the summons and complaint at the dwelling house or usual place of abode of the defendant named above with a
person of suitable age and discretion then residing therein.

[] As the defendant is a corporation, service was effected by delivering a copy of the summons and complaint to the person named

“[ Name And Address Of Person With Whom Copies Left (if corporalion, give title of person copies left with)

[[1 Other manner of service (specify)

[] Defendant WAS NOT served for the following reason:

" DEFENDANT 2

Date Served

Time Served

Name Of Defendant
Oam [Clem

] By delivering to the defendant named above a copy of the summons and complaint

[ By leaving a copy of the summons and complaint at the dwelling house or usual place of abode of the defendant named above with a
person of suitable age and discretion then residing therein.

[[] As the defendant is a corporation, service was effected by delivering a copy of the summons and complaint to the person named
below.

"Name And Address Of Person With Whom Copies Left (if corporation, give title of person copies left with)

(O Ofther manner of service (specify)

| [O Defendant WAS NOT served for the following reason:

Signature Of Depuly Shenff Making Refurn

Service Fee Paid

$

Date Recejved Name Of Sheniff {type or print)
Date Of Retum County Of Sheriff

AOC-CV-100, Side Two, Rev. 4/18
© 2018 Administrative Office of the Courts
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c/o: Stubbs & Perdue, P.A.

STATE OF NORTH CAROLINA ILE D}.F”’"“ ncvs. b
i . : -
ONSLOW T i In The General Court Of Justice
County [ District  [X} Superior Court‘D;vIsion
Nams And Address Of Plaintiff 1
MARK ANTHONY GUTHRIE

U N3 ABSS

PHH MORTGAGE CORPORATION

9208 Falls of Neuse Road, Suite 201 ONSLOW Co. Rlﬁ. GENERAL
S:l":f:,Ais . NC : 276158 — ' CIVIL ACTION COVER SHEET
Y_ I X]INITIAL FILING ] SUBSEQUENT FILING
Rule §(b) of the General Rules of Practice for the Superior and District Courts
Neme And Address Of Defendant 1 VERSLS ‘ %%?éigﬁgﬁgm& ;ngfgzl;i%éggﬁmﬂnbd

Attn: The Prentice-Hall Corporation System, Inc. - Reg. Agent

. . Stubbs & Perdue, P.A.
Attn: Corporation Service Company - Reg. Agent 9208 Falls of Neuse Road, Suite 201
2626 Glenwood Avenue, Suite 550 \ i
Raleigh NC 27608 Raleigh NC 27615
. g i { Telephone No. Celluler Telephone No.

Summons Submitted (919) 870-6258

Xyes [INo NC Aftorney Bar No. | Aftomey Email Address
Narms Ard Addiess O DoTordant 2 52590 lvanwinkle@stubbsperdue.com
TRANS UNION, LLC

[X]initial Appearance in Case [_JChange of Address

2626 Glenwood Avenue, Suite 550 Name Of Firm Fex No,
Raleigh NC 27608 STUBBS & PERDUE, P.A. (919) 870-6259
S Submitted - Counsel For
emmens S Rves [No X]An Plaintifis  [JAl Defendants [[] Only: gist partyfias) reprasented)

[X] Jury Demanded In Pleading

[l Complex Litigation ~ [[] Stipulate to Arbitration

R
et

TYPE OF PLEADING  [/7Lii %,

—
%
il

(check afl that apply)
[[J Amend (AMND)
{T] Amended Answer/Reply (AMND-Response)
[C] Amended Comptaint (AMND)
[[] Assess Costs (COST)
[:I Answer/Reply (ANSW-Response) (see Noto)
D Change Venue (CHVN)
Complaint (COMP)
[ Confesslen Of Judgment (CNFJ)
T consent Order (CONS)
] consolidate (CNSL)
[C] contempt (CNTP)
I:] Continue (CNTN)
"] Compet (CIPL)
] Counterclaim {CTCL) Assess Court Costs
|:] Crossclalim (list on back) (CRSS) Assess Court Costs
] Dismiss (DISM) Assess Court Costs
] Exempt/walve Mediation (EXMD)
] Extend Statute Of Limitations, Rule 9 (ESOL)
[T} Extend Time For Comptaint (EXCO)
JFailure To Join Necessary Party (FJNP)

[JFailure To State A Claim (FASC)

(] tmplementation Of Wage Withholding in Non-IV-D Cases (OTHR)
[Jimproper Venue/Division (IMVN)

[including Attomey’s Fees (ATTY)

CJintervene (INTR)

[Jinterptead (OTHR)

[T Lack Of Jurisdiction (Person) (LJPN)

[[JLack OF Jurisdiction (Subject Matter) (LJSM)

[[] Modification Of Chitd Support In TV-D Actions (MSUP)

[ Notice Of Dismissal With Or Without Prejudice (VOLD)

[ Petition To Sue As indigent (OTHR)

[CJRute 12 Motion In Lieu Of Answer (MDLA)

) sanctions (SANC)

[]setAside (OTHR)

] show Cause (SHOW)

[ Transfer (TRFR)

7] Third Party Complaint (list Third Party Defendants on back) (TPCL)
[[] vacatemodity Judgment (vCMD)

D Withdraw As Counsel (WDCN)

(] other (specify and list each separately)

(AOC-CV-753) cover sheet.

NOTE: Ali filings in civil actlons shall include as the first page of the filing a cover sheet summarizing the critical efements of the filing in a format prescribed by
the Administrative Office of the Courts, and the Clerk of Superior Court shall require a party to refils a filing which does not include the required cover
sheet. For subsequent filings in civil actions, the filing party must include either a General Civil (AOC-CV-751), Motion (AOC-CV~ 752), or Court Action

(Over)
AOC-CV-751, Rev. 319, @ 2019 Administrative Office of the Courts
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[J Appointment Of Receiver (i\iJRC) Convictions (PLDP)

[[] Discovery Scheduling Order (DSCH)
[Jinjunction (INJU)

[ Limited Driving Privilege - Out-Of-State (] Product Liability (PROD)

[“1Real Property (RLPR)

‘[ Attachment/Garnishment (ATTC) ["1Medical Malpractice (MDML) [ specific Performance (SPPR)

[[] claim And Delivery (CLMD) [ Minor Settiement (MSTL) [X] Other (specify and list each separately)

[ Collection On Account (ACCT) [ mMoney Owed (MNYO) (1) NCGS 75-1.1 ; (2) NCGS 75-50 ; (3)

] condemnation (CNDM) [C1Negligence - Motor-Vehicle-(MVNG) NCGS 58-70-1 ;(4). ECRA, 15US.C:
[] Contract (CNTR) [XI Negligence - Other (NEGO) 1681 ; (5) TCPA, 47 U.S.C. 227; (6)

RESPA, 12 U.S.C. 2601; (7) FDCPA,

[JMotor Vehicle Lien G.S. Chapter 44A (MVLN) 15 U.S.C. 1692; (8) IIED; (9) NIED;
[[JPossession Of Persanal Property (POPP) (10 Negﬁgencé ’ ’

Date

Substitution Of Trustee (Judicial Foreclosure) (RSOT)
Supplemental Procedures (SUPR)

Signature Of Attomey/PAZ ’
01/30/2020 %W
EEES IN G.S. 7A-308 APPLY ’
Assert Right Of Access (ARAS) \/

PRO HAC VICE FEES APPLY
Motion For Out-Of-State Attomey To Appear In NC Courts In A Civil Or Criminal Matter (Out-Of-State Attomey/Pro Hac Vice Fee)

Nq. [JAdditional Pla_lptlff(s)

No. | [X] Additional Defendant(s) ] Third Party Defendant(s) | ::;“r:";;::
3 |EQUIFAX, INC. ves [INo
4 |BQUIFAX INFORMATION SERVICES, LLC Xves [no
5 |EXPERIAN INFORMATION SOLUTIONS, INC. (Bves [Ino

Cves [Ino
) [Clyes [Jno

Plaintifis) Ageinst Whom Counterciaim Asserted

Defendani(s) Against Whom Crossclalm Asserted

AOC-CV-751, Side Two, Rev. 3/19
© 2019 Administrative Office of the Courts
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STATE OF NORTH CAROLINA Fl | nEHGENERAL COURT OF JUSTICE
SUPERIOR COURT DIVISION

COUNTY OF ONSLOW 070 JaN 3 AFIIE]fEng' 20-cvs- Blb

GNS'L'@W €0., ¢.8.0.
MARK ANTHONY GUTHRIE, BY )
S e

s

e e .

Plaintiff,
COMPLAINT
V. s ts
. PHH MORTGAGE CORPORATION f/k/a [JURY TRIAL DEMANDED]

OCWEN LOAN SERVICING, LLC d/b/a
PHH MORTGAGE SERVICES, TRANS
UNION, LLC, EQUIFAX, INC., EQUIFAX
INFORMATION SERVICES, LLC, and
EXPERIAN INFORMATION
SOLUTIONS, INC.,

Defendants.

NOW COMES Plaintiff MARK ANTHONY GUTHRIE (“Plaintiff*), by and through
undersigned counsel of recérd, and complaining of PHH MORTGAGE CORPORATION f/k/a
OCWEN LOAN SERVICING, LLC d/b/a PHH MORTGAGE SERVICES (“PHH” or
“Defendant PHH™), TRANS UNION, LLC (“Transunion” or “Defendant Transunion™),
EQUIFAX, INC. (“Defendant EI”) and EQUIFAX INFORMATION SERVICES, LLC
(“Defenda_nt EIS™) (colléctively “Equifax” or “Defendant E(iuifax”,), and EXPERIAN
INFORMATION SOLUTIONS, INC. (“Experian” or “Defendant Experian”) (collectively
“Defendants™) and hereby alleges and asserts as follows: '

| INTRODUCTION AND NATURE OF THE ACTION

1. This action is commenced by Plaintiff seeking actval and compensatory damages,
treble or punitive damages, reasonable attorneys’ fees and expenses, in redress of (i) PHH’s
violations of the North Carolina Unfair and Deceptive Trade Practices Act, N.C. Gen. Stat. § 75-

1.1 et seq. (the “UDTPA”); (ii) PHH’s violations of the North Carolina Debt Collection Act,
Filte

STUBBS & PERDUE, P.A.
Attorneys at Law
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N.C. Gen. Stat. § 75-50 et seq. (the “NCDCA™) or, in the alternative, (iii) PHH’s violations of
the North Carolina Collection Agency Act, N.C. Gen. Stat. § 58-70-1 et seq. (the “NCCAA”);
(iv) all Defendants® violations of the Fair Credit Reporting Act, 15 U.S.C. § 1681 ef seq. (the
“FCRA”); (v) PHH’s violations of the Telephone Consumer Protection Act, 47 U.S.C. § 227 (the
“TCPA”); (vi) PHH’s violations of the Real Estate Settlement Procedures Act, 12 U.S.C. § 2601
et seq. (the “RESPA”); (vii) PHH’s violations of the Fair Debt Collection Practices Act, 15
US.C. § 1692. et seq. (thé “FDCPA™); (viii) PHH’s intentional infliction of emotional distress;
and, in the alternative, (ix) PHH’s negligent infliction of emotional distress; and (x) all
Defendants’ negligence.

JURISDICTION AND VENUE

2. This Court has jurisdiction over Defendants pursuant to N.C. Gen. Stat. § 1-
75.4(1), as they are foreign corporations engaged in substanﬁal activity within the State of North
Carolina, and this action ariées from conduct and events which took place, and occurred within,
Onslow County, North Carolina.

3. Subject-inatter jurisdiction is conferred upon, and vested in, this Court pursuant
to, and by virtue of, inter alia, N.C. Gen. Stat. §§ 7A-240 and 7A-243.

4, Venue is proper in this Court, pursuant to N.C. Gen. Stat. §§ 1-80 and 1-82, as
Plaintiff is a citizen and resident of Onslow County, North Carolina, and all of the actions
complained of and giving rise to the claims for relief alleged herein arose in Onslow County,
North Carolina, within which Defendants regularly conduct their business operations and affairs.

IDENTIFICATION OF PARTIES |

5. Plaintiff is a natural person and a citizen and resident of Onslow County, North

Carolina.

& Case 7:20-cv-00043-BO Document 1-1 Filed 03/06/20 Page 9 of 230



6. Plaintiff is currently a commissioned officer serving on active duty in the United
States Marine Corps and is stationed at Marine Corps Air Station New River (“MCAS New
River”), where he serves as a pilot and the executive officer (“X0”’) of Marine Medium Tiltrotor
Squadron 263 (“VMM-ZG3”). |

7. PHH, upon information and belief, is a corporation formed and existing under the
laws of the State of New Jersey.

8. PHH, upon information and belief, engages in mortgage lending and mortgage
servicing_ throughout the United States, including throughout the State of North Carolina,
extending credit to consumers for the purposes of purchasing new or previously-built homes,
condominiums, and similar residential properties.

9. PHH has applied for and obtained a certificate of authority to transact business
within the State of North Carolina from the North Carolina Secretary of State, pursuant to N.C.
Gen. Stat. § 55-15-01(a).

10.  Upon information and belief, and according to the records maintained by the
North Carolina Secretary of State, the registered agent for PHH, accepting service of process at
2626 Glenwood Avenue, Suite 550, Raleigh, North Carolina 27608, is Corporation Service
Company.

11.  On or about May 31, 2019, PHH merged with OCWEN LOAN SERVICING,
LLC (“Ocwen”), with PHH being the surviving entity, as evidenced by the Certificate of Merger
issued by the Treasurer for the State of New Jersey that was subsequently filed by Ocwen with
the North Carolina Secretary of State on or about August 13, 2019 (the “Certificate of Merger™).

A copy of the Certificate of Merger is attached hereto as EXHIBIT 1 and incorporated herein by

reference.
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12.  Following the issuance and recordation of the Certificate of Merger, PHH became
the successor-by-merger of Ocwen.

13.  Accordingly, each and every act and/or omission of Ocwen, as further alleged and
detailed in this Complaint, is attributable to PHH as a matter of law.

14.  To be clear, and for the avoidance of doubt, each and every allegation contaiﬁed
herein directed at Ocwen is also directed at PHH as the successor-by-merger of Ocwen. |

15.  Upon information and belief, and as a successor-in-interest to Ocwen, PHH had
lmowlédge of each and every act, omission, communication, and practice undertaken by Ocwen
with respect to the loan transaction at issue in this action.

16.  Transunion, upon information and belief, is a limited liability company organized
and existing under the laws of the State of Delaware which engages in the collection and
compilation of consumer credit information or other information related to consumers, which it
publishes; and furnishes to third parties for use in interstate commerce.

17. Transunion has applied for and obtained a certificate of ahtliority to transact
business within the State of North Carolina from the North Carolina Secretary of State, pursuant
to N.C. Gen. Stat. § 57D-7-01(a).

18.  Upon information and belief, and according to the records maintained by the
North Carolina Secretéry of State, the registered agent for Transunion, accepting service of
‘process at 2626 Glenwood Avenue, Suite 550, Raleigh, North Carolina 27608, is The Prentice- )
Hall Corporation System, Inc.

'19.  Defendant El, upon information and belief, is a cbrporation formed and existing
under the laws of the State of Georgia, which engages in the collection and compilation of

consumer credit information or other information related to consumers, which it publishes and

Case 7:20-cv-00043-BO Document 1-1 Filed 03/06/20 Page 11 of 230



furnishes to third parties for use in interstate commerce.

20.  Defendant EI has gpplied for and obtained a certificate of authority to transact
business within the State of North Carolina from the North Carolina Secretary of State, pursuant
to N.C. Gen. Stat. § 55-15-01(a).

2.1. Upon information and belief, and according to the records maintained by the
North Carolina Secretary of State, the registered agent for Defendant EI, accepting Aservice of
process at 2626 Glenwood Avenue, Suite 550, Raleigh, North Carolina 27608, is The Prentice-
Hall Corporation System, Inc.

22. Defendgnt EIS, upon information and belief, is a limited liability company
organized and existing under the laws of thp State of Georgia which engages in the collection
and compilation of consumer credit information or other information related to consumers,
which it publishes and furnishes to third parties for use in interstate cﬁmmerce. |

23.  Defendant EIS has'applied for and obtained a certificate of authority to transact
| business within the State of North Carolina from the North Carolina Secretary of State, pursuant
to N.C. Gen. Stat. § 57D-7-01(a).

24. | Upon infonnation and belief, and accordjng to the _;ecords maintained by the
North Carolina Secretary of State, the registered agént for Defendant EIS, éccepting service of
proces-s at 2626 Glenwood Avenue, Suite 550, Raleigh, North Carolina 27608, is Corporation
Service Company. | |

25. | Upon information and belief, and at all times relevant to this Complaint,
Defendant EI and Defendant EIS were acting in concert pursuant to a joint venture.

26.  Alternatively, upon informatiop and belief, and at all times relevant to this

Complaint, Defendant EI was the agent of Defendant EIS with the actual, implied, or apparent
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authority to act for, on behalf, and legally bind, Defendant EIS.

27.  Alternatively, upon information and belief, and at all times relevant to this
Complaint, Defendant EIS was the agent of Defendant EI with the actual, implied, or apparent
authority to act for, on behalf, and legally bind, Defendant EIL

28.  Upon information and belief, Defendant EI and Defendant EIS, collectively,
engage in the collection, 6rganizatibn, and dissemination of consumer credit information and are
known jointly to members of the general public as “Equifax.”

29. - Experian upon information and belief, is a corporation formed and existing under
the laws of the State of Ohio which engages in the collection and compilation of consumer credit
information or other information related to cohs‘utﬁers, which it publishes and furnishes to third
parties for use in inferstaté commerce.

30.  Experian has applied for and obtained a certificate of authority to transact
business within the State of North Carolina from the North Carolina Secretary of State, pursuant
to N.C. Gen. Stat. § 55-15-01(a).

31.  Upon information and belief, and according to the records maintained by the
North Carolina Secretary of State, the registered agent for Experian, accepting ;ervice of process
‘at 160 Mine Lake Court, Suite 200, Raleigh, North Carolina 27615-6417, is CT Corporation
System.

32. At all times _relevant to this Complaint, PHH and its predécessor-in—interest,
Ocwen, was acting as a “servicer” as that term is defined by 12 C.F.R § 1024.2(b).

33. At all times relevant to this Complaint; Transunion, Equifax, and Experian
(collectively, and hereinafter the “CRA Defendants”) were each acting as a “consumer reporting

agency” as that term is defined by 15 U.S.C. § 1681a(f).
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FACTUAL ALLEGATIONS

34.  On or about August 21, 2009, Plaintiff and his former spouse, Ms. Tonia M.
Guthrie (hereinafter referred to as “Former Spouse™), purchased a home in Jacksonville, North
Carolina located at 401 Joy Court, Jacksonville, North Carolina 28540 (the “Property”).

35. In connection with their purchase of the Property, Plaintiff and Former Spouse
executed an Adjustable Rate Note (the ‘“Note™) in the original principal amount of One Hundred
Ninety Thousand One Hundred Twenty-Six Dollars and 0/100 ($190,126.00), which was to be
repaid to GATEWAY FUNDING DIVERSIFIED MORTGAGE SERVICES, L.P. (“Gateway™),
in three hundred sixty (360) monthly installment payments consisting of principal and amortized |
interest, at the variable rate which was initially established as four percent (4.0%) per annum.

36.  Repayment of the Note was secured by a lien and encumbrance on the Property,
through the filing of a Deed of Trust dated August 21, 2009, and recorded in Book 3289, Page 18
of the Onslow County Registry on or about September 1, 2009 (the “Deed of Trust™) (the Note,
Deed of Trust, and related documents are ﬁercinafter collectively referred to as the “Loan”).

37.  Following Plaintiff and Former Spouse’s execution of the Note and Deed of
Trust, Gatewa& assigned all of its right, title, and interest in the Loan to ALLY BANK f/k/a -
GMAC BANK (collectively “Ally”), who subsequently assigned all of its right, title, and interest
in the Loan to GMAC MORTGAGE, LLC (“GMAC”).

38.  Thereafter, Plaintiff filed an individual voluntary petition for relief under chapter
13 of the United States Bankruptcy Code, 11 U.S.C. § 101 et seq. (the “Bankruptcy Code™) on or
about April 21, 2011 (the “Petition Date”), in the United States Bankruptcy Court for the Eastern

District of North Carolina (the “Bankruptcy Court”), BK Case No. 11-03134-8-RDD (hereinafter
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the “Bankruptcy Case”).!

39, On or about November 30, 2011, and in the Bankruptcy Case, GMAC filed a
proof of claim, Claim No. 13-2, (the “GMAC Proof of Claim”), in which it asserted a claim
against Plaintiff, arising from the Loan, in the amount of $195,701.44. A copy of the GMAC
Proof of Claim is attached hereto as EXHIBIT 2 and incorporated herein by reference.

40.  Prior to the Petition Date, Plaintiff and Former Spouse separated, with Former
Spouse leaving the State of North Carolina, while Plaintiff remained in the Property with their
two (2) minor children.

41.  On or about June 14, 2011, Plaintiff and Former Spouse divorced, as evidenced
by a Decree of Divoice entered by the Chancery Court for the First Judicial District of Jones
County, Mississippi. ' | .

| 42, | On or about August 16, 2011, the Bankruptcy Court entered an Order (the
“Confirmation Order”) confirming the Debtor’s Chapter 13 Plan of Reorganization (the “Chapter
13 Plan”)(the Chapter 13 Plan and the Confirmation Order are collectively referred to herein as
the “Confirmed Plan”) pursuant to 11 U.S.C. § 1325.

43.  The Confirmed Plan provided that Plaintiff would resume making the regular
contractual monthly installment payments on the Loan and would cure any prepetition arrearage
owed to GMAC over the life of the Chapter 13 Plan.

44, Follovlving his separation from Former Spouse, Plaintiff and his minor children
relocated to base housing on MCAS New River on or about January 22, 2013.

45.  As aresult of his relocation onto base housing, Plaintiff filed a Motion to Allow

1 Following the untimely passing of the Hon. Randy D. Doub, United States Bankruptcy Judge,
in 2015, the Bankruptcy Case was reassigned to the Hon. David M. Warren, United States
Bankruptcy Judge, and the case number accordingly changed to 11-03134-8-DMW.

8
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Surrender of Real Property and Modification of Chapter 13 Plan (the “Motion to Surrender”) in
the Bankruptcy Case, seeking an Order from the Bankruptcy Court allowing the Debtor to
surrender the Property to GMAC and modify his Confirmed Plan to exclude any further
payments to GMAC on account of the Loan. A copy of the Motion to Surrender is attached
hereto as EXHIBIT 3 and incorporated herein by reference.

46. On or about February 7, 2013, the Bankruptcy Court entered an Order allowing
the Motion to Surrender and permitting the modification of the Confirmed Plan to exclude
further payments to GMAC on the Loan (the “Surrender Order”). A copy of the Surrender Order

is attached hereto as EXHIBIT 4 and incorporated herein by reference.

47. Following entry of the Surrender Order, on or about March 15, 2013, PHH,
through its predecessor in interest OCWEN LOAN SERVICING, LLC (“Ocwen”), filed a
Transfer of Claim other than for Security (the “Notice of Transfer of Claim™) in the Bankruptcy
Case, notifying Plaintiff, the Bankruptcy Court, and other parties in interest that the holder of the
claim against Plaintiff arising from the Loan had been transferred from GMAC to Ocwen. A
copy of the Notice of Transfer of Claim is attached herefo as EXHIBIT 5 and incorporated
herein by reference.

48.  Beginning in approximately November 2013, Ocwen began harassing Plaintiff by
placing collection telephone calls to him in connection with the Loan on a weekly basis,
averaging approximately one (1) to three (3) calls to Plaintiff’s cellular telephone each and every
week, which persisted through approximately January 2016 (collectively the “Ocwen Collection
Calls™).

49.  Plaintiff conservatively estimates that the total number of phorie calls comprising

the Ocwen Collection Calls amounts to approximately two hundred twenty-five (225) telephone
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calls over a period of approximately 113 weeks.

50.  Ocwen initiated each of the Ocwen Collection Calls with the use of equipment
which has the capacity to store, produce, and dial multiple telephone numbers.

51. Plaintiff vociferously objected to each and every one of the Ocwen Collection
Calls, repeatedly asking Ocwen to cease contacting him conclerning the Loan.

52.  Plaintiff enlisted the aid of his counsel 1n the Bankruptcy Case, Douglas M.
Strout, Esq., who sent Ocwen at least two (2) separate warning letters informing it that the
Confirmed Plan had been modified by the Sutrender Order and that, consequently, Ocwen was
not entitled to collect, or attempt to collect, amounts owed under the Loan from Plaintiff, even
while the Bankruptcy Case remained pending.

53.  Ocwen acknoWlédged receipt of these letters, but completely ignored the
warnings contained therein.

54.  In fact, in a letter dated March 13, 2014 (the “March 13, 2014 Letter”), Ocwen

'acknowledged that it was aware that Plaintiff was represented by Mr. Strout, and further
informed Plaintiff that “all communications including verbal, mail, and email will be stopped.”

55.  Notwithstanding this promise, Ocwen persisted in contacting Plaintiff directly,
telephonically and in writing, between 2013 and 2019, both through the continued placement of
the Ocwen Collection Calls, and through numerous pieces of written correspbndence as further
alleged herein.

56.  Adding to Plaintiff’s sense of helplessness and frustration in attenipting to have
Ocwen modify its conduct to comply with applicable state .and federal law, the Confirmed Plan,
and the Surrender Order, Mr. Strout called Ocwen in 2014 and spoke with a representative who

assured him that Plaintiff’s records would be updated to reflect the entry of the Surrender Order,
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and that no further collection attempts would be made.

57.  Notwithstanding this telephonic representation, Ocwen never “updated” its
records, nor did it cease attempting to collect the Loan from Plaintiff, instead, it continued to
place the Ocwen Collection Calls and continued to send Plaintiff written correspondence
attempting to collect the Loan.

58. Following entry of the Surrender Order, Plaintiff, through his counsel in the
Bankruptcy Case, informed Ocwen of the existence of the Surrender Order and that the Property
had been surrendered through the Bankruptcy Case. |

59. In a letter to Plaintiff dated November 4, 2015 (the “November 4, 2015 Letter”),
Vchen appeared to acknowledge the surrender of the Property in the Bankruptcy Case, and
informed Plaintiff that “relief [from the automatic stay of 11 U.S.C. § 362] has not been granted
on the property. Therefore, we are in the process of filing a Motion for Relief on the property.” A

copy of the November 4, 2015 Letter is attached hereto as EXHIBIT 6 and incorporated herein
by reference.

60.  Notwithstanding its representation in the November 4, 2015 Letter, Ocwen never
filed any “motion for relief” in the Bankruptcy Case relating to the Property, nor did it take nay
other action that was promised in the November 4, 2015 Letter.

61.  On or about May 18, 2016, and after successfully completing all of the payments
required under his Chapter 13 Plan, as modified by the Surrender Order, Plaintiff received a
discharge of debt pursuant to 11 U.S.C. § 1328(a) (the “Discharge”). A copy of the Discharge is
attached hereto as EXHIBIT 7 and incorporated herein by reference.

62. The Discharge relieved, and discharged, Plaintiff from any legal obligation to

make any further payments on the Loan.
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63. Both GMAC and PHH (through Ocwen, its predecessor in interest) received
copies of the Discharge, as copies of the same were sent, via first class U.S. Mail, by the
Bankruptcy Noticing Center, to the addresses provided by GMAC and PHH to the Bankruptcy
Court, on or about May 20, 2016, as evidenced in the Certificate of Notice prepared by the
Bankruptcy Noticing Center and filed in the Bankruptcy Case on May 20, 2016 (the “Certificate
of Notice”). A copy of the’ Cettificate of Notice is attached hereto as EXHIBIT 8 and
incorporated herein by reference.

64.  ‘On or about July 20, 2016, the Chapter 13 Trustee in the Bankruptcy Case filed a
Final Report, and on August 22, 2016, the Bankruptcy Cou’rt entered a Final Decree, closing the
Bankruptcy Case. |

65. * Following entry of the Surrender Order and the Discharge in the Bankruptcy
Case, Ocwen, 'and later PHH, were no' longer under any affirmative obligation to continue
providing periodic monthly mortgage statements to Plaintiff, pursuant to 12 C.FR.
§ 1026.41(e)(5)H(B)(2).

66. However, and notwithstanding entry of the Discharge and Ocwen’s awareness of
the same, it continued to seek payment on account of the Loan from Plaintiff through periodic
monthly morigage statements, demand letters, and similar correspondence between June 2016
and January 2019.

67. On or about June 19, 2017, Ocwen sent, and Plaintiff received, a docum;:nt
entitled “Mortgage Account Statement” which demanded payment from Plaintiff, on account of
the Loan, in the amount of $68,118.79, that was purportedly due to Ocwen on or before July 1,

2017.

68. On or about July 17, 2017, Ocwen sent, and Plaintiff received, a document
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entitled “Mortgage Account Statement” which demanded payment from Plaintiff, on account of
the Loan, in the amount of $69,134.38, that was purportedly due to Ocwen on or before August
1,2017.

69. When Plaintiﬂ‘ alerted Ocwen of its ongoing violations of the Discharge and
various applicable state and federal debt collection laws, Ocwen responded to Plaintiff, in a
Kafkaesque letter dated August 3, 2017 (the “August 3, 2017 Letter”), that while it was aware of
the Bankruptcy Case, the Surrender Order, and entry of the Discharge, that pursuant to its own
guidelines, “collection process will continue on loans which are out of bahlq'uptcy.” A copy of
the August 3, 2017 Letter is attached hereto as EXHIBIT 9 and incorporated herein by
reference.

70.  Notwithstanding the Discharge entered in Plaintiff’s Bankruptcy Case, Plaintiff’s
entreaties to Ocwen to update its records reflecting the Discharge and to cease misreporting and
attempting to collect upon the Loan, Ocwen continued to attempt to collect payments from
Plaintiff in connection with the Loan.

71. On or aboﬁt August 17, 2017, Ocwen sent, and Plaintiff received, a document
entitled “Mortgage Account Statement” which demanded payment from Plaintiff, on account of
the Loan, in the amount of $70,234.97, that was purportedly due to Ocwen on or before
September 1,2017.

72.  On or about September 18, 2017, Ocwen seﬁt, and Plaintiff received, a document
entitled “Mortgage Account Statement” which demanded payment from Plaintiff, on account of -
the Loan, m the amount of $71,576.06, that was purportedly due to Ocwen on or before October

1, 2017.

73.  On or about September 27, 2017, Ocwen sent, and Plaintiff received, a letter
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informing Plaintiff that the Loan was in substantial arrears, that a payment of $70.836.67 was
immediately due in order to bring the Loan current, that Plaintiff was sixty-one (61) payments
behind on the Loan, and that “if tlese payments are not made or we do not reach another
resolution, we may soon be forced to commence the foreclosure process as required by state
law.”

74. On or about October 17, 2017, Ocwen sent, and Plaintiff received, a document
entitled “Mortgage Account Statement” which demanded payment from Plaintiff, on account of
the Loan, in the amount of $72,923.85, that was purportedly due to Ocwen on or before
November 1, 2017.

75. Onl or about November 17, 2017, Ocwen sent, and Plaintiff received, a document
entitled “Mortgage Account Statement” which demanded payment from Plaintiff, on account of
the Loan, in the amount of $74,144.94, that was purportedly due to Ocwen on or before
December 1, 2017.

76. On or about December 18, 2017, Ocwen sent, and Pl_aintiff received, a document '
entitled “Mortgage Account Statement” which demanded payment from Plaintiff, on account of
the Loan, in the amount of $75,481.03, that was purportedly due to Ocwen on or before January
1,2018.

77.  On or about January 17, 2018, Ocwen sent, and _Plaintiff received, a document
entitled “Mortgage Account Statement” which demanded payment from Plaintiff, on account of
the Loan, in the amount of $76,566.11, that was purportedly due to Ocwen on or before February
1,2018.

78. On or about March 19, 2018, Ocwen sent, and Plaintiff received, a document

entitled “Mortgage Account Statement” which demanded payment from Plaintiff, on account of
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the Loan, in the amount of $78,752.09, that was purportedly due to Ocwen on or before April 1,
2018.

79. On or about March 23, 2018, Ocwen sent, and Plaintiff received, a letter
informing Plaintiff that the Loan was in substantjal arrears, that a payment of $77,680.85 was
immediately due in order to ‘bring the Loan current, that Plaintiff was sixty-seven (67) payments
behind on the Loan, and similarly warned Plaintiff that if the purportedly-delinquent payments
were.not made, that Ocwen might initiate foreclosure proceedings with respect to the Property.

80. On or about January 17, 2019, Ocwen sent, and Plaintiff received, a document
_entitled “Mortgage Account Statement” which demanded payment from Plaintiff, on account of
the Loan, in the amount of $89,174.12, that was purportedly due to Ocwen on or before February
1,2019.

81. | Ocwen, upon information and belief, submitted at least ten (10) addiﬁonal
monthly mortgage statements to Plaintiff, in an attempt to collect amounts owed pursuant to the
Loan from Plaintiff, during the months of February 2018, April 2018, May 2018, June 2018, July
2018, August 2018, September 2018, October 2018, November 2018, and December 2018.

82.  Additionally, and in violation of Plaintiff’s rights under the Discharge, Ocwen
continued to report to one or more consumer reporting agencies, as that term is defined by 15
U.S.C. § 1681a(f), that Plaintiff was delinquent on payments to Ocwen and that the Loan was in
default and subject to substantial arrears, notwithstanding that Plaintiff’s liability concerning the
Loan was discharged in the Bankruptcy Case.

83. . On or about January 14, 2019, Ocwen sent Plaintiff a letter (the “Notice of
Servicing Transfer”) informing him that it had “joined forces with PHH Mortgage Services,” and

that, as a result of such “joining forces,” Ocwen would be “consolidating all mortgage accounts
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into one company, PHH Mortgage Services . . ..” A copy of the Notice of Servicing Transfer is
attached hereto as EXHIBIT 10 and incorporated herein by reference.

84.  Following the “transfer” of servicing obligations for the Loan from Ocwen to
PHH, its successor-by-merger, PHH continued in Ocwen’s footsteps of unlawfully attempting to
collect a discharged debt, falsely reporting the validity, status, and amount of the Loan to one or
more consumer repérting agencies, and completely ignoring any attempt by Plaintiff to have
PHH update its records, conform its actions to applicable law, and cease attempting to collect
payments on account of the Loan from Plaintiff.

85. On or about February 19, 2019, PHH sent, and Plaintiff recéived, a document
entitled “Your monthly mortgage statement” which demanded payment from Plaintiff, on
account of the Loan, in the amount of $90,359.07, that was purportedly due to PHH on or before

March 1, 2019.

86. On or about March 18, 2019, PHH sent, and Plaintiff received, a document
entitled “Your monthly mortgage statement” which demanded payment from. Plaintiff, on
account of the Loan, in the amount of $91,537.44, that was pﬁrportedly due to PHH on or before
April 1, 2019.

87.  On or about April 15, 2019, PHH sent, and Plaintiff received, a letter entitled
“Notice of Right to Cure Default/45 Day Pre-Foreclosure Notice for Home Loans”, which
informed Plaintiff that the Loan was in default, that a payment in the amount of $85,903.49 was
required to be remitted to PHH, in certified funds, on or before May 30, 2019, and that if such
payment was not timely received, PHH would initiate foreclosure proceedings against Plaintiff in

connection with the Loan.

88. On or about April 16, 2019, PHH sent, and Plaintiff received, a document entitled
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“Your monthly mortgage statement” which demanded payment from Plaintiff, on account of the
Loan, in the amount of $92,753.45, which payment was purportedly due to PHH on or before
May 1, 2019.

89.  On or about May 16, 2019, PHH sent, and Plaintiff received, a document entitled
“Your monthly mortgage statement” which demanded payment from Plaintiff, on account of the
Loan, in the amount of $93,949.46, that was purportedly due to PHH on or before June 1, 2019.

90. On or about November 18, 2019, PHH sent, and Plaintiff received, a document
entitled “Your monthly mortgage statement” which demanded payment from Plaintiff, on
account of the Loan, in tﬁe amount of $102,600.39, that was purportedly due to PHH on or
before December 1, 2019.

91. PHH, upon information and belief, submitted at least six (6) additional monthly
mortgage statements to Plaintiff, in an attempt to collect amounts owed pursuant to the Loan
from Plaintiff, during the months of June 2019, July 2019, August 2019, September 2019,
October 2019, and December 2019. |

92.  Additionally, and between the period from February 2019 through November
2019, PHH placed or caused to be placed numerous collection calls to Plaintiff’s cellular
telephone, averaging 1 to 2 calls each and every week, for an estimated total of approximately
fifty-eight (58) collection calls (the “PHH Collection Calls™) (collectively, with the Ocwen
Collection Calls, the “Collection Telephone Calls”).

93.  In connection with these Collection Telephone Calls, PHH used equipment which
has the capacity to store or produce telephone numbers to be called and to dial such numbers.

94.  Plaintiff vociferously objected to the placement, and his receipt, of each of the

PHH Collection Calls, and repeatedly asked PHH to cease placing such calls to Plaintiff, but to
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no avail.

95. For example, on or about June 4, 2019, a PHH agent or employee who identified
herself as “Ebony” and provided her employee identification code as “XWD” called Plaintiff’s
cellular telephone, using an autodialer, at approximately 2:57 pm local time, from the phone
number (856) 917-2946, and demanded payment from Plaintiff in connection with the Loan.

96.  Ebony in fact confirmed to Plaintiff, during this telephone call, that she and PHH
used an automated system to generate such phone calls.

97.  On or about June 25, 2019, a PHH agent or employee who identified herself as
“Roshanda” and provided her employee identification code as “DBW” called Plaintiff’s cellular
élephone, using an autodialer, at épproximately 11:02 am local time, and demanded payment
from Plaintiff in-connection with the Loan. |

98.  On or about July 12, 2019, a PHH agent or employee who identified himself as
“Kevin” and provided his employee identification code as “7TS” or “ZTS” called Plaintiff’s
cellular telephone, using an autodialer, at approximately 11:58 am local time, and demanded
payment from Plaintiff in connection with the Loan.

99.  On or about September 19, 2019, a PHH agent or employee who identified
herself as “Cecilia” and provided her employee identification code as “DCK” called Plaintiff’s
cellular telephone, using an autodialer, at approximately 4:24 pm local time, and demanded
payment from Plaintiff in connection with the Loan.

100. During this telephone convefsation, Cecilia also confirmed that she and PHH used
an automated system to generate such phone calls.

101. In addiﬁon to calling Plaintiff from (856) 917-2946, agents and/or employees of

PHH also placed PHH Collection Calls to Plaintiff from, among other telephone numbers, phone
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numbers (800) 449-8767 and (800) 330-0423.

102. Following entry of Plaintiff’s Discharge, and based upon false and misleading
information submitted by PHH and/or Ocwen, the CRA Defendants continued to report,
inaccurately, that Plaintiff (i) remained liable to Ocwen and/or PHH for all or any portion of the
balance of the Loan; (ii) was in default under the terms of the Loan; (iii) was more than one
hundred twenty (120) days past due in remitting contractually-dwed payments under the Loan to
PHH and/or Ocwen; and (iv) was in breach of the terms of the Loan and was othefwise failing to
perform his obligations under the Note.

103. | In a consumer report, as defined by 15 U.S.C. § 1681a(d), dated December 31,
2017, Transunion reported that Plaintiff (i) remained indebted to Ocwen for the Loan; (ii) was
more than one hundred twenty (120) days past due in performing his obligations under the Loan;
(iii) owed a past-due balance of $90,762.00 in connection with the Loan; and (iv) had been past-
due for at lez;st one hundred twenty (120) days or more for each and every month between
October 2015 arid December 2017 (the “2017 Transunion Report”). A copy of the relevant
excerpted information in the 2017 Transunion Report is attached hereto as EXHIBIT 11 and
incorporated herein by reference.

104. In a consumer report, as defined by 15 U.S.C. § 1681a(d), dated January 11, 2019,
Transunion. reported that Plaintiff (i) remained indebted to Ocwen for the Loan; (ii) was current
in performing his obligations under the Loan; (iii) owed a total outstanding balance of
$235,403.00 in connection with the Loan; (iv) had been past-due for at least one hundred twenty
(120) days or more for each_and every month between October 2015 and August 2018; and (v)
for tﬁe period from September 2018 through November 2018, the Loan was reported as “OK”

with the additional remark that the Loan account was “AFFCTD BY NTRL/DCLRD DISASTR”
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(the “2019 Transunion Report”). A copy of the 2019 Transunion Report is attached hereto as
EXHIBIT 12 and incorporated herein by reference.

105. Upon information and belief, the notation in the 2019 Transunion Report that
Plaintiff’s Loan account was “AFFCTD BY NTRL/DCLRD DISASTR” means that the account
was “affected by a natural and/or declared disaster,” and that this notation for the months of
November 2018, October 2018, and September 2018, is the only reason the Loan was reflected
as current or “OK” for the months noted therein, not because of any proactive or corrective
action taken by Transunion, Ocwen, or PHH.

106. In fact, this conclusion is supported by Transunion’s own actions in connection
with Plaintiff’s efforts to address these inaccuracies.

I107. Specifically, during late December 2018 or early January 2019, and using the
process provided by Transunion, Plaintiff formally disputed the accuracy of the information
being supplied. by Transunicn on Plaintiff’s consumer reports concerning the Loan, namely that
Plaintiff was not liable on the Loan, and therefore was not in default under the Loan, did not owe
Ocwen and/or PHH any outstanding balance whatsoever under the Loan, and that he was not
late, delinquent, or past due on any payments purportedly owed in connection with the Loan
(collectively the “2019 Transunion Dispute™).

108. In response to the 2019 Transunion Dispute, and in a letter to Plaintiff dated
January 28, 2019 (the “Transunion Dispute Response™), Transunion inexplicably refused to
correctly update Plaintiff’s consumer report to display accurate information concerning the Loan.
A copy of the Transunion Dispute Response is attached hereto as EXHIBIT 13 and incorporated
herein by reference.

109. Rather than update its records to reflect the fact that the Loan had been discharged
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in Plaintiff’s Bankruptcy Case, and that Plaintiff was not liable to Ocwen or PHH in any amount
in connection with the Loan, Transunion instead simply updated its records concerning the Loaﬂ
to reflect that it was “OK” for the months of September 2018 and October 2018, because the
account, according to Transunion, was “AFFCTD BY NTRL/DCLRD DISASTR.”

110. Nevertheless, and as evidenced in the Transunion Dispute Response, Transunion
continued to report that Plaintiff was at least one hundred twenty (120) days delinquent in
payment of the Loan for each and every month from May 2016 through August 2018.

111. In late March 2019 or early April 2019, Plaintiff similarly initiated a dispute with
Experian in which he disputed the accuracy of Experian’s credit file and consumer report with
respect to the Loan.

112. Notwithstanding the entry of the Discharge three (3) years earlier, Experian
inexplicably informed Plaintiff that the information concerning the Loan had “been verified as
accurate,” and, as of April 10, 2019, P]aintiﬁ‘, according to Experian, was indebted to PHH in the
principal amount of $239,843, of which the sum of $84,745.00 was past due as of April 2019,
and in connection with which, Plaintiff was more than one hundred eighty (180) days past due.

113. Experian, upon information and belief, continued to report this inaccurate and
’false information concerning the Loan to multiple users of Plaintiff’s consumer credit file and
report, as further alleged herein.

114, Similarly, during the same time period, Plaintiff initiated a dispute with Equifax
concerning the accuracy of the consumer credit file and report maintained by Equifax as it
related to the Loan.

115. Equifax, similarly, did not conduct an investigation into Plaintiff’s dispute, and

instead joined its sister agencies in informing Plaintiff that the information concerning the Loan
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was accurate, that Plaintiff was in substantial arrears under the Loan, and that the Loan was past
due and delinquent,

116. During this same period, Plaintiff suffered actual damages as a direct and
proximate result of the willful, reckless, and/or negligent failure of the CRA Defendants to
- provide complete, accurate, and truthful information to -users of Plaintiff’s consumer report with
respect to the Loan.

117. Inearly 2019, when attempting to purchase a new vehicle, Plaintiff applied for an
extension of credit with SUNTRUST BANK (“SunTrust”) but was denied based upon
information SunTrust discovered in a consumer report concerning Plaintiff and the Loan, which
was provided to SunTrust by Transunion.

118. In a letter to Plaintiff dated April 23, 2019 (the “SunTrust Denial Letter”),
SunTrust informed Plaintiff, pursuant to the relevant provisions of the FCRA, that it had taken
adverse action with respect to his application for an extension of credit “based in whole or in part
on informatioﬁ from this consumer reporting agency,” referencing a consumer report provided to
SunTrust by 'i‘ransunion which was dated April 18, 2019. A copy of the SunTrust Denial Letter
is attached hereto as EXHIBIT 14 and incorporated herein by reference.

119.  Specifically, SunTrust cited, as reasons for denying Plaintiff’s application, that
Plaintiff had a “Serious delinquency,” that the “length of time since account not paid as agreed”
was too long, that a “Proportion of loan balances to loan amounts is too high,” and that the
“Amount past due on accounts” was too high.

120. The 2019 Transunion Report, whiéh predates the report provided to, and acted
| upon by, SunTrust by approximately three (3) months, reveals that the only account reported as

delinquent by Transunion was the account related to the Loan.
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1_21. Every other account listed in the 2019 Transunion Report, with the exception of
 the account associated with the Loan, was reported as “Current; Paid or Paying as Agreed,” and
no other account in the 2019 Transunion Report reflects any past due balance.

122. Plaintiff did not fall behind on any of his obligations to creditors between January
2019 and April 2019.

123. Accordingly, upon information and belief, the consumer report dated April 18,
2019 and provided to SunTrust by Transunion contained only one account which disclosed a

““serious delinquency,” or which disclosed a lengthy period of time in which the account was
“not paid as agreed,” or was otherwise past due: the account related to the Loan, which Plaintiff
had previously unsuccessfully disputed, and which Transunion purportedly verified with Ocwen
and/or PHH.

124. As a direct and proximate result of the willful, reckless, and/or negligent acts
and/or omissions of PHH and Transunion, Plaintiff was denied credit by SunTrust, and was thus
unable to complete the planned vehicle f)mchase he had undertaken.

125. Upon information and belief, and absent the false and materially misleading

_ information contained in the consumer report prepared by Transunion and provided to SunTrust,
Plaintiff would not have been denied credit, and would have been approved for the credit
requested.

126.  Similarly, in late 2018 and early 2019, Plaintiff had begun applying for mortgage
financing to purchase a residence for himself and his two (2) minor children, in order to relocate
from another home.

127. As part of his attempt to purchase a new home, Plaintiff applied for, and was

denied, a mortgage loan with NAVY FEDERAL CREDIT UNION (“NFCU”).
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128. in a letter to Plaintiff dated January 29, 2019 (the “NFCU Denial Letter”), NECU
disclosed to Piéintiff that it was denying his application for a mortgage loan, and that the
“principal reasons” for denying Plaintiff’s application was ;‘Delinquent Past or Pfesent Credit
Obligations with Others.” A copy of the NFCU Denial Letter is attached hereto as EXHIBIT 15
and incorporated herein by reference.

129.  As further detailed in the NFCU Denial Letter, NFCU based its decision to reject
Plaintiff’s application “in whole or in part on information obtained in a report from the consumer
1.'eporting agency or agencies listed below[,]” which listed the CRA Defendants.

130. Upon information and belief, each consumer report concerning Plaintiff that was
accessed by, or tendered to, NFCU in connection with Plaintiff’s mortgage loan application with
NFCU contained only one account which was purportedly subject to any delinquency or past due
amount: the Loan.

131, Accordingly, had the CRA Defendants provided consumer reports to NFCU
which included only truthful and accurate information conceming Plaintiff and his
creditworthiness, Plaintiff would have been approved for a mortgage loan with NFCU.

132. Worse than the embarrassing and inconvenient inability to meaningfully use his
credit, which, but for the false information concerning the Loan, reflected a generally excellent
payment history, Plaintiff also suffered, and continues to suffer, severe and grievous economic
damages and has been effectively rendered uﬁable to do his job in defense of this country as a
direct and proximate result of the willful, reckless, and/or négligent acts of Defendants.

133. Plaintiff, a commissioned officer in the United States Marine Corps, is a trained
tiltrotor pilot who is certified to operate the MV-22 Osprey, a unique aircraft capable of landing

vertically like a helicopter, but with the speed and fuel range of a fixed-wing airplane, which is
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used by the Marine Corps to insert and exfiltrate ground troops, supplies, and equipment from
conflict zones around the world.

134. As part of his job duties, and by virtue of his status as a pilot, Plaintiff secered
and has maintained a top secret security clearance (hereinafter the “Security Clearance™).

135. Additionally, as part of his duties as the XO of VMM-263, Plaintiff is required to
act as the commanding officer of VMM-263, a squadron of over two hundred (200) Marines, in |
the event the commanding officer is deployed or otherwise unavailable.

136. As the XO, and when serving as the acting commanding officer, Plaintiff is
required to view, possess, analyze, and otherwise interact with classified information, material,
and tangible objects, which requires Plaintiff to maintain his Security Clearance.

| 137. Moreover, as an active pilot, Plaintiff is required to maintain a certain number of
flight hours 'in_ a flight simulator, which, because of the classified nature of its design and
capabilities, also requires—as a condition of use—that Plaintiff maintain his Security Clearance.

138. Inthe event Plaintiff is unable to maintain his simulator hours, he faces potential
grounding (i.e., ineligibility to fly), removal from his current bosting as a pilot, and reassignment
to a non-flying billet.

139. Plaintiff’s unit operates on a periodic deployment rotation, wherein some Marines
and aircraft in the unit are deployed to combat areas overseas, while others remain stateside in a
state of training and deployment preparation, with each group rotating according to the needs of
the Marine Corps.

140. | In the event Plaintiff is unable to maintain his Security Clearance, he will also be
ineligible to deploy overseas with his unit and may be subject to a permanent reassignment to a

non-aviation duty assignment.
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141. As a member of the Department of Defehse (“DoD”) with a Security Clearance,
Plaintiff is subject to oversight by the Continuous Evaluation Program (“CEP”) implemented by
the Office of the Director of National Intelligence (“ODNI”) in concert with the Office of
Personnel Management (“OPM™) and the DoD.

142. The CEP is an ongoing screening process intended to ensure that individuals with
a Security Clearance continue to satisfy the requirements of maintaining such a clearance, in part
by using automated record checks that periodically report potentially adverse incidents
concerning the person to whom a Security Clearance has been granted.

143. When DbD personnel are granted a Security Clearance, they are automatically
enrolled in an information technology system maintained by the DoD called “Mirador.”

144. Mirador periodically checks available commercial, government, and public
records for all individuals holding a Security Clearance, and generates an aleﬁ if it uncovers
potentially negative information concerning the holder of the Security Clearance, such as arrest
records, criminal activity, suspicious financial activity, ete.

145. Once Mirador generates an alert, a DoD analyst working as part of the CEP
reviews the alert to verify that the information flagged by Mirador pertains to the correct person
within DoD, was not previously known by DoD or the CEP, and is relevant to the individual’s
continued eligibility for access to classified information.

146. If the DoD analyst confirms that these criteria are met, he or sh;: validates the alert
and geﬁerates a report based upon the alert, which is forwarded to the individual’s Security
Management Official (“SMO”), as well as to the DoD’s Consolidated Adjudications Facility

(“DoD CAF”).

147.  Once the SMO reviews the report, he or she prepares a final report and submits
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the same to the DoD CAF, which then reviews the alert, the initial report, and the final report
before requesting additional investigation or taking action based on the reports before it.

148. On or about May 30, 2019, Mirador conducted a routine scan of Plaintiff's credit
reports aﬁd discovered, in a consumer report prepared and maintained by Transunion, that
Plaintiff had past due accounts with PHH and Ocwen, and that the total delinquent debt
associated with these delinquent accounts was $65,000.00 (hereinafter the “CEP Alert”).

149.  On or about October 8, 2019, a DoD analyst verified and validated the alert, and
forwarded the alert, along with the analyst’s report, to Plaintiff’s prior command in California.

150. Onor about‘November 18, 2019, and in connection with the CEP Alert, the DoD
CAF submitied a letter to the SMO of Plaintiff’s prior command, which was locatéd in
California, seeking additional information from the SMO regarding the CEP Alert.

151.  Plaintiff did not become aware of the CEP Alert and the ensuing investigation
until early January 2020, when the CEP Alert and letter from DoD CAF were forwarded to the
SMO at Plaintiff’s command.

152. Since the transmission of the CEP Alert to the SMO at Plaintiff’s command,
which occurred, upon information and belief, on or about January 15, 2020, Plaintiff’s job duties
have ground to a virtual halt.

'. 153.  First, Plaintiff’s Security Clearance has been modified from current and active to
an indeterminate status, which has had the practical effect of revoking, in its entirety, Plaintiff’s
Security Clearance.

154. For example, and since approximﬁtely mid-January 2020, Plaintiff has been
informed that his access to the flight simulator has been suspended indefinitely because he lacks

the requisite Security Clearance to use the simulator.
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155. Similarly, Plaintiff’s billet of XO at his unit has been placed in significant
jeopardy, as he can no longer perform mission-critical functions in this role, because he is
required to have a valid and current Security Clearance to do so.

156. Further, Plaintiff is ineligible to fly while his Security Clearance remains in
question and is accordingly in'jeopardy of losing his entitlement to aviation incentive pay
moving forward.

157. Plaintiff was recently notified that he has become eligible for promotion to
Lieutenant Colonel, a prestigious promotion which would entail not only a rank and pay
increase, but eligibility for assignment to a new duty station, a higher billet, and additional
perquisites.

158. However, Plaintiff’s préspective promotion to Lieutenant Colonel is now in
jeopardy, as any such promotion would require, as a baseline for eligibility, that the candidate
possess a valid Security Clearance.

159. Additionally, Plaintiff has bgcome ineligible to participate in certain training drills
being conduﬁted by his unit in preparation for an overseas deployment in support of the Global
War on Terror, as a result of which, Plaintiff’s deployment readiness, and that of his unit, has
been materially impaired. |

160. In addition to the monumental impact that the CEP Alert has had on his day-to-

- day operations within his unit, Plaintiff has z_a.lso suffered severe and ongoing professional
embarrassment, as he has had to explain to numerous other Marines why he cannot participate in
this or that activity because of the status of his Security Clearance.

161. Plaintiff has also suffered significant medical damages as a direct and proximate

result of the acts and/or omissions of Defendants as outlined herein.
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162. Specifically, beginning approximately two (2) years ago, when Ocwen and PHH
continued to incessantly attempt to collect the Loan from Plaintiff while purposefully ignoring
the legal effect and import of the Discharge, Plaintiff began suffering from extreme and
persistent anxiety which was so pervasive that it manifested as a severely elevated heart rate and
consistently high blood pressure, which was documented by his flight surgeon on numerous
occasions during regular checkups of Plaintiff.

163. Additionally, and as a result of the extreme stress and rigors of his job as an active
duty Marine, Plaintiff developed gastroesophageal reflux disease (“GERD”) beginning in 2006,
which required daily drugs to manage hisB symptoms.

164. Following Plaintiff’s initial diagnosis of GERD in 2006, Plaintiff successfully
mitigated the effect of the disease and was symptom-free as a result of medication and changes
to diet and exercise, until approximately two (2) years ago, when, as a direct and proximate
result of the acts and/or omissions of Defendants, Plaintiff’s GERD symptoms worsened
appreciably.

165. In fact, as a result of the extreme anxiety, stress, hopelessness, and feelings of
despair and helplessness caused by Defendants’ obnoxious refusal to recognize the validity and
legal effect of Plaintiff’s Discharge, Plaintiff was forced to change prescriptions to battle with
worsening symptoms of his GERD.

166. Plaintiff continues to suffer from extreme and persistent anxiety and a material
worsening of his GERD symptoms, and will continue to do so for as long as Defendants are able
to completely trample upon Plaintiff’é livelihood with impunity.

| 167. On or about December 16, 2019, in a vain attempt to ameliorate the situation,

Plaintiff, through his undersigned counsel, submitted correspondence to PHH entitled Qualified
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Written Request, Notice of Error, Notice of Disputed Information and Requests for Information
Pursuant to the Real Estate Settlement Proc:edures Act and Chapter 43 of the North Carolina
General Statutes, (the “QWR?™), in which Plaintiff provided PHH with his name and that of
Former Spouse, together with information which would enable PHH to identify the Loan with
particularity, and an assertion of the numerous ongoing servicing errors being committcd by
PHH. A copy of the QWR is attached hereto as EXH]BIT 16 and incorporated herein by
reference.

168. The QWR was mailed to the address designated by PHH as the established
address, pursuant to 12 C.F.R. §§ 1024.35(c) and 1024.36(b), at which PHH would receive
notices of error and requests for information (hereinafter the “QWR Address™).

169. The QWR was in fact received by PHH on December 20, 2019, as evidenced by
the Domestic Return Receipt (the “QWR Receipt”) which was attached to the envelope
containing the QWR and returned to Plaintiff upon delivery of the QWR by the United States
Postal Service. A copy of the QWR Receipf is attached her&o as EXHIBIT 17 and incorporated
herein by reference. | | |

170. Notwithstanding the mandate set forth in 12 C.F.R. §§ 1024.35(d) and 1024.36(c),
PHH failed to provide Plaintiff with a written response acknowledging its receipt of the QWR.

171. The QWR made clear to PHH that Plaintiff was in fact represented by the
undersigned, by including in the QWR, for PHH’s reference, a signed and noﬁrized document
“captioned Letter Evidencing Legal Authoriiy of Attorney to Act on Behdlf of Client, -in which
Plaintiff made clear that he was represented by the undeisigned in connection with the Loan.

172. Notwithstanding its actual knowledge that Plaintiff was represented by an

attorney in connection with the Loan, PHH proceeded to send correspondence attempting to
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collect the Loan directly to Plaintiff.

173. Specifically, PHH sent Plaintiff a payoff statement dated December 30, 2019, in
which it asserted that Plaintiff owed a total of $253,465.93 in connection with the Loan (the
“December 2019 Payoff Statement™). V

174. Upon learning that PHH had sent the December 2019 Payoff Statement directly to
Plaintiff, rather than his undersigned counsel, Plaintiff, through the undersigned, prepared and
sent a second letter to PHH, captioned Second Notification that Borrower is Represented by
Counsel; Instruction to Cease Communicating Directly with Borrower in Violation of the Fair
Debt Collection Practices Act, 15 US.C. § 1692 et seq. (the “Cease and Desist Letter”), in which
| Plaintiff again notified PHH that he was represented by counsel, and requested and instructed
PHH to direct all future correspondence concerning Plaintiff or the Loan to the undersigned. A
copy of the Cease and Desist Letter is attached hereto as EXHIBIT 18 and incorporated herein
by reference.

175. The Cease and Desist Letter was mailed to PHH at its registered agent in the State
of North Carolina, as well as to the address designated by PHH as its exclusive mailing address
for the receipt of notices of error and/or requests for information.

176. The Cease and Desist Letter was in fact received by PHH, through its registered
agent, on January 10, 2020, as evidenced by the Domestic Return Receipt feﬂecting delivery of
the same to PHH’s registered agent (the “Cease and Desist Return Receipt 1), a copy of which
is attached herefo as EXHIBIT 19.and incorporated herein by reference.

177. . Further, the Cease and Desist Letter was received by PHH through receipt at its
QWR Address on January 13; 2020, as evidenced by the Domestic Return Receipt reflecting

delivery of the same to PHH’s QWR Address (the “Cease and Desist Return Receipt 2”), a copy

31

Case 7:20-cv-00043-BO Document 1-1 Filed 03/06/20 Page 38 of 230



of which is attached hereto as EXHIBIT 20 and incorporated herein by reference.

178. Notwithstanding its receipt of the QWR and the Cease and Desist Letter, and to
date, Plaintiff has not réceived any substantive response from PHH in connection with the QWR,
other than the December 2019 Payoff Statement sent directly to Plaintiff.

179. PHH_, through its acts and omissions with respect to Plaintiff and‘the Loém, has
demonstrated a pattern and practice of willful, malicious, intentional and callous disregard for

Plaintiff’s rights and the efficacy and legal effect of the Discharge entered in the Bankruptcy

. Case.

180. Moreover, PHH has consistently demonstrated a pattern and practice of disregard
for appiiéai)le state and federal law in violation of the rights of individual consumers nationwide,
including Plaintiff.

181. Such a pattern and practice is demonstrated by the following civil acfiéns, each of
which involved allegations and/or findings that PHH knowingly, recklessly, or negligently
- violated state and/or federal law to the detriment of individual consﬁners: '

A. PHH’s violation of the FCRA in connection with an individual citizen and
consumer in the State of West Virginia, which resulted in a jury holding PHH
liable and imposing punitive damages of Two Million Five Hundred
Thousand Dollars and 0/100 ($2,500,000.00), as evidenced and documented
in the Memorandum' Opinion and Order entered on October 12, 2016 in
Daugherty v. Ocwen Loan Servicing, LLC, No. 5:14-cv-24506, 2016 U.S.
Dist. LEXIS 159586 (S.D. W. Va. Oct. 12, 2016), (the “Daugherty Opinion”)
a copy of which is attached hereto as EXHIBIT 21 and incorporated herein

" by reference; '

B. PHH’s willful violation of the discharge injunction of 11 U.S.C.-§ 524, in
which it attempted to collect discharged debt from a chapter 13 debtor, and in
connection with which Judge Humrickhouse of the United States Bankruptcy
Court for the Eastern District of North Carolina awarded punitive damages to
the aggrieved debtor in the amount of $100 per day, which totaled over
$60,000.00, as memorialized in the Order entered on January 24, 2011 in In re
Adams, No. 5:10-CV-340-BR, 2011 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 158090 (E.D.N.C. Jan.
24, 2011), (the “Adams Order”) a copy of which is attached hereto as
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EXHIBIT 22 and incorporated herein by reference;

C. PHH’s negligent and willful violations of the FCRA, in connection with
which the aggrieved borrower was awarded $360,000.00 in punitive damages,
as evidenced by the Final Judgment entered in Jeffers v. Ocwen Loan
Servicing, LLC, No. 17-cv-000025-WYD-KHR, Docket Entry 90 (D. Colo.
Feb. 23, 2018), (the “Jeffers Judgment”) a copy of which is attached hereto as
EXHIBIT 23 and incorporated herein by reference; and

D. PHI’s willful violations of the Real Estate Settlement Procedures Act
(“RESPA”) and the Fair Debt Collection Practices Act (“FDCPA™), in
connection with which the aggrieved borrower was awarded $3,000,000.00 in
punitive damages, which was reduced to $582,000.00 by the United States
Court of Appeals for the Seventh Circuit on appeal, as evidenced by opinion
entered in Saccameno v. U.S. Bank, N.A. et al., 943 F.3d 1071 (7th Cir. 2019),
(the “Saccameno Opinion”) a copy of which is attached hereto as EXHIBIT
24 and incorporated herein by reference. '

182. Absent an award of punitive damages, PHH’s willful, malicious, and unlawful
practices are expected to continue to harm individual consumers, including Plaintiff.
183.  As a direct and proximate result of the acts and omissions of Defendants, jointly

and severally, Plaintiff has suffered actual damages in excess of TWENTY-FIVE THOUSAND

DOLLARS AND 0/100 ($25,000.00).

THE SERVICEMEMBER’S CIVIL RELIEF ACT OPERATES TO TOLL OTHERWISE
RELEVANT STATUTES OF LIMITATIONS APPLICABLE TO THIS ACTION
) [50 U.S.C. § 3936(a)]

184. At all times relevant to this Complaint, from prior to the filing of the Bankruptcy
Case, up through and including the date of the filing of this Complaint, Plaintiff we;s, and
remains, a “scrvicemember”‘ as that term is defined in 50 U.S.C. § 3911(1), and was, at all times
during the aforementioned period, engaged in “military service” as that term is defined in 50
U.S.C. §3911(2).

185. Accordingly, pursuant to 50 U.S.C. § 3936(a), the period of Plaintiff’s military

service may not be included in the computation of “any period limited by law, regulation, or

order for the bringing of any action or proceeding in a court, or in any board, bureau,
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commission, department, or other agency of a State (or political subdivision of a State) or the
United States by or against the servicemember . . . .” Id.

186. Therefore, this action is timely-filed without regard to any otherwise-applicable
statute of limitations that may hgve otherwise run in the interim, including, but not necessarily
limited to, 12 U.S.C. § 2614, 15 U.S.C. § 1681p, N.C. Gen. Stat. § 1-52, N.C. Gen. Stat. § 75-

16.2, and 28 U.S.C. § 1658(a).

FIRST CLAIM FOR RELIEF
Violations of the North Carolina Unfair and Deceptive Trade Practices Act
[N.C. Gen. Stat. § 75-1.1 e seq.]

(Defen dan( PHH)

187. Plaintiff incorporates by reference all the allegations contained in this Complaint
as if fully set forth herein.

188. Plaintiff is a natural person who is a citizen of, and consumer residing in, the State
of North Carolina.

189. PHH, in violation of the UDTPA, utilized means, methods, and measures, the
natural consequences of which were to oppresé, harass, and/or abuse Plaintiff.

190. The unscrupulous, | deceptive, unfair, misleading, immoral, oppressive and
harassing actions and conduct of PHH, as set forth herein, proximately caused economic injury
to Plaintiff, are in and affecting commerce, and have the capacity and tendency to deceive and/or
mislead ordinary North Carolina consumers.

191. PHH’s actions and course of conduct, with respect to the transactions described
herein, are unfair and deceptive in violation of N.C. Gen. Stat. § 75-1.1 in that such actions
offend the established public policy of the State of North Carolina.

192. Said actions, in addition, have the capacity and tendency to deceive the average

citizen, consumer, and/or business.
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193. PHH has utilized a myriad of false, deceptive, unscrupulous, and/or misleading

representations and conduct, including but not limited to the following:

A.

H.

PHH’s continued and ongoing refusal to acknowledge the fact that Plaintiffs
in personam liability in connection with the Loan was subject to the Discharge
entered in the Bankruptcy Case;

PHH’s statement, in the August 3, 2017 Letter, that notwithstanding the
existence and validity of Plaintiff’s Discharge, that its “collection process will
continue on loans which are out of bankruptcy,” a statement clearly
evidencing PHH’s complete and utter disregard for the existence and import
of the Discharge;

PHH’s continuing attempts to collect amounts from Plaintiff in connection
with the Loan, even though it knows that Plaintiff is not liable for any amount
in connection with the same; ’

PHH’s continuing transmission of false, inaccurate, and ~misleading
information concerning the Loan to one ot more of the CRA Defendants;

PHHs false and deceptive verification of the Loan to one or more of the CRA
Defendants, which it knew was not a valid obligation of Plaintiff when it
purported to verify the accuracy of the Loan debt to one or more of the CRA
Defendants;

PHH’s continuing communications with Plaintiff, intended to attempt to
collect payments in connection with the Loan, when PHH knew that Plaintiff
was represented by the undersigned;

PHH’s consistent and repeated refusal to update its records and cease
attempting to collect all or any portion of the Loan from Plaintiff; and

PHH’s heavy-handed, unfair, and unscrupulous actions and pattern of conduct
described herein.

194. PHH’s actions, pattern of conduct and willful disregard for applicable North

Carolina law and Plaintiff’s rights, constitute unfair and deceptive acts or practices proscribed by

N.C. Gen. Stat. § 75-1.1.

195. PHH'’s course of conduct and willful refusal to fully and adequately rectify the

situation offends established public policy, state law, and is immoral, unethical, oppressive,

unscrupulous, and/or substantially injurious to consumers located in the State of North Carolina.
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196. As a direct and proximate result of the conduct of PHH, as alleged herein,
Plaintiff is entitled to recover from PHH (i) actual damages in an amount in excess of TWENTY -
FIVE THOUSAND DOLLARS AND 0/100 ($25,000.00); (ii) trebled pursuant to N.C. Gen.
Stat. §75-16; and (iii) those reasonable costs and attorneys’ fees incurred by Plaintiff as a natural
.' consequence of PHH’s course of conduct, as provided in N.C. Gen. Stat. § 75-16.1.

197. The pattern of conduct, actions and omissions by PHH—as alleged herein—
constitute willful and wanton conduct in reckless disregard for, and indifference to, the well-
being of Plaintiff and other North Carolina citizens and consumers.

198. Upon information and belief, PHH has engaged in a pattern of similar conduct
against other citizens in thé State of North Carolina.

199. On account of its continued willful and wanton disregard for the UDTPA,
Plaintiff’s rights, and those of other North Carolina consumers, Plainﬁff is entitled to an award of

. punitive damages aéainst PHH in an amount to be determined at the trial of this matter.
" SECOND CLAIM FOR RELIER .
Violations of the North Carolina Debt Collection Act

[N.C. Gen. Stat, § 75-50 et seq.]
(Defendant PHH)

200. Plaintiff incorporates by reference all the allegations contained in this Complaint
as if fully set forth herein.

201. To the extent PHH invokes N.C. Gen. Stat. § 58-70-15(c)(11) or any similar
statute or otherwise contends it was, or is found to have been, collecting or attempting fo collect
amounts owed under the Loan as a “debt collector,” as defined in N.C. Gen. Stat. § 75-50(3),
rather than as a “collection agency,” as defined in N.C. Gen. Stat. § 58-70-15(a),'P1aintiﬁ asserts
that PHH has violated numerous provisions of the NCDCA...

202. Plaintiff is a natural person who incurred liability to PHH, in connection with the
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Loan, for personal, family, household, or agricultural purposes.

203. Plaintiff is therefore a “consumer,” as that term is defined under N.C. Gen. Stat.
§ 75-50(1).

204. PHH’s ongoing attempts to collect amounts from Plaintiff under the Loan
constitutes a “debt,” as that term is defined in N.C. Gen. Stat. § 75-50(2), because the Loan
constitutes an obligation alleged to be due or owed by Plaintiff, a consumer.

205. PHH, by virtue of the above-referenced course of conduct, actions and practices,
engaged—directly and indirectly—in the collection of the Loan from Plaintiff.

206. PHH, in attempting to collect upon the Loan, is a “debt collector” as that term is
defined pursuant to N.C. Gen. Stat. § 75-50(3), because PHH has been engaged, directly or
indirectly, in the collection of the Loan, a .debt, from Plaintiff, a consumer.

207. PHH—through its agents, officers, representatives, and employees—engaged,
directly and indirectly, in soliciting, asserting and enforcing the right to collect the alleged
outstanding balance under the Loan rom Plaintiff.

208. Upon information and belief, the aforementioned practices and actions displayed
by PHH are its standard procedure and practice towards borrowers, such as Plaintiff, for which
PHH is motivated by enhanced profits. |

209. PHH’s conduct, including but not limited to, multiple false representations
concerning the status and/or balance of the Loan, the multiple false repreéentations concerning
its rights and intentions under the Loan, and its continuing refusal or inability to acknowledge
that the Discharge excused Plaintiff from paying any amount in connection with the Loan,

violates the NCDCA.

210. PHH, through its agents, employees, and representatives, utilized faise, deceptive,
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misleading, oppressive, and unscrupulous, representations, measures or methods in connection

with the collection, servicing and other activities relating to Plaintiff and the Loan, as probibited

by Chapter 75 of the North Carolina General Statutes including, but not limited to falsely

representing the character, amount or legal status of a debt, as prohibiied by N.C. Gen. Stat.

§75-54, and used false representations or deceptive measures to collect or attempt to collect a

debt from Plaintiff,

211. Said actions, representations, measures and methods include, but are not limited

to, the following:

A.

Repeatedly misrepresenting the character and legal status of the Loan, in
violation of N.C. Gen. Stat. § 75-54(4); .

Using and/or threatening to use illegal means to cause harm to the reputation
of Plaintiff, including the continued false representation to the CRA
Defendants that Plaintiff remained liable for, and in default under, the Loan,
in'violation of N.C. Gen. Stat. § 75-51(1); '

Falsely representing to CRAs, including Experian, Equifax, and TransUnion,
that Plaintiff had not paid or had willfully refused to make payments owed
under the Loan, when in Plaintiff was under no such obligation, in violation of
N.C. Gen. Stat. § 75-51(3);

. Attempting to collect from Plaintiff amounts allegedly owed in connection

with the Loan, when the same were not actually owed by Plaintiff, in violation
of N.C. Gen. Stat. § 75-54(4);

Failing to disclose, in all communications with Plaintiff, that the
communications remitted by PHH were communications from a debt
collector, the purpose of which was to collect a debt, in violation of N.C. Gen.
Stat. § 75-54(2);

Communicating with Plaintiff when PHH had been notified by the
undersigned that the undersigned represents Plaintiff, in violation of N.C.
Gen. Stat. § 75-55(3); .

. Falsely representing to Plaintiff that amounts allegedly owed in connection

with the Loan would be increased by the addition of attorneys’ fees, collection
fees, and other fees, services, or charges, none of which PHH was legally
entitled to assess against, or collect from, Plaintiff, all in violation of N.C.
Gen. Stat. § 75-54(6); '
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H. Employing the aforementioned collection methods and procedures, with the
explicit knowledge that such conduct was in violation of the provisions of
applicable North Carolina law; and

I. Undertaking actions which PHH knew, or should have known, offend the
well-established public policy of the State of North Carolina, state law, and
which were otherwise immoral, oppressive, unscrupulous, deceptive and
substantially injurious to consumers, such as Plaintiff,

212. PHH utili_zed false, deceptive and misleading written and teléphonic
communications and representations in connection with the collection of the Loan from Plaintiff,
which possessed the tendency or capacity to mislead or created likelihood of deception, in
violation of N.C. Gen. Stat. § 75-1.1.

213. PHH displayed willfulness and indifference to the repeated errors and falsity of
the information that was communicated to Plaintiff between May 2016, and the filing of this
Complaint, given its continued communication and dissemination of false, misleading, and
inaccurate information concerning Plaintiff and the Loan, which it knew to be falSe, misleading,
inaccurate, incbmplete and/or inconsistent.

214. The aforementioned actions and conduct displayed and undertaken by PHH
constitute unconscionable, unfair, deceptive, misleading, and unscrupulous conduct, the natural
consequence of which is to harass, oppress or abuse Plaintiff in connection with the collection of
the aﬁounts allegedly owed under the Loan, in violation of the UDTPA.

215. The actions of PHH complained of herein were willful as demonstrated by its
continued refusal to recognize the legal effect of the Discharge, cease attempting to collect

amounts allegedly owed under the Loan from Plaintiff, and otherwise conform its actions and

conduct to applicable North Carolina law.
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216. PHH’s actions and conduct were, in addition, patently unfair when judged against
its profit-incentivized motive and the extremely negative effect that its actions and conduct have
upon average North Carolina citize_,ns and consumers, including Plaintiff.

217. ﬁe unscrupulous, immoral, oppressive and harassing actions and conduct of
PHH, as set forth herein, proximately caused economic injury to Plaintiff, are in and affecting
commerce, and have the capacity and tendency to deceive an ordinary consumer.

218. PHH’s actions, pattern of conduct, and continued refusal to cease any and all
false, misleading, deceptive, and unlawful communications and conduct aimed at Plaintiff, as
alleged herein, constitute unfair and deceptive acts or practices proscribed by Chapter 75 of the
North Carolina General Statutes.

219. Plaintiff, on account of PHH’s course of conduct, as alleged herein, sustained
substantial damages iﬁcluding, but not limited to, impairment to his creditworthiness, denial of
requests for extensions of credit, including Plaintiff’s requests for credit directed to SunTrust and |
NFCU, severe and debilitating emotional distress, medical dén’mges and physical pain and
suffering as a dirgct and proximate result of the worsening of existing medical conditions
because of PHH’s conduct, reputational and professional harm arising from the CEP Alert and
the revocation of Plaintiff’s Security Clearance, and other pecuniary losses, expenses, cdsts and
damages, including but not limited to, the attorneys’ fees and expenses incurred in connection

- with the prosecution of this matter.

220. As a direct and proximate result of the foregoing actions, conduct and practices
employed by PHH, Plaintiff is entitled to have and recover judgment consisting of (i) actual
damages in an amount in excess of TWENTY-FIVE THOUSAND DOLLARS AND 0/100

($25,000.00), trebled pursuant to N.C. Gen. Stat. § 75-16; (ii) reasonable costs and attorneys’
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fees, as provided in N.C. Gen. Stat. §§ 75-16.1 and 75-56; and (iii) civil penalties of not less than
FIVE HUNDRED DOLLARS AND 0/100 ($500.00) nor greater than FOUR THOUSAND
DOLLARS AND 0/100 ($4,000.00) for each and every one of PHH’s violations of the NCDCA,
pursuant to N.C. Gen. Stat. § 75-56.
THIRD CLAIM FOR RELIEF
In the Alternative- Violations of the North Carolina Collection Agency Act

[N.C. Gen. Stat. § 58-70-1 et seq.]
(Defendant PHH)

221. Plaintiff incorporates by reference all the allegations contained in this Complaint
as if fully set forth herein.

222. To the extent PHH contends it was, or is found to have been, attempting to collect
amounts owed under the Loan in its capacity as a collection agency, rather than as a debt
collector, Plaintiff asserts that it violated parallel provisions of the NCCAA.

223. Plaintiff is a natural person who incurred liability to PHH, under the Loan, for
personal, family, household, or agricultural purposes.

224, Plaintiff is therefore a “consumer,” as that term is defined under NC Gen. Stat.
§ 58-70-90(2).

225. The relationship between Plaintiff and PHH arose out of the Loan, which
constitutes a “debt,” as that term is defined in N.C. Gen. Stat. § 58-70-90(3).

226. PHH, by virtue of the above-referenced course of conduct, actions and practices,
engaged—directly and indirectly—in the collection of the Loan.

227. PHH, in attempting to collect upon the Loan, acted as a “collection agency,” as
that term is defined m N.C. Gen. Stat. § 58-70-90(1) and § 58-70-15(a)-(b).

228. PHH—through its agents, officers, representatives, and employees—engaged,

directly and indirectly, in soliciting, asserting and enforcing the right to collect the alleged
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outstanding balance under the Loan from Plaintiff.

229. Upon information and belief, the aforementioned practices and actions displayed
by PHH are its standard procedure and practice towards borrowers, such as Plaintiff, for wﬁich
PHH is motivated by enhanced profits.

230. PHH’s conduct, including but not limited to, multiple false representations
concerning the status and/or balance of the Loan, the multiple false representations concerning
its.rights and intentions under the Loan, and its continuing refusal or inability to recognize the
legal effect of the Discharge on Plaintiff’s liability under the Loan, violates the NCCAA.

231. PHH", through its agents, employees, and represenmﬁves, utilized false, deceptive,
misleading, oppressive, and unscrupulous, reprgsentations, measures or methods in connection
with the collection, servicing and other activities relating to Plaintiff and the Loan, as prohibited
by Part 3 of Article 70 of Chapter 58 of the North Carolina General Statutes including, but not
limited to falsely mpreseﬂﬁng the character, amount or legal status of a debt, as prohibited by
N.C. Gen. Stat. § 58-70-110(4), and used false representations or deceptive measures to collect
or attempt to collect a debt from Plaintiff.

232. Said actions, representations, measures and methods include, but are not limited
1o, the following:

A. Repeatedly misrepresenting the character and legal status of the Loan, in
violation of N.C. Gen. Stat. § 58-70-110(4);

B. Using and/or threatening to use illegal means to cause harm to the reputation
of Plaintiff, including the continued false representation to the CRA
Defendants that Plaintiff remained liable for, and in default under, the Loan,
in violation of N.C. Gen. Stat. § 58-70-95(1);

C. Falsely representing to CRAs, including Experian, Equifax, and TransUnion,
that Plaintiff had not paid or had willfully refused to make payments owed
under the Loan, when in Plaintiff was under no such obligation, in violation of
N.C. Gen. Stat. § 58-70-95(3);
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. Attempting to collect from Plaintiff amounts allegedly owed in connection
* with the Loan, when the same were not actually owed by Plaintiff, in violation
of N.C. Gen. Stat. § 75-54(4);

. Failing to disclose, in all communications with Plaintiff, that the
communications remitted by PHH were communications from a debt
collector, the purpose of which was to collect a debt, in violation of N.C. Gen.
Stat. § 58-70-110(2);

. Communicating ‘with Plaintiff when PHH had been notified by the
undersigned that the undersigned represents Plaintiff, in violation of N.C.
Gen. Stat. § 58-70-115(3);

. Falsely representing to Plaintiff that amounts allegedly owed in connection
“with the Loan would be increased by the addition of attorneys’ fees, collection
fees, and other fees, services, or charges, none of which PHH was legally
entitled to assess against, or collect from, Plaintiff, all in violation of N.C.
Gen. Stat. § 58-70-110(6); :

. Employing the aforementioned collection' methods and procedures, with the
explicit knowledge that such conduct was in violation of the provisions of
applicable North Carolina law; and

Undertaking actions which PHH knew, or should have known, offend the
well-established public policy of the State of North Carolina, state law, and
which were otherwisé -immoral, oppressive, unscrupulous, deceptlve and
substantially injurious to consumers, such as Plaintiff.

PHH utilized false, deceptive and misleading written and telephonic

communications and representations in connection with the collection of the Loan from Plaintiff,

which possessed the tendency or capacity to mislead, or created likelihood of deception, in

violation of N.C. Gen. Stat. § 75-1.1.

234. PHH displayed willfulness and indifference to the repeated errors and falsity of

~ the information that was communicated to Plaintiff between May 2016, and the filing of this

Complaint, given its continued communication and dissemination of false, misléading, and

inaccurate information concerning Plaintiff and the Loan, which it knew to be false, misleading,

inaccurate, incomplete, and/or inconsistent.
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235. The aforementioned actions and conduct displayed and undertaken by PHH
constitute unconscionable, unfair, deceptive, niisleading, and unscrupulous conduct, the natural
consequence of which is to harass, oppress, or abuse Plaintiff in connection with the collection of
the amounts allegedly owed under the Loan, in violation of the NCCAA.

236. The actions of PHH complained of herein were willful as demonstrated by its.
continued refusal to recognize the legal effect of the Discharge, refusal to cease attempting to
collect amounts allegecily owed under the Loan from Plaintiff, and otherwise conform its actions
and conduct to applicable North Carolina law.

237. PHH’s actions and conduct were, in addition, patehtly unfair when judged against
its profit-incentivized motive, intention, and the extremely negative effect that its actions and
conduct have upon average North Carolina citizens aild consumers, including Plaintiff.

258. The unscrupulous, immoral, oppressive, and harassing actions and conduct of
PHH, as -set forth herein, proximately caused economic injury to Plaintiff, are in and affecting
commerce and have the i:apacity to deceive an ordinary consumer.
| 239. PHH’s actions, pattern of conduct; and continued refusal to cease any and all
false, misleading, deceptive, and unlawful communications and conduct aimed at Plaintiff, as
alleged herein, constitute unfair and deceptive acts or practices pursuant to Chapter 58 of the
North Carolina General Statutes.

240. Plaintiff, on account of PHH’s cmirse of conduct, as alleged herein, sustained
substantial damziges including, but not limited to, impairmgnt to his creditworthiness, denial of
réquests for extensions of credit, including Plaintiff’s requests for credit directed to SunTrust and
NFCU, severe and debilitating emotional distress, medical damages and physical pain and

suffering as a direct and proximate result of the worsening of existing medical conditions
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because of PHH’s conduct, reputational and professional harm arising from the CEP Alert and
the revocation of Plaintiff’s Security Clearance, and other pécuniary losses, expenses, costs and
damaées, including but not limited to, the attorneys® fees and expenses incurred in connection
with the prosecution of this matter.

241. As a direct and proximate result of the foregoing actions, conduct and practices
employed by PHH, Plaintiff ié entitled to have and recover judgment consisting of (i) actual
damages in an amount in excess of TWENTY-FIVE THOUSAND DOLLARS AND 0/100
($25,000.00), trebled pursuant to N.C. Gen. Stat. §§ 75-16 and 58-70-130(a) and (c); (ii)
reasonable costs and attorneys’ fees, as prdvided in N.C. Gen. Stat. §§ 75-16.1 and 75-56; and
(iii) civil penalties not less than FIVE HUNDRED DOLLARS AND 0/100 ($500.00) nor greater
than FOUR THOUSAND DOLLARS AND 0/100 ($4,000.00) for each viélation of the NCCAA,

pursuant to N.C. Gen. Stat. § 58-70-130(b).

FOURTH CLAIM FOR RELIEF
Violations of the Fair Credit Reporting Act
[15 U.S.C. § 1681 et seq.]
(All Defendants)

242. Plaintiff incorporates by reference all the allegations contained in this Complaint
as if fully set forth herein.

243, PHH is a “furnisher of information” to consumer reporting agencies, as
contemplated by 15 U.S.C. § 1681s-2(b). |

244. The CRA Defendants are each “consumer reporting agenc[ies]” as that term is
defined in 15 U.S.C. § 1681a(f).

245. Pursuant to 15 U.S.C. §1681s-2(b)(1)E), furnishers of information, after

receiving notice of a dispute from a CRA and conducting an investigation and/or reinvestigation,

are required, for any inaccurate, incomplete, or unverifiable information, to promptly:

45

Case 7:20-cv-00043-BO Document 1-1 Filed 03/06/20 Page 52 of 230



@ modify that item of information;

(ii) delete that item of information; or

(iii) permanently block the reporting of that item of information.
15 U.S.C. § 1681-s2(b)(1)(E)(i) through (iii).

246. Plaintiff notified Transunion of the inaccuracy and falsity of the information on
Transunion’s consumer report concerning the Loan on or about January 1, 2019.

247. Plaintiff notified Equifax of the inaccuracy and falsity of the information on
Equifax’s consumer report concerning the Loan on or about April 1, 2019.

248. Plaintiff notified Experian of the inaccuracy and falsity of the information on
Experian’s consumer report concerning the Loan on or about April 1, 2019.

249. Plaintiff also notified PHH of the inaccuracy of the information contained in his
consumer reports in numerous prior correspondences, beginning in 2016 and culminating, most
recently, in the transmission of the QWR to PHH, which also disputed the accuracy of
information contained in Plaintiff’s consumer reports.

250. Despite actual ﬁotice from Plaintiff, and, upon information and belief, from one or
more of the CRA Defendants, PHH failed to adequately investigate the disputes.

251. At no time did PHH, Transunion, Equifax, or Experian notify Plaintiff that they
considered Plaintiff’s disputes frivolous or irrelevant.

252. PHH failed to timely modify, delete, or permanently block the reporting of the
false information concerning the Loan to the CRA Defendants.

253. As alleged in detail above, each of the CRA Defendants failed to conduct a
reasonable investigation into Plaintiff’s separate disputes with Transunion, Equifax, and
Experian concerning the Loan.

254. PHH has failed to adequately investigate Plaintiff’s disputes and alter its reporting
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to the CRA Defendants, in violation of 15 U.S.C. § 1681s-2(b).

255. Additionally, the CRA Defendants have failed to implement corrections made or
suggested by PHH, or, alternatively, have failed to conduct an adequate reinvestigation, in
violation of 15 U.S.C.§ 1681i.

256. Plaintiff sﬁffered actual damages from Defendants’ violations of the FCRA,
including, but not limited to impairment to his creditworthiness, denial of requests ’for extensions
of credit, including Plaintiff’s requests for credit directed to SunTrust and NFCU, severe and
debilitating emotional distress, medical damages and physical pain and suffering as a direct and
proximate result of the worsening of existing medical conditions because of PHH’s conduct,
reputational and professional harm arising from the CEP Alert and the revocation of Plaintiff’s
Security Clearance, and other pecuniary losses, expenses, cbsfs and damages, including but not
limited to, the attoreys’ fees and expenses incurred in connection with thé prosecution of this
matfer: |

257. Moreover, as a direct and proximate result of the failure of the CRA Defendants
to conduct a reasonable investigation and/or reinvestigation, and as a direct and proximate result
of PHIs failure to conduct a‘ reasonable investigation into Plaintiff’s multiple disputes, the CEP
Alert was issued, which has resulted in Plaintiff’s daily job grinding to a halt and remaining at a
standstill, and has placed his job, his billet, his promotion, and his entire career as a Marine
aviator in substantial jeopardy.

258. All of Defendants’ violations of the FCRA outlined herein constituted willful
noncompliance, entitling Plaintiff to statutory damages of not less than ONE HUNDRED
DOLLARS AND 0/100 ($100.00) and not more than ONE THOUSAND DOLLARS AND

0/100 ($1,000.00) per violation of the FCRA, together with punitive damages, costs, and
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reasonable attorneys’ fees, pursuant to 15 U.S.C. § 1681n.

259. Alternatively, all of Defendants’ violations of the FCRA outlined herein
constituted negligent noncompliance, entitling Plaintiff to actual damages, costs, and reasonable
attorneys’ fees, pursuant to 15 U.S.C. § 16810.

260. As é direct and proximate result of the conduct of Defendants, as alleged herein,
Plaintiff is entitled to recover from Defendants, jointly and severally, actual damages in an
amourit in excess of TWENTY-FIVE THOUSAND DOLLARS AND 0/100 ($25,000.00).

FIFTH CLAIM FOR RELIEFE

Violations of the Telephone Consumer Protection Act
[47 US.C. § 227]

(Defendant PHH)

261. Plaintiff incorborates by reference all the allegations contained in this Cbmplaint
as if fully set forth herein.

262. Ocwen made, or caused to be made, the Ocwen Collection Calls to Plaintiff,hat a
rate of approximately one to three calls per week between November 2013 and January 2016,
totaling an additional estimated two hundred twenty-five (225) telephone calls.

263. PHH made, or caused to be made, the PHH Collection Calls to Plaintiff, at a rate
of approximately one to two calls per week, between February 2019 and November 2019,
totaling an estimated fifty-cight (58) telephonel calls.

264. In.total, between November 2013 and November 2019, Ocwen and/or PHH
placed, or caused to be placed, in excess of two hundred eighty-three (283) Collection Telephone |
Calls to Plaintiff’s cel]ﬁlar telephone.

265. PHH is a “person” as that term is defined in 47 U.S.C. § 153(39), because it is a
corpora_xtion.

266. Each of the Collection Telephone Calls was made by PHH and/or Ocwen using an
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“automatic telephone dialing system” as that term is defined in 47 U.S.C. § 227(a)(1).

267. Each of the Collection Telephone Calls was made to a telephone number assigned
to a cellular telephone service and licensed to Plaintiff for his pri\;ate non-commercial use.

268. Further, the Collection Telephone Calls were made to Plaintiff’s cellular
telephone using multiple different phone numbers which were, upon information and belief,
utilized by PHH and/or Ocwen as part of an artifice or scheme to conceal the identity of the
 caller from the persdn answering the telephone.

269. Plaintiff at no time consented to PHH’s, or any of its predecessors (including
Ocwen), use of an auto dialer or similar device in communicating with Plaintiff. -

270. Plaintiff in fact objected to each of the Collection Telephone Calls, r;apeatedly
requesting that PHH and/or Ocwen éease initiating such calls.

271. However, PHH and/or Ocwen flatly ignored Plaintiff’s requests to cease
contacting him telephonically.

272. Each of the Collection Telephone Calls were made within the United States.

273. Alternatively, and to the extent the Collection Telephone Calls were made from
outside the United States, Plaintiff, at all times he received such Collection Telephone Calls, was
located within the United States.

274. Plaintiff suffered actual damages as a direct and proximate result of the acts
and/or omissions 6f PHH as outlined herein.

275. Plaintiff is entitled, on account of PHH’s repeated vidlatioﬂs of the TCPA
outlined herein, to have and recover from PHH the greater of (i) Plaintiff’s actual monetary loss
for each of PHH’s violations of the TCPA; or (ii) statutory damages in the amount of FIVE

HUNDRED DOLLARS AND 0/100 ($500.00), for each of PHH’s violations of the TCPA,
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pursuant to 47 U.S.C. § 227(b)(3)(B).
276. Additionally, and to the extent that the aforementioned violations of the TCPA by
PHH were knowing and/or willful, Plaintiff is entitled to an award of up to treble the amount of
the greater of his actual or statutory damages, at the discretion of this Court, pursuant to 47
U.S.C. § 227(b)(3).
SIXTH CLAIM FOR RELIEF

Violations of the Real Estate Settlement Procedures Act
[12 U.S.C. § 2601 ef seq.; 12 C.F.R. § 1024.1 et seq.]

(Defendant PHH)

-277. Plaintiff incorporates by reference all the allégations contained in this Complaint
as if fully set fox;ch herein., |

278. At all times relevant to this action, both Ocwen and PHH were each considered a
“servicer” as that term is dcﬁned in 12CFR. §1024.2,

279. Siinilarly, and at all times relevant to this action, the Loan constituted a “federally
related mortgage loan” as that term is defined in 12 C.F.R. § 1024.2.

280. The QWR, which was received by Defendant PHH on December 20, 2019
constituted a notice of efror pursuant to 12 C.FR. § 1024.35, as it alleged that PHH had
committed multiple errors, each separate and distincf, relating to the servicing of, and collection
of amounts allegedly owed under, the Loan.

281. Similarly, the QWR constituted a request for informatiop pursuant to 12 C.F.R.
§ 1024.36, as it was in writing, included the name of Plaintiff and Former Spouse, as the
borrowers under the Loan, included information that enabled PHH to identify Plaintiff’s
individual mortgage loan account, and stated the information that Plaintiff was requesting in
congection with the Loan.

282. Further, and as alleged above, the QWR was mailed to the address designated by
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PHH, pursuant to 12 C.F.R. §§ 1024.35(c) and 1024.36(b), as its exclusive mailing address for
receiving qualified written requests and notices of error.

283. PHH failed to respond to the QWR, including the notice of error contained
therein, 4within thirty (30) days of its receipt of the QWR.

284. PHH failed to supply the requested information sought in the QWR, with the
exception of the December 2019 Payoff Statement sent directly to Pléxintiff, within thirty (30)
days of receiving the QWR.

285. PHH failed to acknowledge receipt of the QWR within five (5) days of receiving
the same.

286. PHH failed to notify Plaintiff that it required any extension of time within which
to investigate, correct, and respond to the notice of error contained in the QWR, nor did it notify
Plaintiff that it required additional time to gather and provide to Plaintiff the documents
requested by the request for information contained within the QWR.

287. Among the information requested in the request for information contained within
the QWR was a request that PHH, pursuant to 12 C.F.R. § 1024.36(a), provide Plaintiff with the
identity, address, and other relevant contact information for the current holder or owner of the
Note comprising the Loan.

288. Notwithstanding its obligation, pursuant to 12 C.F.R. § 1024.36(d)(2)(i)(A), PHH
failed to provide Plaintiff with the above-referenced information concerning the current holder or
owner of the Note connected with the Loan within ten (10) days of its receipt of the QWR.

289. In fact, as of the date of the filing of this Complaint, PHH has still not disclosed
this information to Plaintiff.

290. PHH, in failing to even acknowledge receipt of the QWR, much less respond to
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the same, failed to conduct, upon information and belief, any investigation whatsoever into the
errors and issues with the Loan highlighted by the QWR, much less an investigation which
would have been reasonable under the circumstances.

291. Had PHH conducted a reasonable investigation, it would have discovered that
Plaintiff’s liability under the Loan had been extinguished by the entry of the Discharge and
would have further realized that numerous applicable state and federal laws barred it from
continuing to attempt to collect amoﬁnté related to the Loan from Plaintiff.

292. Upon information and belief, PHH’s failure to comply with the provisions of the
RESPA as outlined herein was willful, intentional, and deliberate, as PHH made clear, in the
August 3, 2017 Letter, that according to its own internal policies, and notwithstanding applicéble
law to the contrary, it would continue to attempt to collect loans which were out of bankruptcy,
regardless of whether the borrower, such as Plaintiff in this case, had received a discharge with
respect to the Loan.” |

293. In failing to timely respond to the QWR, and in fact, as of the date of filing this
Complaint, failing to respond in any fashion to the QWR, PHH provided Plaintiff with no
explanation as to why the errors he had asserted, including PHH’s ongoing illegal attempts to
collect the Loan from Plaintiff, and its false, niisleading, and inaccurate assertions that Plaintiff
remains in default under the Loan, were proper under the terms of the Loan and not errors that
must be corrected. |

294, PHH’s complete and utter failure to respond to the notice of error and request for
information contained within the QWR constitute willful violations of 12 C.F.R. §§ 1024.35 and
1024.36. |

295. The foregoing actions and failures of PHH constitute a pattern and practice of
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behavior in conscious disregard for Plaintiff’s ;'ights under RESPA and other applicable law.

296. As an actual and proximate result of PHH’s failure to conduct a reasonable
investigation into the errors raised by Plaintiff in the QWR, Plaintiff has incurred actual damages
including those incurred in communicating with PHH in an effort to get accurate and complete
information related to the Loan.

297. Baéed upon the foregoing, Plaintiff is entitled to have and recover judgment
against PHH consisting of (i) the actual damages suffered by Plaintiff in an amount exceeding
TWENTY-FIVE THOUSAND DOLLARS AND 0/100 ($25,000.00), pursuant to 12 U.S.C.
§ 2605(f)(1)(A); (ii) statutory damages in an amount equal to TWO-THOUSAND DOLLARS
AND 0/100 ($2,000.00) for each separate violation of the RESPA, pursuant to 12 U.S.C.
§ 2605(H)(1)(B); a{;d (iii) the costs of this action, including ﬁe reasonable attorneys’ fees
incurred by Plaintiff in connection with the prosecution of this lawsuit, pursuant to 12 U.S.C.

§ 2605(H)(3).
SEVENTH CLAIM FOR RELIEF ,
Violations of the Fair Debt Collection Practices Act
[15 U.S.C. § 1692 et seq.]
(Defendant PHH)
298. Plaintiff incorporates by reference all the allegations contained in this Complaint
as if fully set forth herein.
299. Plaintiff is a natural person who was allegedly obligated to pay a debt.
300. Accordingly, Plaintiff is a “consumer” as that term is defined in 15
U.S.C. § 1692a(3).
301. PHH contacted Plaintiff, directly or vicariously, using instrumentalities of

interstate commerce, including, but not limited to, telephonic communications and written letters

sent via U.S. Mail, the principal purpose of which was to collect a debt asserted to be owed by
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Plaintiff to PHH.

302. When Ocwen first obtained the rights to collect, or attempt to collect, sums owed
in connection with the Loan, the same was in default, as Plaintiff was then a debtor in the
Bankruptcy Case, and the Loan was in arrears on the Petition Date.

303. When PHH obtained the rights to collect, or attempt to cqllect, sums owed in
connection wiﬂi the Loan, the same was in default, as evidenced by PHH’s first correspondence
sent to Plaintiff, dated February 6, 2019, in which PHH asserted that the Loan was in arrears in
the amount of $91,312.35.

304. Accordingly, PHH is a “debt collector” as that term is defined in 15 U.S.C.
§ 1692a(6). - 4

305. PHH sent Plaintiff at least thirty-four (34) written letters, statements, and related
correspondence, the principal purpose of each of which was to collect a debt from Plaintiff,
namely amounts allegedly owed under the Loan.

306. In each such written cofrespondence,_ PHH falsely represented the character,
amount, and legal status of the Loan, in direct violation of 15 U.S.C. § 1692¢(2).

307. Between May 2016 and through 2019, PHH communicated credit informatioﬁ
concerning Plaintiff énd the"Loan to th‘e. CRA Defendants which PHH knew or should have
known was false, in direct viqlation of 15 U.'S C. § 1692¢(8).

308. As early as early as August 3, 2017, PHH knew, or reasonably should have
known, that Plaintiff’ s liability under the Loan was disputed, as evidenced by its nonsensical
response to Plaintiff’s request that it honor the Discharge, in the Augustl 3, 2017 Letter, when it
ignored the fact that Plaintiff’s liability under the Loan had been discharged, and instead

informed Plaintiff that its collection processes would continue notwithstanding the entry of the
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Discharge.

309. Accordingly, and thereafter, PHH continued to communicate information
concerning Plaintiff and the Loan to the CRA Defendants but failed to communicate to the CRA
Defendants that the debt was disputed, in violation of 15 U.S.C. § 1692¢e(8).

310. Additionally, PHH, in one or more pieces of written correspondence sent to, and
received by, Plaintiff, failed to disclose that the communication was from a debt collector, or that
the purpose of the communication was to collect a debt, or that any information obtained in
connection with the communication was be used for such purpose, in violation of 15 U.S.C.
§ 1692e(11).

311. PHH placed the Collection Telephone Calls with the intent to annoy, harass,
and/or abuse Plaintiff, as evidenced by the fact that PHH completely ignored Plaintiff’s
continued requests to stop calling him, in violation of 15 U.S.C. § 1692d(5).

312. PHH cominued, on numerous occasions and for several years, t0 communicate
with Plaintif‘f and attempt to collect the Loan from him, notwithstanding that Plaintiff, through
Mr. Strout, had previously informed Ocwen, in writing, that it was to cease communiéz;ﬁng with
Plaintiff concerning the Loan, which Ocwen acknowledged in the March 13, 2014 Letter.

313. In continuing to communicate with Plaintiff concerning the Loan and continuing
to attempt to collect the Loan from Plaintiff following the mailing of the March 13, 2014 Letter
(in which it promised to stop doing exactly what it persisted in doing), PHH violated 15 U.S.C.
§ 1692c(c) on numerous occasions.

314. Further, PHH continued to communicate with Plaintiff via written correspondence

: |
after it knew Plaintiff was represented by the undersigned, in violation of 15 U.S.C.

§ 1692¢(a)(2).

55

Case 7:20-cv-00043-BO Document 1-1 Filed 03/06/20 Page 62 of 230



315. At no time did PHH communicate, or attempt to communicate, with the
undersigned, nor did the undersigned at any time consent to PHH continuing to communicate
directly with Plaintiff.

316. PHH, in submitting numerous written demands for payment in connection with
the Loan to Plaintiff, falsely represented that Plaintiff was personally liable under the Loan, and
thus PHH used false representations and/or deceptive means in its attempts to collect a debt, in
direct violation of 15 U.S.C. § 1692¢(10).

317. As a direct and proximate result of PHH’s violations of the FDCPA, Plaintiff has
suffered actual damages, including, but not limited to, impairment to his creditworthiness, denial
of requests for extensions of credit, including Plaintiff’s requests for credit directed to SunTrust
and NFCU, severe and debilitating emotional distress, medical damages and physical pain and
suffering as a direct and proximate result of the worsening of existing medical conditions
because of PHH’s conduct, reputational and professional harm arising from the CEP Alert and
the revocation of Plaintiff’s Security Clearance, and other pecuniary losses, expenses, costs and
damage:s, including but not limited to, the attorneys’ fees and expenses incurred in connection
with the prosecution of this matter.

318. As a result of PHH’s willful violations of the FDCPA, Plaintiff is entitled to
recover (i) his actual damages, pursuant to 15 U.S.C. § 1692k(a)(1); (ii) additional statutory
damages in an amount not to exceed ONE THOUSAND DOLLARS AND 0/100 ($1,000.00)
pursuant to 15 U.S.C. § 1692k(a)(2); and (iii) the costs of this action, together with the
reasonable attorneys’ fees incurred by Plaintiff in prosecuting the same, pursuant to 15

US.C. § 1692k(a)(3).

319. As a direct and proximate result of the conduct of PHH, as alleged herein,
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Plaintiff is entitled to recover from PHH actual damages in an amount in excess of TWENTY-

FIVE THOUSAND DOLLARS AND 0/100 ($25,000.00).

EIGHTH CLAIM FOR RELIEF
Intentional Infliction of Emotional Distress
(Defendant PHH)
320. Plaintiff incorporates by reference all the allegations contained in this Complaint
as if fully set forth herein.
321. PHH, on its own behalf, and through its predecessor-in-interest, Ocwen, engaged

in a protracted course of extreme and outrageous conduct in attempting to collect the Loan from

Plaintiff,

322.

323.

4

As alleged in detail herein, PHH obstinately and consistently refused to:

A.

Honor Plaintiff’s wishes that it cease placing the Collection Telephone Calls

~ to Plaintiff’s cellular telephone;

B.

Update its records to reflect that Plaintiff’s personal liability for the Loan had
been discharged in the Bankruptcy Case;

Perform the acts it promised Plaintiff it would perform, including filing a
“motion for relief” in the Bankruptcy Case following entry of the Surrender
Order, and ceasing all written, telephonic, and electronic communication with
Plaintiff, notwithstanding its promise to that effect in the March 13, 2014

Letter;

Cease reporting false, inaccurate, and erroneous information concerning the
Loan to the CRA Defendants, notwithstanding PHH’s actual knowledge that
the same information was grossly inaccurate and misleading; and

Conform its conduct with applicable- federal and North Carolina law, as
alleged in detail herein.

Moreover, Ocwen and PHH’s course of conduct herein constitutes part of a

willful pattern and practice of callous disregard for the rule of law and the rights of borrowers,

such as Plaintiff, under applicable state and federal law, as evidenced by Ocwen’s cavalier

admission to Plaintiff, in the August 3, 2017 Letter, that its collection process in connection with
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the Loan would continue, notwithstanding that (i) Plaintiff had received the Discharge; and (ii)
Plaintiff had expressly, on numerous occasions, instructed Ocwen and PHH to stop
communicating with him and stop attempting to collect the Loan from him. |

324. The actions and course of conduct undertaken by PHH, as alleged and set forth
herein, were done willfully, maliciously, deliberately and with the intention of inflicting severe
emotional distress upon Plaintiff.

325. Alternatively, the actions and course of conduct undertaken by PHH, as alleged
and set forth herein, were done with reckless disregard for the high probability of causing the
aforementioned severe emotional distress to Plaintiff

326. Further, and as alleged in detail herein, PHH knew, or reasonably should have
known, that the natural and proximate consequences of it persisting in its course of conduct
would be to oppress, harass, abuse, and discourage Plaintiff, and to cause Plaintiff severe and
debilitating emotional distress.

327. Plaintiﬁ‘, as a direct and proximate result of the extreme and outrageous paﬁzrn
and course of conduct engaged in by PHH, has in fact suffered severe and grievous emotional
distress, crippling anxiety, and other severe and disabling mental conditions which may be
generally recognized and diagnosed by a competent medical professional trained to do so.

328. Specifically, and as alleged in detail herein,-Plaintiﬁ‘ has suffered extreme and
debilitating anxiety as a result of PHH’s persiétent and obnoxious course of conduct, which has
physically manifested over several years, as observed by Plaintiff’s treating physician(s), in the
| . form of abnormally elevated pulse/heart rate, and unexplainably elevated blood pressure.

329, Further, during the course of Ocwen and PHH’s unceasing campaign to tarnish

Plaintiff’s reputation and punish him for seeking relief under the U.S. Bankruptcy Code, Plaintiff

/
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suffered a significant alcoholic relapse, which significantly interfered with Plaintiff’s physical,
mental, and emotiona] well-being, undermined his ability to perform his job, and had a generally
deleterious effect on his overall quality of life.

330. Neither Plaintiff, nor any other reasonable person in a modem civilized society,
should be expected to endure the persistent, unreasoning, abusive, and intolerable pattern and
practice of conduct displayed by Ocwen and PHH as alleged herein.

331. Ocwen and PHH’s course of conduct, as outlined herein, exceeds all bounds
usually tolerated by a decent society and is particularly fej:rehensible in light of Ocwen and
PHH’s profit-incentivized motive in engaging in such a course of conduct.

332. As adirect and proximate result of the extreme and outrageous conduct of Ocwen
and PHH, as outlined herein, Plaintiff is entitled to recover from Defendant PHH actual damages
in an amount in excess of TWENTY-FIVE THOUSAND DOLLARS AND 0/100 ($25,000.00).

333. Ocwen and PHH’s conduct is made even more egregious by the fact that they
undertook the aforementioned course of conduct for the sole purpose of puxiishing Plaintiff for
failing to pay off the Loan, and attempting, unlawfully, to collect a debt from Plaintiff for which
he was no longer personally liable.

334, Upon information and belief, the inexplicably nonresponsive and outrageous
course of conduct engaged in by Ocwen and PHH in attempting to collect a discharged debt from
. Plaintiff constitutes PHH’s standard operating procedure in its dealings with similarly-situated
borrowers who have sought relief under the U.S. Bankruptcy Code.

335. Accordingly, and on account of the willful, wanton, and malicious conduct
undertaken by Ocwen and PHH as alleged herein, Plaintiff is entitled to recover from PHH

punitive damages in an amount to be determined at the trial of this matter.
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NINTH CLAIM FOR RELIEF
In the Alternative — Negligent Infliction of Emotional Distress

(Defendant PHH)

336. Plaintiff incorporates by reference all the allegations contained in this Complaint
as if fully set forth herein.

337. PHH owed a duty to Plaintiff to exercise reasonable care, skill, and diligence in
the servicing of the Loan, and the attempts to collect amounts allegedly owed in connection
therewith.

338. PHH breached this duty to Plaintiff, and was otherwise 'negligent as further
alleged herein, in causing Plaintiff to suffer severe and grievous emotional distress.

339. It was reasonably foreseeable to PHH that Plaintiff would suffer severe emotional
distress when PHH completely ignored all communications from Plaintiff and his counsel
concerning the Loan, the Discharge, and the Bankruptcy Case, and instead continued to attempt
to aggressively collect the Loan from Plaintiff over the course of nearly a decade.

340. As a direct and proximate result of i’HH’s negligent cohduct, Plaintiff has in fact
suffered, and continues to suffer, severe and grievous emotional distress, including crippling
anxiety which has become so severe that it has caused marked increases in Plaintiff’s heart rate
and blood pressure, has caused a severe exacerbation of Plaintif’s GERD symptoms, and
resulted in Plaintiff temporarily relapsing in his treatment for alcoholism.

34'1. :On account of the foregoing, Plaintiff is entitled to recover, from Defendant PHH,
his actual damages in an amount in excess of TWENTY-FIVE THOUSAND DOLLARS AND

0/100 ($25,000.00).
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TENTH CLAIM FOR RELIEF
In the Alternative — Negligence
(All Defendants)

342. Plaintiff incorporates by reference all the allegations contained in this Complaint

as if fully set forth herein.

343. At all times relevant to this Complaint, Defendants owed Plaintiff a duty of

ordinary care, to act as reasonably prudent mortgage servicers or consumer reporting agencies

would in the same or similar circumstances.

344. Defendants, through their agents and/or employees, breached that duty and were

otherwise negligent in acting or failing to act in the following manner:

A.

H.

Failing to properly account for the effect of the Discharge on Plaintiff’s
liability under the Loan, and attempting to collect a debt for which Plaintiff
was not liable; A

Failing to update their records to reflect the true state of facts surrounding
Plaintiff, the Bankruptcy Case, the Discharge, and the Loan;

Failing to exercise ordinary care in creation, maintenance, and dissemination
of consumer reports;

Failing to conduct a reasonable investigation into Plaintiff’s multiple notices
that the continued attempts to collect the Loan from him were in error, that he
was not liable under the Loan, that he was not in default under the Loan, and
that he was otherwise no longer obligation to perform any act whatsoever in
connection with the Loan following the entry of the Discharge;

Failing to respond to Plaintiff’s requests for information;

Failing to implement and maintain safeguards and appropriate oversight in the
recordation, investigation, and resolution of borrower disputes;

Failing to implement and maintain a reasonable procedure or set of procedures
for the receipt, analysis, and resolution of credit disputes; and

Otherwise failing to act as reasonably prudent mortgage servicers, and/or
consumer reporting agencies would in the same or similar circumstances.

345. Had Defendants, their agents, and/or their employees, exercised reasonable care
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in communicating to Plaintiff and other third parties conceming the Loan, they would not have
wrongfully continued to report that Plaintiff remained liable under the Loan, was in substantial
arrears with respect thereto, and was otherwise in default under the terms of the Loan.

346. -Plaint;iff suffered actual harm as a direct and proximate result of Defendants’
negligence, including impairment to his creditworthiness, denial of requests for extensions of
credit, including Plaintiff’s requests for credit directed to SunTrust and NFCU, severe and
debilitating emotional distress, medical damages and physical pain and suffering as a direct and
proximate result of the worsening of existing medical conditions because of Defendants’
conduct, reputational and professional harm arising from the CEP Alert and the revocation of
Plaintiff’s Security- Clearance, and other pecuniary losses, expenses, costs and damages,
including but not limited to, the attorneys’ fees and expenses incurred in connection with the
proSecution of this matter.

347. As a direct and proximate result of the conduct of Defendants, as alleged herein,
Plaintiff is entitled to recover from Defendants, jointly and severélly, or alternatively,
individually, aétual damages in an amount in excess of TWENTY-FIVE THOUSAND
DOLLARS AND 0/100 ($25,000.00).

PRAYER FOR RELIEF

WHEREFORE, and based upon the foregoing, Plaintiff respectfully prays for entry of
an Order awarding him the following relief:

1. Plaintiff, on account of the conduct, practices, and repeated violations of
applicable law, including the UDTPA, as herein described, have and recover judgment for
compensatory damages in an amount in excess of TWENTY-FIVE THOUSAND DOLLARS

AND 0/100 ($25,000.00) against Defendants, jointly and severally, or, alternatively,
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individually;

2. Trebling any actual damages awarded to Plaintiff, on account of PHH’s violations
of the UDTPA, pursuant to N.C. Gen. Stat. § 75-16 and/or N.C. Gen. Stat. § 58-70-130(c);

3. Awarding Plaintiff civil penalties of not less than FIVE HUNDRED DOLLARS
AND 0/100 ($500.00) nor greater than FOUR THOUSAND DOLLARS AND 0/100 ($4,000.00)
for each and every one of PHH’s violations of the NCDCA, pursuant to N.C, Gen. Stat. § 75-56
or, as applicable, the NCCAA, pursuant to N.C. Gen. Stat. § 58-70-130(b);

4. Awarding Plaintiff statutory damages of not less than ONE HUNDRED
DOLLARS AND 0/100 ($100.00) and not more than ONE THOUSAND DOLLARS AND
0/100 ($1,000.00) per violation of the FCRA, against all Defendants, joinﬂy and severally, or
alternatively, individually, pursuant to 15 U.S.C. § 1681n;

5. ‘Plaintiff have and recover from Defendants, jointly and severally, or
alternatively, individually, the costs of this action, including Plaintiff’s reasonable attorneys” fees
incurred in the prosecution of this matter, as prescribed by N.C. Gen. Stat. § 75-16.1, 15 U.S.C.

§§ 1681n and/or 16810, 12 U.S.C. § 2605(H(3), and 15 U.S.C. § 1692k(a)(3);

1

6. Plaintiff have and recover from Defendant PHH, on account of its violations of
the TCPA, statutory damages in an amount not to exceed FIVE HUNDRED DOLLARS AND
0/100 ($500.00) for each and every one of Defendant PHH’s violations of the TCPA, pursuant to
47 U.S.C. § 227(b)(3)(B);

7. For the trebling of the statutory damages in the preceding paragraph, on account
of Defendant PHH’s willful and/or knowing violations of the TCPA, pursuant to 47 U.S.C.

§ 227(b)(3);

8. Plaintiff have and recover from Defendant PHH, on account of its violations of
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the FDCPA, in addition to recovery of his actual damages, statutory damages in an amount not to
exceed ONE THOUSAND DOLLARS AND 0/ 100. (8$1,000.00) pursuant to 15 U.S.C.
§ 1692k@(2)(A);

9. Plaintiff have and recover from Defendants, on account of the willful and wanton
" nature of their actions alleged herein, punitive damages in an amount to be determined at the trial
of this matter;

10.  Awarding Plaintiff any pre-judgment and post-judgment interest as may be
allowed under applicable law;

11.  For atrial by jury on all issues so triable; and

12.  For such other and further relief as this Court deems just and proper.

Respectfully submitted this, the _39“: day of January, 2020.

| STUBBS & PERDUE, P.A.

BLAKE Y. BOYETTE (NCSB }o. 44239)
bboyette@stubbsperdue.com

JOSEPH Z. FROST (NCSB No. 44387)
ifrost@stubbsperdue.com

LANDON G VAN WINKLE (NCSB No. 52590)
Ivanwinkle@stubbsperdue.com

9208 Falls of Neuse Road, Suite 201
Raleigh, North Carolina 27615

Telephone: (919) 870-6258
Telecopy: (919) 870-6259

Counsel for Plaintiff Mark Anthony Guthrie
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Stute. e type of debt of how'tt was-incurred: Bumpm inclde goods sold, | secures the gbt Youmun:alio.exmeh coies of docaments thetovidence pexfoction
nicney. loatied; services pesformed, personsl injuryfwrongfil death, Gar lodn, nfws&umymoﬁ.?mmﬂmmdusummrymmmb o
inotigage nots, and creditcard, I the clalin Is baged on delivering healfh cars dorymegits themsélves, FRBF 3001(¢):amd {d), [fthe clolm i based ordelivering
Hoods 61 sarvices; Rl e disolosare of the goodi of services.sb.as-to.avold Teealih cre:goods or seryices, limit disclosing confidential hmalih care infovmation.

d 16 frovids vaditfone! disclotuie if ean Hiterested pritty dhjects to

B.. Deteand S
| ThE individdal complubgihis praof of olaim must sign.anddats it FRBP §011.

ooy the Jast ﬂmrd;gits ofme Sehtot's Scobimt o other numberpsed by-the | 1ocal rules Epacifying whiit constitutes a signatire:. If you sign‘this form, you

‘the best of your knawlédge; inforination resSonsble belicf. Your gignitufd i

] _'.clmm Stam the filer's.

xldms and telephone number if it differs. fom Hmnddnss given un o top-of ie
3b, Unifovin Gl Identiflei: ‘form for purposes of recetving notices. 1 he slaim i36iled by en authorized egent
1F you use -« unifcrtn Gladri identifier, you may repart it here. A tnitform <laim | :aftach @ eomplete capy- of eny powsr of attomey, and provide both.the name of the
idéntifier is #n optional 24-charastér idutifier that cestaliv langé credifors wse o | individual fillng the claim and it name. of thé agent. If the authorized,  agent is 8.
Talodlitibe clbctronic pdyinoat fi chaptor 13 tdses. services, identify the varporate servicer as mc compmy Crimial penaltics apply
hﬁdﬂga fiulse stetemtnt an-& proof of

Case 7:20-cv-00043-B0  DRiINER| |B | le@03/06/20 Page Bages0003
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B 10(Oficial Form 10)(12/11)

. Debtor
A dibtor fs-thie ftrson, cotpotitian, or other entity
" Mlnﬁladihnhupuym .

unﬂtorwapumn, n, or othes exntity to
whmdebtnrmadét wis iitcured before the
mﬁ:}nbﬂwms& 11USC.

iy

Achlmlsmnmdmx’snﬁn {o receive papment for &
debt owvied by the debioe on the date-of the

beknuptiy Silig. See 11 US.C. §10145). A cliiin
. mgy s secured or unsectired.

. Proufof Ciohn :

A procfiof cfaim.is a fomn vsed by the éreditor to
indicats the eriivint of the debit dwed by thie debtor
o the dite of the berkngptoy filing. The créditor
muist file'thie fotm with the elerk of the sime
baﬂa\ipmyomﬁ:wm&mubmhumymw

Becurel Clalm Under 11 U.8.C. 8806(a)
A seouied: ddmkmbadmdbyaﬂononmmty
of thie debtar: ‘The ofaim irs=cured §o long &= fhe-
creditos has the right to b paid fiom the property
Priorto othir credisdrs. The emountof the secured
glaim camnot exceed the value of fhaproperty, Any
Emiouit awed to'ths creifior in ‘peoass of the vatus of
“ihe propeity is an eecured: ciafm. Examples of
1iens on ‘propeity inlude 8 marigage.on real estits or
& svcurlty Interest in gotr, A lien mwbuvohmmly
-gramtéd by a dehjor or may bo obteined through a-
cout proceeding, In some stalds, a- eomtjudynm:s

Page 3 of
5

A glelin also sy’ be accured if the areglitor owes the

fektor money (has & right to Selfl),
Uhjecuréd Claim

Ah tmzecured ¢laln fc-ohe that doss notmeet the

smm&amvdvlakn. Adclatm maybe.

panly o amonnt of e elnir exceeds.

the yaiue ot tlic property on which thaaedm;rhssa
len.

aimmmmmmvnﬂuuu&c,
$507(s)

Pilovity cleims e cestain catopories of unsecured
dﬂmtbatmpaidﬁummeavmhblenmcyu
pmpatymabwhuﬁxcy cuse before other ubsécured

Redueted
A dbiungit hes besn rEdaoted When the paron filing it
hins shasknd, ediied cut, or otherwise deloled,
sertgiiy ifornation. A creditor must show.auly the

hstﬁmrd(glm&mymalwm individuel's

tan-idianiification, o7 figemoial-eoconnt aumiber; orly
the.initials.of & minor’s nane, and only the year of
mypmsdatsgfﬁxﬂ;lﬁﬁpdﬁmnbuedonm
delivery of health caye goods or gervices, limit he
discloswre. oFthe goods of #ervices 2o as to avold
chemassment or the disdlosure of conidential
health cerc information.

Evldmot?ﬂ{eeﬂnn

Evidenice of peeiiction may mnludnmy, lien,
wﬁﬁmoﬂﬂe.ﬂnm

dogumsent showing thet the. hmhsbemﬁludor
recorded.

Ackaowledgment oxm:-gofchnhn

. claims Sir an amount s then the face vatis of the

“Tiig mdlhn'lm mnbhsanonbmlmdm

omelveﬂhuwkdgmtmof your filing, you.may

arnéeamwedulf-ad‘dmedml@emua
pmnfofwlnhn OF YOu My siceess the
wmsPACBR

for a sinell fee to view

Olfmhl’urthmaaalm
Costuin entitics:are lnthie business of purchiasing

claims, One or mure of these entitlts may contdft the
sreditor and offer to purchase the cliim. Some of the
‘wrilten commumications from thess entitigs fay

m:lybacnnﬂa;edmﬂmﬁcxalmundummmﬁm
ur commupications fom the debtor: These entities |
A6 not sepressat te benkrupicy.court or the debitor.

However, if-the areditor: decides to séll:ita. tlalin; any
transfir of sugh-clalm Is sub;aemmaraoma) any

gppliceble ‘provisions af thy Baskruptey Code (11
US.C. 5:10! e1.5¢g.), rd eny applicable orders of tha
bankwptey comt.

alim- »

Case 7:20-cv-00043-80 DR XdriEB | File2 03/06/20

Page %%9539004



Case 11-03134-8-DMW Claim 13-2 Filed 11/30/11 Desc Main Document  Page 4 of
B 10{ANashnEnt A-(1211) 35

_Mort’gage"l’rnof'of Claim Attachment

lfyuu file a.clatm: nulrcd by a-sscurty lnbres! 1n the- dﬂﬂm’a princlpal mldelwo. you must: umo !hlsform £9 2n
atahingid to your prost of clalr. Ses Bankrptcy Rife 3001(c)2):

Nams of debtor;  MARK ANTHONY GUTHRIE Casenumbsr; 1103134-8:RDD
’

Nemeofereditor: 'GMAC Mortgage, LLC successor by mergerto .
GIAC Mortgage Corporation | tasttovr it [

1. Printipal dus ) " $187.345.18
2. Intsidst dus infereet fafis. " “heom:: i
% onp'uz_ﬁfo om;zon 3604746
S
Y S
" TetslIntergstdug:do.of e potition Y. 9B;04T.48 Copyiotal here Prid) +; -§6,047.45
A | e vissen

2. Nm-sumﬂemmnus (NS¥) fees 071312010 @ $25.00
3. Attomiayi fusia (Baniupicy) 11728/2011 (s) $175,00
4, Filing fosa and court coats , , . ® $

6, Advariaiment costa . o %

‘8. Shartfducliongor tees . o $

7. Title Sosts - @ $

8. Recording foes , ® §___
8, Appratsalbroker's price opinion foes ‘ , ) @ 5 .
10. Pooperty (napsetlan foes 070172010 0372072011 qu S5
1. Txadvancas {on-escrow) : ay B

12. Inyuratico attvincds {noh-cecrow) ' _ TR

3. Escrw Stioktal or deficiency (Do not Includ amourts 3t 618 44 9y ¢

panofeny Tostaliment payment fated 1. Part 3) 4y 958879
14: Property preseivation expsrises. Spactfy: . : ) §
15. Other, Spocify: Spaedpsy Fees 07212010 o 040172011 g $3750
16, Othar. Spacify; . : . 4 ag $ '
17. Othior, Spacify: . Un+s:
18. Totai prepatition foas, expenses, and charges. Add all of the antounta fizted above. '8 $134434 |

Case 7:20-cv-00043-BO DcEJ)(HpBrFleQ 03/06/20 Page Rage3a0005
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Case 11-03134-8-DMW Claim 13-2 Filed 11/30/11 Desc Main Document . Page 5 of
B 10 {Attachiment A) {12/11) 35 Peoe:2

Statement of Amount Necessary to Cure Default as of the Petition Date

l Part 3.

Does the Insiafinient paymeant smount includean sserow deposit?
& no.
X Ves. Attach to the Proof of Claim form ari escrow account stitemant pripared os of fhe petition date i a form cansistent with
epplicebie nonbankrupicy taw.

1. mﬂmenépaymm Dat last paynient received by oreditor 0373172011
Nimbsrof thstalment paymants due —
2 Amamdt&uﬁgﬂlmgﬂ 7 fistatiments (3 $1,059.68 : $7410.56
payments dio 7 ;
2 ingtalimenta &) $1,085.67 $a133.54
2 insiniiments @ $1,117.42 + $2234.84

. e

Copytotal hem > ) $11,786.04

8 nq!w!abonofm
unt Par2nacP  + $1,344.34

S

) $13,132.38

Copy iotal ontd Htam 4
-0t Proof of-Ciaim form

Case 7:20-cv-00043-80 DEEMEHBITFid 030620 Page F2968008
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Page 6 of

35 Mark Anthony Gufhrie
Case No. 11-03134.8-RDD
Chiapter 13
7 Paymients @ $1,059.98 $9,553.20
From 08/61/10 through 02/01/11
.2 Payments @ $1,066.67
From 03/07/11. ﬁmugLM!Oll 11
2 Post-Pefition Pre-Confitmation Payments @ $1,11742 | $5,234.84
. From 05/01/11 ﬁn‘ougb 06701/11.
Bankrum Aftortey Fees _ | $175.00
|-Administrative Fees i $580.55
Uneoliected Late Charges $386.50
Accrued Late Charges $36.30
"NSF Fee $25.00.
Property Inspections $95.25.
Spesdpay Fees $37.50
Escrow Shortage “$588.79
. Total | $13,13238
RED CLATM BR
ij“ihciyn]Balance $187,345.16,
Inferest o _ . $6,04746
Administrative Fees 1858055
Uncollected Late Charges $386.50
Accrued:-Lato Charges $36.30
NSF Fee $25 0o -
Propérty Inspectiong $95.25
Spécdpay-Fees $37.50
Banknupicy Attorncy Fees. | $175.00°
Esctow Adveiices $1,553.27
[ Total__ 319570844

Post-Petition Mouthly Mortgage Payment Effective 05/01/11: $1.117.42

AR AR

Case 7:20-cv-00043-80 DEKIIIBITFil<2 03/06/20 Page Rage0007




Case 11-03134-8-DMW Claim 13-2 Filed 1{_;1/30/11 Desc Main Document  Page 7 of
3

11238
UNITED STATES BANKRUPTCY COURT
EASTERN DISTRICT OF NORTH CAROLINA
NEW BERN DIVISION
INRE ) CASE NO. 11-03134-8-RDD
: )

MARK ANTHONY GUTHRIE ) CHAPTER 13

DEBTOR.

"’

3
)
)

Re LomvumbcINNEDE @00
Address: 40] Joy Coutt, Jacksonville, Notih Carolina 28540
Lender: GMAC Mortgage, LLC supcessor by merger to GMAC Mortgage Corporation

. This Statement shall serve as notice putsuant to NCGS Sec. .45;91 that GMAC Mortgage, LLC successot
by merger to0 GMAC Mortgage Corpotation has incutred a fee which will be assessed to your Iuan-as follows:

Amolint: $175.00

Diegeription:  Post-Petition/Pre-Confirmation Bapkruptcy Attorneys’ Fees for the preparation of
Proof of Claim, Review of Schedules, Review of Loan Docurnénts, and Review of
Plan.

Date: November-28, 2011

This information is provided for informatiorial purposes, if and 1o the'exteint, N.C. Gen. Stat. 4591 epplies and to preserve the
creditor’s right to'seek and collect its attomeys fees described herein.

Case 7:20-cv-00043-80 (Bl BITri2i 03106120 PageB89E,0008
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L
' oesiiod ([N NMREABN

ADJUSTABLE RATE NOTE.

THIS LOAN IS NOT ASSUMABLE WITHOUT
THE APPROVAL OF THE DEPARTMENT OF
VETERANS AFFAIRS OR ITS AUTHORIZED

AGENT.
g = "o
403-Joy Cowrt
Jackuoiivilie; HC 23540
4, PARTIES
*Biimowres

micany exch pezach o3 e of s Note, and the person’s successors ind essfans, “Lendo”
mmﬂmmmubhm% 1“!1.1' ’ “
wd Es Eucoessomintd astigng,

* 'ao fof: lsm mm the | T-One Hindired Ninety

. Inictmn fara i ne

Thousand Oree Husnd mwmmmcmndwnon Polcs gy (b tal s Dollaws

(U5, $19092600 ), plus Inievest, t'th orderof L, Intiivin it . cbarged sarumpatd piineipe Trom the 2

dlﬂ»mmoﬂbplmmmbymmmmorﬁw perceat.
-4,0900%) per yeor unlll mmmamfmummmmrwwmahmmwm

thsw)o ‘thisNote,

3 PROMISETO PAYSECURED st I b et e
s promis Ao ey fe accured by ehorigags, of trus) o nsirument e
dhio nmdlu){mnd ulled Wﬁ%"m&;ﬁvm truzrgnt profeots the Lender from lomes which nighd.

{A) This
Batower il mike o § ofpﬂmmaimnuummunmd-yuwhmmwm
Ostobartt, 2009 mmmmwmmmmnr Saptamber 2039 , will e diz o the

e, which rt:lum Mmzhym"
m-amumnmwm Rosd, Bulld[ns 6, Horslinsi; PENNSYLVANIA 18044

P S

-

oratmichotfies plaiceeg Lezider ety designate bn wiltlng by Eotics to Bomrowee,

MULTISTATE VA ADSUSTABLY RATE OTE~UNIRORM INSTRUMENT
e st coaon ' PRy I ef ey o0 Gl HOOWBETTS

Case 7:20-cv-00043-BO DE.X(PH]BI'FII(Q 03/06/20 Page ﬁagémog
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(©) Amog

Inifially,eachpnthly pryment of pringipal and freres! will be i te amount of U8, SROY.T0 Wlnmun!
will bo payt of 8 bsgier manthly m:mmmwumwubnﬁnuwummm
mi:alnﬂwuwdeui intke lummﬂdsmmmy#hphwmwu Pmmh S(B)nf

s [NI'EREI‘BA‘EEAN‘DMDNI’HLV PAVMENT CHANGES

gy Date
gw:ﬁmymsemhﬂmdunf Jinialy 2016 o onihat day of'each suocgeding year.
'Gu(gf%gmmaumwumwﬂummla
mmmmm@muwmmumunmm"mmmymp
zhldmumus-hm swnb-qmdmmmummwmmmuebyﬂﬂcm
doficd abowe) is o Toager nvnl!w!e.lnder | 1ve 858 00w my 2% pecaci] W
Affirs; Leofler will glve Bomower gotice of e iow Index;
(&) Culnilsiton of Iterert Redé Chicigés
Hmmmemmwm.mmnwm l,l;gincl'TﬂD
peracnting pdd 10 e ewrent Index
o fo- wmw:fmmnpmmmﬁ). sdiltﬁm e Jimifs wmmwsm)smh Nm.
b sonded airtait will be e sivw {uieset fatoveti{ thiricxt Chanze
{). Lmition InteyistRale Chianpes:
mﬂuﬁnmmummmwmmhmunmmhymm porceitings
puinl{t)( 2/0000%), Thereafiér, the frkest pile il tiever inireare iny alngli Chirgo Dl by more this
percentage polnifs) { mmnmm-mrmua‘mﬁmm -Change Dyia: The imarest pate
wmmmhmﬁm Bl Mymw)ﬂwnm&ehhmmmmhmﬁﬂof
this Note. Tho inferest ratewill never BEigivr than dhis magicr atiied in Puiagraph (C) 6f thisNote, -
®) Gakuhtisn of Peymest Chaige
1F the Ertenit fate chingte o » Change Dite, §ender wili caoudats i amount of mangh JLWNW@
Intirese whish wiald bo nicoesexy 1o repay,the il pricipi| Sefwnee {n full a1 the Mrturlty & the v bnterest mn
Mubmmnywwmmﬂshmnihmmﬂ!ﬁmwwmwuumﬁ e which would
Wmuar:fmrmmmemmumummw  atmotslof sy prépayments
ummmm“&r%mmﬁuuszmmwymmdwmm e
& .
Lwﬁllﬁnmwwmnymhmmmndmm autien tpust be:
mmwzsay-mummmwwwuagmmqmmummummm
Chenge n&:wiwu@vjmmmmmn;mwmﬁ!ymemmmmm&mm
s the daee i vels published, (1) the methiod of-calculs nwhmﬂwwm-mmmdmu;qm
mehehmhmmtthﬁmﬂmnm .
{G) ‘EftectiveDats of Changes :
Am&m»d«ﬁdmmm ﬂQuﬂS(D)ﬂﬂlNduwmmMsmM
Chisgs Dutc. Boivoiver shall imiiks s fnjrient In the i ly smumi beglsining on the ﬁmwmmmmn
umzmmmuhmmmmumtmmmwwsm this Note. Borpwer
ahiall tive o obligarivn topay sy fncrensz In the monihly mm;xmuhmmmmsmnf
mmwwwmm Ity an 38 alfes Léniles lis givin the secired notlon, If tho iy payiiient
mmnmmmmsm mm«mmmﬂumummmﬁm
mmmmm-gmmpym § exctedliGg the pymait smound wiieh shiuld heve boen staizd
in & dmily hutioe, then Borsowr s the apiioa to'éihér {T) desivind the'retim to Boirawer of sy ekcom paymint, with
Imerst thivean at the Note fatc (u rte qual tn i baersst e which ationid have ‘been statnd in 8 Umely atlcy), or
m;mmwmmmwmmmummmuwumﬂww-
oblijitioi 16 Telum Any excess paymen wifr fnieoeston despnd i3 03t saiigashis aven 1 this Not s otbzroiss epsipned

Yl dho Bemand for feturs fs o,
MULTISTATEVA Amummmnno’m-ummm INSTRUMEINT .
Pulreanid pidy oot 34 pegen Tacrarcas oo

Case 7:20-cv-00043-80 dacalehl B Tri2i 03106120 page B296,9910
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£ RORRDWER'S RIGHT TO FREPAY
Whumwmhdﬁuwﬁu thhhwhm.wMMum.mmm
ay of ity chonth. Lender shall accopt prepayment e dnyuwnvm St Borromer paya interest on'the smowt prepald

for the.remialder of ths indath Lo ths ioguired by | petmllsd by teguliions of o Sberetury. lfsmm
m:ﬁmﬂmmw.maswlnmobmmhmdeum mui:o'zmufmmwm&t
sgrees [ writhhg Lo1hose Shimgoy;

7, BORROWEN'S FAILURE T PAY
£A) LateChargs for Oversine Fayments: :
rm&smmmmruuwymummwmwmmm, 0 described i Pangaph 4(C) -
dmmwmmornmmmammwsm iy eolisét lntocliargs fn the smount of
(h) peibent(” 8.0000%)nf the ovardus smouisl of eigh pajineis,

Defhgit
l{ﬁmmdeﬁulbbyﬁiﬂnatowlnmﬂwmhk payann, Gm Lemdér muy, excepl axlimigd by regiations
umoﬂmmuhmnfwnemdeﬁm.mmmmmnmwumﬂwm
reniching dun.and sl aciruid Interpet 1énder ehay Shdose not o exerclsé hls option wifhot v mhmmmmm
mwmxmmmm&mmmwmwuwwm

(€Y Paymsatof Costr atd Exponisés

lfwu&hummlmmhwumthw abioive, Lindar ity requind Bhrmoor . ey ¢ovts sind
expenses i Hidiag ressonsblo and m‘&uhn&n«rﬁ%xﬁemmwww
v, smfeunammum-rmﬁm bmorﬁmnmmmnﬁwu&bum

8 WAIVERS .
) smwamymmwhomwum under thix Nste walye the sights oF porsentineat and notise-of

distioiiir, “Preseiilment riesns {5 elght tb refilive Lender o detikiid piyimstl of smousts die. *Nitios pffdishorio® mars

menmmmmmmnmmhmummuuhnmmm ]

% GIVING OFNOTICES
Uriless applicible Trw reqeires s diffsrert method, any notice (st mon” be given to: Bommower wider this Note will bo
given byhﬁvdn;uwbymﬂhzitbyﬁnbﬂmum to-Borpwer o ths property addrens shove orats dilTeataddress if
Bonmitn;ivgn Lepder s noticoic Bomoves’s: dlffecert sdeexs,
» wmmxhlmhmmmmmmmugimhyﬁxmmmﬂipuﬁmﬁemm
inbirignipha(B)or it mdifferéit sdidnen SFBGITOWET s glvin s nolioe of thint diffbrent sikdress,

16, OBLIGATIONS OFPERSONS UNDER THISNOTE,
lrmmmmmﬂsmu.mmummmxwwummammmm:
,hmumwwngmcmmiwm mmﬁmmmmwm Is » pramastor; sigely or eidosser. of this
Noie if ale0 cbligmed m do theie fhings. Any pemon who takes byer ¥z obligitiony, (ncluding dlis cbligatns of .
mﬁmﬁw ormxu,nm{glhm bhnptﬂn‘lnhmmhammmﬁgmﬁwn'mmn;:
igakisd person’ vlduily urgp!m Sjguiieries logsiiiiy, 00 pereon nglhg .
Note may b required 4 pay.slY oFshe amubts oved undler 1his Note;

11, ALLONGE, RFOER; ADDENDUN, ATTACHMENT OR OTHER MODIFICATION {HERRINAFTER
ASAIJ.UNGI.)’!O THISNOTE
I§an alonge providing fuc piyment silustcste, pr i any.oiber supplementa informaian, s cuscoted by Burrower
fogeiiee with nmmm”mmdnmmmuuwmmm ‘amend sl aipplemant the eovenmnty
oflhﬁNoreu 1t alloinge were a part of this Nole, lﬁwcklppllsuble box)’
Ocridutctpyment Anonge .~ [Joheipopecity]

[ oiter fapesity}

MINTETATE VA ADSUETASLE RATE HOTE—UNIPORY INJTRUMENT _
fIEN €220 (o) e 3o pacy Vo0 G 3M0-N2T78

Case 7:20-cv-00043-B0  DESX4~ IB | TFil<R 03/06/20 Page $2age:0011
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13, UNIY¥ORM SECURED NOTE

This Note 2 n-uniform istunvont with Usdited varisgions fa some Jursdicttpn, In eddifon b the protectioos given 16
momwmm;mmmwm«mmmwmmmm;»m»
d:hNuw.MMMMMMMWMMMHWMNMMFWﬂﬂh%
Noic, That Wylmuxwmmmmmmgmmwhmmwmmm
payment i foll ofeti smiwnts sved usder thig Noto, ot b hoes conditions are- desctibod as Rillows:

) mmnruu.hapmy.‘wummwmuumbm payabic upon tanskr of the
Froperty o suih Joxn Lo aoy transfires; unless the aconptabllify of the smumpiicn of 1ha'toxn Is aetabfisbied
pumizatt mwcuw:v,mss.umusum

1f Ly execcloey (his épiion, Londer shisll give Borowar nctice of scculoration. "Thin notles ehall provide 5
period of not less Wai 30 days fom thie dike the nolies £ givem in sechrdanos with Sectio 14 withn wiith
Birower jmit pay all Sums sscdred by fhi Sécarity Snatrument, 1F Borrower fuls fo pay thiese/sums piicr o the
mam%wmmwwmawmmmwmmm
notice or demand ox

BY SIGNING BE] Borowes Mmuhmdmeﬂnﬁdhmlm!dﬂﬂsﬂu

[5igh Onlginal Gnly}
ey toibe cieres Ally Bank f7kja GMAC Bonk “
W.L,m_ af. ‘r“‘,‘fm GMAC Ban »

MULTISTATE VA ADUSTABLE BATE NOTE-~UNIFORM SUSTRUMEINT
S
TEM 2N Pagrdoftpty) ToOne: Galt vERO2LLETTS

Case 7:20-cv-00043-80 DM BIFi 0310620 page BRISAP12
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EXEIBIT “A” |
LEGAL DESCRIPTION

BEING ALL OF LOT 39, ROCK CREEK VILLAGE, AS PER MAP RECORDED TN
cmg BDOK 76, PAGE 18, SLIDE E-46, ONSLOW COUNTY REGSITRY, NORTH
AROLINA.
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UNITED STATES BANKRUPTCY COURT
EASTERN DISTRICT OF NORTH CAROLINA
NEW BERN DIVISION

In Re: Mark Anthony Guthrie Case No.: 11-03134-8-RDD
Debtor(s)

Address: 401 Joy Court
Jacksonville, NC 28540

Social Security No(s):’__ . Chapter: 13
MOTION TO ALLOW SURRENDER OF REAL PROPERTY AND
MODIFICATION OF CHAPTER 13 PLAN ‘

NOW COMES the debtor, Mark Anthony Guthrie, through counsel, and
respéctfully moves the Court for an Order authorizing him to surrender his real property
and home located at 401 Joy Court, Jacksonville, North Carolina, and to thereby satisfy
the secured indebtedness that GMAC Mortgage holds on that real property, and also for
an Order providing for the modification and reduction of his Chapter 13 plan payments
after the surrender of the real property to reflect a new payment to the trustee of $825.00

“per month for the remaining thirty-nine (39) months starting with his February 2013
payment; and in support of this motion show the Court as follows:

1. That Debtor filed a case under Chapter 13 of the Bankruptcy Code on
April 21, 2011.

2. That Debtor’s Chapter 13 plan was confirmed in an order entered on
August 16, 2011, providing for sixty (60) payments of $1,825.00.

3. That GMAC Mortgage, lien holder on the debtor’s real property and home
located at 401 Joy Court, Jacksonville, North Carolina, filed a secured
claim in the amount of $195,701.44.

4, That as part of the Debtor’s confirmed Chapter 13 plan, his monthly
mortgage payment is paid by the Trustee through the plan.

5. That the debtor, a United States Marine, is moving into base housing on
January 22, 2013.
6. That Debtor wishes to surrender his interest in said property in order to

reduce his monthly Chapter 13 Plan payments.

Case 7:20-cv-00043-BO  Docp){H}B |ATe®03/06/20 Page 162ageW037
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WHEREFORE, the Debtor prays for an Order authorizing the surrender of his
real property and home located at 401 Joy Court, Jacksonville, North Carolina, and
modifying his Chapter 13 plan to provide for twenty-one (21) monthly payments of
$1,825.00 each, followed by thirty-nine (39) monthly payments of $825.00 each;
allowing counsel for the debtors non-base additional attorneys fees in the amount of
$250.00 as allowed under the Local Rules of this district; and providing such other and
further relief as to the Court may seem just and proper.

Dated: January 2, 2013. |

LAW OFFICES OF DOUGLAS M. STROUT

s:/Douglas M. Strout

'DOUGLAS M. STROUT
Attorney for Debtor

North Carolina State Bar #17938 -
300 Western Boulevard, Suite A
Jacksonville, NC 28546

Telephone (910) 347-9300
Facsimile (910) 347-2002

Case 7:20-cv-00043-80 Dol IBIFiidd 03/06/20 Page 178988038
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UNITED STATES BANKRUPTCY COURT
EASTERN DISTRICT OF NORTH CAROLINA
NEW BERN DIVISION

In Re: Mark Anthony Guthrie Case No.: 11-03134-8-RDD
Debtor(s)

Address: 401 Joy Court
Jacksonville, NC 28540

Social Security No(s): — : Chapter: 13
NOTICE OF MOTION

TO: THE DEBTORS, TRUSTEE, AND OTHER PARTIES OF INTEREST

NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN of the Motion te Allow Surrender of Real
Property and Modification of Chapter 13 plan filed simultaneously herewith by the
debtor’s attorney in the above captioned case; and;

FURTHER NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that if you fail to respond or
otherwise plead or request a hearing in writing within twenty (20) days from the date of
this notice, the relief requested in the motion may be granted without further hearing or
notice; and

FURTHER NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that if a response and a request for a
hearing is filed in writing by the debtor, trustee or other parties in interest named herein, a
hearing will be conducted in the motion and response thereto at a date, time and place to
be later set by this Court and all interested parties will be notified accordingly. If no
request for a hearing is filed the Court may rule on the motion in response thereto ex
parte without further notice.

DATE OF NOTICE  January 2, 2013.

LAW OFFICES OF DOUGLAS M. STROUT

s:/Douglas M. Strout
DOUGLAS M. STROUT
Attorney for Debtor

North Carolina State Bar #17938
300 Western Boulevard, Suite A
Jacksonville, NC 28546
Telephone (910) 347-9300
Facsimile (910) 347-2002

Case 7:20-cv-00043-BO DocET}(rF.ll'—BlFITIeSOB/OWZO Page 1Page 039
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

I, Douglas M. Strout, of Law Offices of Douglas M. Strout certify:

That I am, and at all times hereinafter mentioned was, more that eighteen (18)

years of age;

That on January 2, 2013, I served a copy of the foregoing Motion to Allow
Surrender of Real Property and Modification of Chapter 13 Plan to the following by
causing a true and correct copy to be mailed, first class postage prepaid

Mr. Richard M. Stearns
Bankruptcy Trustee
1015 Conference Drive
Greenville, NC 27858

U.S. Bankruptcy Court
1760 A Parkwood Blvd.
Wilson, NC 27893

Mr. Mark Anthony Guthrie
401 Joy Court
Jacksonville, NC 28540

GMAC Mortgage
3451 Hammond Avenue
Waterloo, IA 50702

Oak Harbor Capital I, LLC
c/o Weinstein & Riley, P.S.
2001 Western Ave., Ste. 400
Seattle, WA 98121

Aarons

Attn: Managing Agent
1161 Western Blvd.
Jacksonville, NC 28546

Target National Bank

¢/o Weinstein and Riley, PS
2001 Western Ave., Ste. 400
Seattle, WA 98121

Case 7:20-cv-00043-BO

Allied Restoration
Attn: Managing Agent

'2725-3C Old Wrightsboro

Wilmington, NC 28405

Bill Me Later

Attn: Managing Agent
P.O. Box 105658
Atlanta, GA 30348

CANDICALLC

¢/o Weinstein and Riley PS
2001 Western Ave., Ste. 400
Seattle, WA 98121

CBCS

Attn: Managing Agent
P.O. Box 2589
Columbus, OH 43216

Capital One

Attn: Managing Agent
11013 W. Broad Street
Glen Allen, VA 23060

Capital One

Attn: Managing Agent
P.0O. Box 26030
Richmond, VA 23260

Capital One

Attn: Managing Agent
P.O. Box 71083
Charlotte, NC 28272

poln X IB I Fiidd 03106120 Page 296940
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Chase bank USA NA
P.O.Box 15145
Wilmington, DE 19850

Chase/Best Buy

- Attn: Managing Agent
Cardmember Service
P.O.Box 15325
Wilmington, DE 19886

Children’s Place

Attn: Managing Agent
P.O. Box 5002

Sioux Falls, SD 57117

Children’s Place/Citi
Attn: Managing Agent
P.O.Box 653084
Dallas, TX 75265

First Premier

Attn: Managing Agent
"P.0.Box 1348

Sioux Falls, SD 57101

First Premier Bank

Attn: Managing Agent
601 S. Minnesota Avenue
Sioux Falls, SD 57104

Franklin Collection Svc.
Attn: Managing Agent
2978 W. Jackson Street
Tupelo, MS 38801

Furiitiire Plus

Attn: Managing Agent
817 N. Marine Blvd.
Jacksonville, NC 28540

GEMB/Gap

Attn: Managing Agent
P.O. Box 965005
Orlando, FL 32896

GEMB/Lowe’s

Attn: Managing Agent
P.O. Box 981083

El Paso, TX 79998

GMAC Mortgage
Attn: Managing Agent
3451 Hammond Ave,
P.O. Box 780
Waterloo, IA 50704

GMAC Mortgage LL.C
Attn: Bankruptcy Dept.
1100 Virginia Ave.

Ft. Washington, PA 19034

JCPenney

Attn: Managing Agent
P.O.Box 27570
Albuquerque, NM 87125

JCPenney/GEMB
Attn: Managing Agent
P.O. Box 960090
Orlando, FL. 32896

Just Military Loans

Attn: Managing Agent

901 N. Market St., Ste. 463
Wilmington, DE 19801

LTD Financial Svcs.

Attn: Managing Agent

7322 Southwest Frwy, Ste. 1600
Houston, TX 77074

Lowe’s

Attn: Managing Agent
P.O. Box 103080
Roswell, GA 30076

Marine Federal Credit Union
P.O. Box 1336
Jacksonville, NC 28541

Page 5 of 7
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Marine Federal Credit Union
Attn: Managing Agent

159 Brynn Marr Rd.
Jacksonville, NC 28546

Marine Federal Credit Union
Attn: Managing Agent

165 Center Street
Jacksonville, NC 28546

Meadrine Federal Credit Union
Attn: Managing Agent
P.O.Box 1551

Jacksonville, NC 28541

Marine Federal Credit Union
Attn: Managing Agent

P.0. Box 31279

Tampa, FL 33631

Old Navy/GEMB
Atm: Managing Agent
P.O. Box 530942
Atlanta, GA 30353

'Omni Financial of NC
Attn: Managing Agent
431 Western Blvd., Ste. H
Jacksonville, NC 28546

Portfolio Investments I LL.C
¢/o Recovery Mgmt Sys Corp
25 SE 2™ Ave., Ste. 1120
Miami, FL 33131

Portfolio Recovery Associates LLC
P.O. Box 41067
Norfolk, VA 23541

Premier Bankcard/Charter
P.O. Box 2208
Vacaville, CA 95696

Case 11-03134-3-DMW Doc 36 Filed 01/02/13 Entered 01/02/13 15:32:19

Rent A Center

Attn: Managing Agent
236 Brynn Marr Rd.
Jacksonville, NC 28546

Target

Attn: Managing Agent
P.O. Box 660170
Dallas, TX 75266

USAA

Attn: Managing Agent
10750 Int Hwy 10 W.
San Antonio, TX 78284

USAA

Attn: Managing Agent
10750 McDermott Freeway
San Antonio, TX 78288

USAA

Attn: Managing Agent
P.O.Box 47504

San Antonio, TX 78265

USAA
P.O. Box 829009
Dallas, TX 75382

Zales

Attn: Managing Agent
P.O.Box 9714

Gray, TN 37615

Zales/CBSD

Attn: Managing Agent
P.O. Box 689182

Des Moines, IA 50368

Page 6 of 7
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I certify under penalty of perjury that the foregoing is true and correct.

Dated: January 2, 2013.
Law Offices of Douglas M. Strout

By:  s:/Douglas M. Strout
Douglas M. Strout

North Carolina State Bar No.: 17938
300 Western Boulevard, Suite A
Jacksonville, NC 28546

Telephone: (910) 347-9300

Fax: (910) 347-200

Case 7:20-cv-00043-BO  Dodeéi{ B Hil€d 03/06/20 Page 1PagefiD43



SO ORDERED.
SIGNED this 07 day of February, 2013,

7 andy D Doub
United States Bankruptcy Judge

UNITED STATES BANKRUPTCY COURT
EASTERN DISTRICT OF NORTH CAROLINA

NEW BERN DIVISION
In Re: Mark Anthony Guthrie Case No.: 11-03134-8-RDD
Debtos(s) ' ‘
Address: 401 Joy Court
Jacksonville, NC 28540
Social Security No(s): _ Chapter: 13

ORDER ALLOWING SURRENDER OF REAL PROPERTY AND
' ‘MODIFICATION OF CHAPTER 13 PLAN

THIS MATTER coming on for hearing upon motion of Counsel of Record for
_Debtor(s), seeking an Order authorizing the Debtor to surrender his real property and
" modification of Debtor(s) Chapter 13 Plan, and;

IT APPEARING to the undersigned United States Bankruptcy Judge that a modJﬁcatlon
of Debtors’ Chapter 13 Plan is warranted and is in the best interest of the Debtor. -

IT FURTHER APPEARING that notice to creditors having gone forward, pursuant to
Rule 2002(a) of the Bankruptcy Rules, and no objection having been filed thereto;

IT IS THEREFORE, ORDERED that the motion of the Debtors be, and the same is,
hereby granted authorizing the surrender of the Debtor’s real property and home located at 401
Joy Court, Jacksonville, North Carolina, and modifying the Debtor’s Chapter 13 plan to provide
for twenty-one (21) monthly payments of $1,825.00 each, followed by thirty-nine (39) monthly
payments of $825.00 each; allowing counsel for Debtor non-base additional attorneys fees in the
amount of $250.00 as allowed under the Local Rules of this district; and providing such other and
further relief as to the Court may seem just and proper.

In the event that the Creditor’s allowed claim exceeds the value of the Collateral, the
Creditor is entitled to seek a deficiency claim fo the extent allowed by state law and the
contractual rights of the parties. The Creditor shall have the right to file a proof of claim for any
deficiency to be allowed as an unsecured claim within 120 days of the entry of this order.

END OF DOCUMENT

Case 7:20-cv-00043-80 DEYbrHIBI Fiedo3/06/20 Page F183e 044
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113473-05310
UNITED STATES BANKRUPTCY COURT
EASTERN DISTRICT OF NORTH CAROLINA
NEW BERN DIVISION

INRE ) Case No. 11-03134-8-RDD
)
Mark Anthony Guthrie )
)
Debtor(s) ) Chapter 13

TRANSFER OF CLAIM OTHER THAN FOR SECURITY

A CLAIM HAS BEEN FILED IN THIS CASE or deemed filed under 11 U.S.C. § 1111(a). Transferee
hereby gives evidence and notice pursuant to Rule 3001(e)(2), Fed. R: Bankr. P of the transfer, other than
for security, of the claim referenced in this evidence and notice.

Ocwen 1 oan Servicing, LLC GMAC Mortpage. LLC
Name of Transferee Name of Transferor
Name and Address where nouces to transferee Court Claim #: 13
should be sent: Amount of Claim: $195,701.44
Date Claim Filed: November 30, 2011
Ocwen Loan Servicing, LLC
Attn; Bankruptcy Department
1100 Virginia Drive
Fort Washington, PA 19034
Phone:

Last Four Digits of Acct#: [}

Name and Address where transferee payments
should be sent (if different from above):

Ocwen Loan Servicing, LLC
Atin: Payment Processing
3451 Hammond Avenue
Waterloo, IA 50702

Phone:

Last Four Digits of Acct#: [}

1 declare under penalty of perjury that the information provided in this notice is true and correct to the best of
my knowledge and belief.

By: _/s/ Neil D. Jonas Date; March 15, 2013
Transferee/Transferee’s Agent :
Neil D. Jonas
N.C. Bar No. 31622

Peralty for making a false statement: Fine of up to 500,000 or in;'ori.s'amhem  for up to 5 years, or both. ISUS.C. §§ 152 & 3571.

Case 7:20-cv-00043-BO DOE%H1B|F|Te(5)3/O6/20 Page 1Page @045



-1681 Worthirigton Road, Sulte 100
Ocwen ) Loan Servicing, LLC (Arb e e gagdn
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Property Address: 401 Joy Ct
Jscksonville, NC 28540-9301

mmmmg,nw(ocwmmmmmmwmw thank yois for your recent commuication ri

the sbove referenced loan. We sppreciate the time arid effort on your part to'bring your concern to.our attenticn, Purguant 10 your
mqummmwmmmmndwwkmmmmemmm :

Concernfil You sated that yon hiave surmendered the property in banlauptcy. and requested us to apdate our resonds sccordirigly,

Résponse
Our récords indicate thet you (Mark Anthony Guthrie) filed protection under Bankrupicy Chapter 13 on April 21,
2011 and this relief was granted on February 7,2013. 2

Wemmdﬂmmupﬁmdgpmmmdmmﬁﬂdﬂmywmmn undet Banknupicy
s s.mmmnwwmmmdmmm memﬂ&amgfﬂlhgamm
o

For any questions or concems ogarding the loan, you may contact our Baiknipicy departisént at (888) 554-6599,

We trust that the information provided bas fully addressed your concemn. Please giote that myxegmwopmofeonanmlor
certain loai docunients that were félied upon in mskirg:this detérmiiiation. You may. e these dotuments by seuding:in-e
written request to the Research Depertmerit at the address mentioned below, Please visit our website (www.cewencustonters.com)
whigh is avallable 24 hoois a day, seven days a week, amﬁﬁnmmymmwﬂmwhmm

NMLS #1852 ' RROMAINLTRM

' Mmmﬂmtmzsﬁmawmamwmbwomueaaw wmarbnobmamuum for that pirpoie.
Hovoaver, if the debt is in.active bankruptcy or has been discharged fivough Fapicy, tl;aammdwmnkgumyﬁwwedw
mﬁriﬂ‘mmwpmaaﬂymmdmwmmnmthm. ced propeity, ll is not inlended as an
attenipt to collect i debt frovs yois personially.
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ABerapesking with curResearch Deparimient, if you still have guestions o condems, pleass féel free 10 contact the %
consumer advocate through OCWEN's website-or by plione at (800) 390-4656. You may also.send written comespondence 16 the
follawing address: ’
owmmswicmg,m.c
PO Box 24736.
WestPah:Beacb,H,SMle
Sincerely,
Ramitha K A N
Rezearch’
Oraven Load Sctv!ciug. LEC
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This communication is from a debt.collector to collect ¢ .deb; mby‘muion abtatned will be wsed for tht,
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United States Bankruptcg Court

Eastern District of North
New Bern Division

Debtor 1 Mark Anthony Guthrle

FistName  Middle Name  LastNeme

Debtor 2

(Spouse, f fiing) ﬁfslName Middle Name  Last Name

Case number:  11-03134-8~-DAMW

Social Security number or ITINS NN
EIN -

—— e s e

Social Security number or ITIN
EIN -

Order of Discharge

12115

iT IS ORDERED: A discharge under 11 U.S.C. § 1328(a) is granted to:

Mark Anthony Guthrie

] ,

By the court:

Explanation of Bankruptcy Discharge in a Chapter 13 Case

This order does not close or dismiss the case.

Creditors cannot collect discharged debts

This order means that no one may make any
attempt to collect a discharged debt from the
debtors personally. For example, creditors cannot
sue, garish wages, assert a deficiency, or
otherwise try to collect from the debtors personally
on discharged debts. Creditors cannot contact the
debtors by mail, phone, or otherwise in any
attempt to collect the debt personally. Creditors
who violate this order can be required to pay
debtors damages and attorney’s fees.

However, a creditor with a lien may enforce a
claim against the debtors' property subject to that
lien unless the lien was avoided or eliminated. For
example, a creditor may have the right to foreclose
a home mortgage or repossess an automobile.

This order does not prevent debtors from paying
any debt voluntarily. 11 U.S.C. § 524(f).

Form 3180W

David M, Warren
United States Bankruptey Judge
Most debts are discharged

Most debts are covered by the discharge, but not all.
Generally, a discharge removes the debtors' personal
liabllity for debts provided for by the chapter 13 plan.

In a case involving community property: Special rules
protect certain community property awned by the debtar's
spouse, even if that spouse did not file a bankruptcy
case.

Some debts are not discharged
Examples of debts that are not discharged are:

+ debts that are domestic support obligations;
< debts for most student loans;

« debts for certain types of taxes specified in 11
USs.C. %? 507(azs8)( C), 523(a)(1)(B), or
g‘23(a'g(n (C) to the extent not paid in full under

e plan;

For more information, see page 2

Chapter 13 Discharge page 1
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Form 3180W

Case 11-03134-8-DMW Doc 48 Filed 05/18/16 Entered 05/18/16 09:45:22 Page 2 of 2

+ debts that the bankruptey court has
decided or will decide are not discharged
in this bankrupfcy case;

+ debts for most fines, penalties, forfeitures,
or criminal restitution obligations;

+ some debts which the debtors did not
properly list;

+ debts provided for under 11 U.S.C. §
1322(b)(5) and on which the last dpayment
or other transfer is due after the date on
which the final payment under the plan
was dus;

+ debts for certain consumer purchases
made after the bankruptcy case was filed if
obtaining the trustee's prior approval of
incurring the debt was practicable but was
not obtained;

+ debts for restitution, or damages,
awarded in a civil action against the
debtor as a result of malicious or willful
injury by the debtor that caused
personal injury to an individual or the
death of an individual; and

+ debts for death or personal inju
caused by operating a vehicle while
intoxicated.

In addition, this discharge does not stop
creditors from collecting from anyone else who
is also liable on the debt, such as an insurance
company or a person who cosigned or
guaranteed a loan.

This information is only a general
summary of a chapter 13 discharge; some
exceptions exist. Because the law is
complicated, you should consult an
attorney to determine the exact effect of

the discharge in this case.

Chapter 13 Discharge page 2

Case 7:20-cv-00043-B0  Dofap{ B |ledb3/06/20  Page Paiges 0049



Case 11-03134-8-DMW Doc 49 Filed 05/20/16 Entered 05/21/16 01:15:43 Page 1 of5

United States Bankruptcg Court
Eastern District of North Carolina

In re: . Case No. 11-03134-DMW
Mark Anthgnthuthrle Chapter 13
e or
CERTIFICATE OF NOTICE
District/off: 0417-8 User: kemp_br Page 1 of 3 Date Rcvd: May 18, 2016
Form ID: 3180W Total Noticed: 55

Notice by first class mail was sent to the following persons/entities by the Bankruptcy Noticing Center on

May 20, 2016.
ar <

+Mark Anthony Guthrie, NENESNG— N
+CGMAC Mortgage, 3451 Hammond Avenue, Waterloo, 1A-50702-5300

cr
asnor +GMAC Mortgage, LLC, 1100 Virginia Drive, Fort Washington, PA 19034-3204
asnee +Ocwen Loan Serviecing, ILLC, 1100 Virginia Drive, P.0O. Box 8300,
Fort Washington, PA 19034-8300
3929889 +Rarons, Attn: Managing Agent, 1161 Western Blvd., Jacksonville, NC 28546-6652
3929890 #+Allied Restoration, Attn: Managing Agent, 2725-3C 014 Wrighteboro,
Wilmington, NC 28405-8065
3929891 Bill Me Later, Attn: Managing Agent, P.0, Box 105658, Atlanta, GA 30348-5658
3929895 +CBCS, Attn: Managing Agent, P.O. Box 25889, Columbus, OH 43216-2589
.3929901 +Franklin Collection Serv, Attn: Managing Agent, 2978 W. Jackson St.,
Tupelo, MS 38801-6731
3929902 +Furniture Plus, Attn: Managing Agent, 817 N. Marine Blvd., Jacksonville, NC 28540-6197
3929905 +GMAC Mortgage, Attn: Managing Agent, 3451 Hammond Avenue’, P.O. Box 780,
Waterloo, IA 50704-0780
4133371 +GMAC Mortgage, LLC, Attn; Bankruptcy Dept., 1100 Virginia ave.,
Ft. Washington, PA 19034-3204
3929908 +++Just Military loans, aAttn: Managing Agent, 901 N, Market Bt., Suite 463,
Wilmington, DE 19801-3013
3929916 ++MARINE FEDERAL CREDIT UNION, P 0 BOX 1336, JACKSONVILLE NC 28541-1336
(addregs filed with court: MFCU, Attn: Managing Agent, 165 Center Street,
Jacksonville, NC 2B540)
3929815 MFCU, Attn: Managing Agent, 159 Brynn Marr Rd., Jacksonville, NC 28546 '
3929914 Marine Federal Credit Un, Attn: Managing Agent, P.0., Box 31279, Tampa, FL 33631-3279
3929812 +Marine Pederal Credit Un, Attn: Managing Agent, P.0, Box 1551,
Jacksonville, NC 28541-1551
3929911 +Marine Federal Credit Un, Attn: Managing Agent, 165 Center Street,
Jacksonville, NC 28546-5708
3929913 Marine Federal Credit Un, Attn: Managing Agent, 159 Brynn Marr Rd.,
Jacksonville, NC 28546
3943861 Marine Federal Credit Union, PO Box 1336, Jacksonville, NC 28541-1336
3929918 +Omni Financial of NC, Attn: Managing Agent, 431 Western Blvd., Suite H,
Jacksonville, NC 28546-6823
3991399 USAA, PO Box 829008, Dallas, TX 75382-9009
3825923 USAR, Attn: Managing Agent, 10750 Int Hwy 10 W., San Antonio, TX 78265
3829926 Zales/CBSD, Attn: Managing Agent,  P.O. Box 689182, Des Moines, IA 50368
Notice by electronic transmission was sent to the following persons/entities by the Bankruptcy Noticing Center.
asnoxr +EDI: OPHSUBSID.COM May 1S9 2016 01:48:00 Candica, LLC, C/0 WEINSTEIN & RILEY,
2001 WESTERN AVENUE, SUITE 400, SEATTLE, WA 98121-3132
cxr EDI: AIS.CCOM May 19 2016 01:4B:00 Midland Funding LLC by American InfoSource LP as a,
PO Box 4457, Houston, TX 77210-4457
cr +EDI: OPHSUBSID.COM May 19 2016 01:48:00 Oak Harbor Capital III, LILC,
c/o Weinstein & Riley, PB.S., 2001 Western Ave., Ste. 400, Seattle, WA 98121-3132
cr +EDY: RECOVERYCORP.COM May 19 2016 01:48:00
PORTFOLIO INVESTMENTS I LLC C/0O RECOVERY MANAGEMEN, 25 SE 2ND AVENUE SUITE 1120,
MIAMI, FL 33131-1605
cx +EDI: OPHSUBSID.COM May 19 2016 01:48:00 Vanda, LLC, c/o Weinstein & Riley, P.S.,
2001 Western Ave., Ste. 400, Seattle, WA 98121-3132
3980003 +EDI: OPHSUBSID.COM May 19 2016 01:48:00 CANDICA L.L.C., C O WEINSTEIN AND RILEY, PS8,
2001 WESTERN RVENUE, STE 400, SEATTLE, WA 98121-3132
3929893 +EDI: CAPITALONE.COM May 19 2016 01:48:00 Capital One, Attn: Managing Agent,
11013 W. Broad S8t., Glen Allen, VA 23060-6017
3929894 +EDI: CAPITALONE.COM May 19 2016 01:48:00 Capital One, Rttn: Managing Agent,
P.0. Box 26030, Richmond, VA 23260-6030
39298892 +EDI: CAPITALONE.COM May 19 2016 01:48:00 Capital One, Attn: Managing Agent,
P.0. Box 71083, Charlotte, NC 28272-1083
3971487 EDI: CHASE.COM May 19 2016 01:48:00 Chase Bank USA, N.A., PO Box 15145,
Wilmington, DE 19850-5145
39298396 +EDI: CHASE.COM May 15 2016 01:48:00 chase/Best Buy, Attn: Managing Agent,
Cardmember Service, P.O. Box 1532S5, Wilmington, DE 15886-5325
3929887 +EDI: CITICORP.COM May 19 2016 01:48:00 Children’s Place, Attn: Managing Agent,
P.0. Box 5002, Sioux Falls, SD 57117-5002
3929898 +EDI: CITICORP.COM May 19 2016 01:48:00 Children’s Place/Citi, Attn: Managing Agent,
P.O. Box 653084, Dallas, TX 75265-3084
3929899 +EDI: AMINFOFP.COM May 19 2016 01:48:00 First Premier, Attn: Managing Agent,
P.O. Box 1348, Siocux Falls, SD 57101-1348
3929900 +EDI: AMINFOFP.COM May 19 2016 01:48:00 Pirst Premier Bank, Attn: Managing Agent,
601 S. Minnesota Ave., Bioux Falls, SD 57104-4868
3929903 +EDIX: RMSC.COM May 19 2016 01:48:00 GEMB/Gap, Attn: Managing Agent, P.0. Box 965005,
Orlando, FL 32896-5005
3925904 +EDXI; RMSC.COM May 19 2016 01:48:00 GEMB/Lowe’s, Attn: Managing Agent, P.O. Box 9581083,

El Paso, TX 79998-1083

Case 7:20-cv-00043-80 DIEKIAIB I FieB03/06/20 Page 122889950



Case 11-03134-8-DMW Doc 48 Filed 05/20/16 Entered 05/21/16 01:15:43 Page 2 of 5

Digtrict/off: 0417-8 User: kemp_br Page 2 of 3 Date Rcvd: May 18, 2016
Form ID: 3180W Total Noticed: 55 .

Notice by electronic transmission wasg sent to the following persons/entities by the Bankruptcy Noticing Center
{continued)

3929906 EDI: RMSC.COM May 19°'2016 01:48:00 JC Penney, Attn: Managing Agent, P.C. Box 27570,
Albuguerque, NM 87125
3929907 EDI: RMSC.COM May 12 2016 01:48:00 JC Penney/GEMB, Attn: Managing Agent,
P.0. Box 960090, Orlando, FL 328396-0090 )
3929910 +EDI: LTDFINANCIAL.COM May 19 2016 01:4B:00 LTD Financial Services, Attn: Managing Agent,
7322 Southwest Frwy, Suite 1600, Houston, TX 77074-2134
3929909 EDI: RMSC.COM May 19 2016 01:48:00 Lowe's, Attn: Managing Agent, P.0O. Box 103080,
Roswell, GA 30076
3929917 EDI: RMSC.COM May 19 2016 01:48:00 0ld Navy/GEMB, Attn: Managing Agent,
’ P.0. Box 530942, Atlanta, GA 30353-0842
4066590 EDI: PRA.COM May 19 2016 01:48:00 Portfolio Recovery Associates, LLC, POB 12914,
Norfolk VA 23541
4008748 EDI: RECOVERYCORP.COM May 19 2016 01:48:00 Portfolio Investments I LLC,
c/o Recovery Management Systems Corporat, 25 SE 2nd Avenue Suite 1120, Miami FI, 33131-1605
3960247 +E-mail/Text: csidl@sbcglobal.net May 18 2016 01:56:25 ~° Premier Bankecaxd/Charter,
P.0. BOx 2208, Vacaville CA 95696-8208
3929919 +E-mail/Text: bankruptcy@rentacenter.com May 19 2016 01:56:37 Rent A Center,
Attn: Managing Agent, 236 Brynn Marr R4., Jacksonville, NC 28546-5705
3946940 +E-mail/Text: bncmailew-legal.com May 19 2016 01:56:16 TARGET NATIONAL BANK,
C O WEINSTEIN AND RILEY, PS, 2001 WESTERN AVENUE, STE 400, SEATTLE, WA 98121-3132
3929820 EDI: WIRRNBANK,COM May 19 2016 01:48:00 Taxget, Attn: Managing Agent, P.O. Box 660170,
Dallas, TX 75266-0170
3929924 +EDI: USAA.COM May 19 2016 01:48:00 USAA, Attn: Managing Agent, P.O. Box 47504,
San Antonio, TX 78265-7504 '
3929922 4+EDI: USAA.COM May 19 2016 01:48:00 USAA, Attn: Managing Agent, 10750 McDermott Freeway,
San Antonio, TX 78288-1600
3929925 +EDI: CITICORP,COM May 19 2016 01:48:00 Zales, Attn: Managing Agent, P.0O. Box 9714,
Gray, TN 37615-9714
TOTAL: 31
**%*% BYPASSED RECIPIENTS (undeliverable, * duplicate) #*#*x3¥
cr GMAC Mortgage, LLC
cr Ocwen Loan Servicing, LLC
cr USAA Federal Savings Bank
asnee+ +0ak Harbor Capital III, LLC, c/o Weingtein & Riley, P.S., 2001 Western Ave., Ste. 400,
Seattle, WA 98121-3132
agnor¥* +Target National Bank, ¢/o.Weingtein and Riley, PS, 2001 Western Avenue, Ste 400,
Seattle, WA 98121-3132
asneet* +Vanda, LLC, c¢/o Weinstein & Riley, P.S., 2001 Western Ave., Ste. 400,

Seattle, WA 98121-3132
TOTALS: 3, * 3, $## 0

Addresses wmarked '+’ were corrected by inserting the ZIP or replacing an incorrect ZIP.
USPS requlations require that automation-compatible mail display the correct ZIP.

Transmission times fox electronic delivery are Eastern Time zone.

Addresses marked ‘++’ were redirected to the recipient’s preferred wailing address
pursuant to 11 U.S.C. 342(f)/Fed.R.Bank.PR.2002(g) (4).

Addresses marked ‘++4’ were transmitted to the recipient'’s preferred wmailing address
pursuant to 11 U.S8.C. 342(e).

Addresses marked '#’ were identified by the USPS National Change of Addrese system as requiring an update.
While the notice was still deliverable, the notice recipient was advised to update its addreee with the court

immediately.

I, Joseph Speetjens, declare under the penalty of serjur‘y that I have sent the attached document to the above listed entifies in the manner
shown, and prepared the Certificate of Notice and that it is frué and correct to the best of my information and belief.

Meeting of Creditor Notices on;y (Official Form 309): Pursuant to Fed. R. Bank. P. 2002(a)(1), a notice containing the complete Social
Secarity Number (SSN) of the debtor(s) was furnished to all parties listed. This official court copy contains the redacted SSN as required

by the bankruptey rules and the Judiciary’s privacy policies. .
Date: May 20, 2016 Signature: /s/Joseph Speetjens

CM/ECF NOTICE OF ELECTRONIC FILING

Case 7:20-cv-00043-B0 DofadépHB|Te@®3/06/20 Page 1Page 8051



Case 11-03134-8-DMW Doc 49 Filed 05/20/16 Entered 05/21/16 01:15:43 Page 3 of5

pDiptrict/off: 0417-8 User: kemp_br Page 3 of 3 Date Rcvd: May 18, 2016
Form ID: 3180W Total Noticed: 55

The following persons/entities were sent notice through the court’s CM/ECF electronic mail (Email)

system on May 18, 2016 at the address(es) listed below: . )
Douglas M, Strout on behalf of Debtor Mark Anthony Guthrie bankruptcy@stroutlaw.com

Richard M Stearns nharrison@suddenlinkmail.com
TOTAL: 2

Case 7:20-cv-00043-80 DEEIIB | Fie@03/06/20 Page 1P29£,9952



Case 11-03134-8-DMW Doc 49 Filed 05/20/16 Entered 05/21/16 01:15:43 Page 4 of 5

United States Bankruptcg Court

Eastern District of North

arolina

New Bern Division

‘Debtor 1 Mark Anthony Guthrie

FirstName  MiddloName LestNeme
Debtor 2
(Spouss, i fiting) FistName Middie Name LastName

Case number: 11-03134-8-DMW

Social Security number or ITIN |
EIN -,

Social Security number or ITIN
EIN -

Order of Discharge

12/15

IT IS ORDERED: A discharge under 11 U.S.C. § 1328(a) is granted to:

Mark Anthony Guthrie

50816

‘Explanation of Bankruptcy Discharge in a Chapter 13 Case

This order does not close or dismiss the case.

Creditors cannot collect discharged debts

This order means that no one may make any
attempt to collect a discharged debt from the
debtors personally. For example, creditors cannot
sue, garnish wages, assert a deficiency, or -
otherwise try to collect from the debtors personally
on discharged debts. Creditors cannot contact the
debtors by mail, phone, or otherwise in any
attempt to collect the debt personally. Creditors
who violate this order can be required to pay
debtors damages and attorney's fees.

However, a creditor with a fien may enforce a
claim against the debtors' property subject to that
lien unless the lien was avoided or eliminated. For
example, a creditor may have the right to foreclose

a home mortgage or repossess an automobile.

This order does not prevent debtors from paying
any debt voluntarily. 11 U.S.C. § 524(f).

Form 3180W

By the court: David M. Warren
United States Bankruptcy Judge
Most debts are discharged

Most debts are covered by the discharge, but not all.
Generally, a discharge removes the debtors’ personal
liability for debts provided for by the chapter 13 plan.

In a case involving community property: Special rules
protect certain community property owned by the debtor's
spouse, even if that spouse did not file a bankruptcy
case.

Some debts are not discharged
Examples of debts that are not discharged are:

¢ debts that are domestic support obligations;
+ debts for most student loans;

¢ debts for certain types of taxes specified in 11
U.S.C. §§ 507(ah(8)( C), 523(a)(1)(B), or
t5h23(a|)(1)(C) to the extent not paid in full under

e plan;

For more information, see page 2

Chapter 13 Discharge page 1

Case 7:20-cv-00043-BO DCEIXEI.D.I lBl'FFIe803/06/20 Page 1Page20053




Form 3180W

4 debts that the bankruptcy court has
decided or will decide are not discharged
in this bankruptcy case;

+ debts for most fines, penalties, forfeitures,
or criminal restitution obligations;

¢ some debts which the debtors did not
properly list;

¢ debts provided for under 11 U.S.C. §
1322(b)(5) and on which the last payment
or other transfer is due after the date on
which the final payment under the plan
was due;

+ debts for certain consumer purchases
made after the bankruptcy case was filed if
obtaining the trustee's prior approval of
incurring the debt was practicable but was
not obtained;

Case 11-03134-8-DMW Doc 49 Filed 05/20/16 Entered 05/21/16 01:15:43 Page5of5

+ debts for restitution, or damages,
awarded in a civil action against the
debtor as a result of malicious or willful
injury by the debtor that caused
personal injury to an individual or the
death of an individual; and

+ debts for death or personal injury
caused by operating a vehicle while
intoxicated.

In addition, this discharge does not sfop
creditors from collecting from anyone else who
is also liable on the debt, such as an insurance

. company or a person who cosigned or

guaranteed a loan.

This information is only a general
summary of a chapter 13 discharge; some
exceptions exist. Because the law is
complicated, you should consult an
attorney to determine the exact effect of
the discharge in this case.

Chapter 13 Discharge page 2

Case 7:20-cv-00043-80 . DEEXEIRIBI 80310620 page 28989954
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1561 Worthington Road; Suite 300
West Polm Beach, PL 33309

N Ocwen Loan Servicing, LLC
| WWW.OEWEN.COom.
Hclhlnn Homeamm I What Wc Do!' Toll Free! 800.746,2336
Jeqmsteople%ofcoﬂmmlnr

i ol cw ED;
. o i.s 2 5. -;_ LY A " m’?ﬂ“m’ mwm &
mmmmmwum wﬁwdbeiuw Mmmmmfmmmm;m)
which:suvaihblezucamaday,umdayuwwk,nmyofﬂmtﬂmhmammapmmmhemm
However, MdememmwmmmmmMWQMMlm
Reseirch Depitmint works mmmwmmmmmmmmmwfm
ummplmﬁdﬁumcm&ﬁe&%emmmwocmm«bym
mm‘mms OCWEN contumeradvocate works from 9AMW6PMET,MM@WF::W Yonmyclsomd

still Bave qudstions
writien omfespondence to the following address:

P.O Box?A?BS
West Palm Boach, FL 33416-4736
Fax Nimber: 407.737.6375
Sincerely,

RRCMAINLTRM

NMLS #1852 - — ' —
Tis commupication is from a debt coflector attempting fo collect a debi; Mrnatlonobmbmdwm sused jor that purpase.
Howevér, if the debt is n active  or hay beer Wm&” At pjﬁa&- ed to

j‘orby"ormdbml wbm'wdwmxwdﬂmmﬁeammdmlmmtmmnd
atiempt to.collect a debi from youp

Poge2 of 2

Case 7:20-cv-00043-BO D&)‘wkr“ Bll -Eikg 03/06/20 Page fz%%‘? g%56
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rav] Ocwen Loan Servicing, LLC . 1661 Woithingtan Rosd, Sulte 160
y I v o Wst Palm Beseh, 133409
sowew Helping Homeowners is Wiiat We Dol® mwmm,w”
71472015 :
o x iy T LU T T A
MARK ANTHONY GUTHRIE: Property Address:
mllwu

TONIAM GUTHRIE
: Jacksonville; NC 28540

.D’eiar Custoriér(s),

This is an knportant notice containing information eritical to this mortgage sccount.
Oéwien Lodin Servicing tias Jolned forces with PHH Mortgage Services, i mortgage company with

\ . well-establishied mortgage crigindtion and servicing capahllities. As a result; we will beuomolidaﬁng
&ll mortgage accounts into orie company, PHH Mortgage Services ("PHH").

Why We Are Effective 2/1/2019, PHH will be the new servicer for this account and will be collecting the
Sending This mortgage payments going forward.

Letter Please rést assured that Ocwen will be here through this transition, Together, Ocwen and PHH
|  standreatly to assist In any way we can. For any questions régarding the transition, please call
B55.245.3916,
Please send ol payients due onor whr 20313015 5 A atthis address:
s . PO/Box371458
What Needs Pittsburgh, PA 152507458
To Be Done

tfcunenﬁv using 2n Online Bill Payment provider, please contact them to update the payee,
remittance atdress and néi account numiber (if applicable]. Fadluré to make these-updates could
delay the crediting of payients. if currently Mﬂtelnapaymentdeasdmﬂlewumnpmded
o Wailt until the new PHH statement is mailed,

Due tothis transfer, the MMWW Ocwen account n.umberls__

and the niew PHH account number will be
During the firstweek sfter 2/1/2019, nb transactionisicah be maﬂeontbe account while PHH
PanY : verlﬁestheamuvofdlmmmfomummhsm Assomadllsmcesslsmmplm
L the sccount will be activated and you will receive 8 welcome letter from PHH.
What We Duting the 60-day period following the transfir date of 2/1/2018, aily paynient received by Ocwen
WillDo onorbeforeltsduedauwmnbtbammedaslmw PHH and nolatefeewnlbecharged‘
esvaun_aw

NMLS
™S c:rnmm::nﬂan is from o debt collector attempting to coliect o debt; anylrubnmﬁon obitoinsd wilt bé used for thirt gunpose.

Howevey, if thedebt Is in: aﬂivebamuyerhasheendmhwped thirough bankruptcy, this commiunication Is provided purely for
biformational purposes only wikth iegard to dur secureil llen on:the Gbove reférenced property. it is not Intended os an atiempt to

cofleit a debt from you persoidlly. Paged

Case 7:20-cv-00043-BO 52&'drllalTFillg)3/06/20 Page ?ﬁgﬁ 2:’%58



P en Lo vicing, LLC 1661 Worthingion Row, Suite 100
| e e
YT Heljing Homeouners is Whoi We Dal®

MortgageQuestio "mlsPHH'sWéMﬁafnrilsseMdngmmmm,wmdwouwﬂlbeahlem
am;somﬂuemsférpromkj milete; by 2/7/2019;

Wi-éncoitage registration oi the website to actess all the sccount activity, Icluding payment due
mmmwuh\mandmmm :‘nformaﬁon Eleeﬂon ofpaperlesshlﬂlng,

Mnhmﬁmwmm&wm meMornagengsﬁmmhmne page.

NMLS# 1852 - PHH; ACH
mlsoonunumamon Is from a-debt.colisctor attempting to collect o debcanyinfonnnﬂwdtdnedwﬂl beuxdfardntpumasg.

However, If the debt is Inactive bankrupiey of has been discharged.though bankrigitcy, this.commiunication Is provided purely for
informational punposes.only with regard to our secired hien on the ohove rferented property. it Is. not intended os an atfempt to
-collect o debt from you personally. Page2

Case 7:20-cv-00043-BO  DEmORigof PR | Tleql @3/06/20 Page 1Page@059



7N Ocwen Loan Servicing, LLC 1661 Warthingten Roud, Suite 180
i exescaonamy W bl S <08
bow:n Helping Homeownersls WiidtWe DDJ' 2936

NOTICE OF SERVICING TRANSFER
- EFFECTIVE 2/1/2019
The serviding of your mortgage Is belng transférred; efféctive 2/2/2019. This means tiaton or afterthis date; PHH will be

collecting the inarigags payménts. The trainsfer of servicing does riot affect any term or coridition of thie mortgage other
than terms directly related to the servicing of the account.

Ocwen Loan Serviclng, LLC {*Ocwen®) is now collecting the payments. Ocwen will stop accepting payments received after
4/31/2019. PHH Mortgage Services ("PHH") will coliéct the paynients golng fomard PHH will start accepting paymsnts

recélved on 2/1/2019.
tlease send all paymients due on or after 2/1/2019 to PRH at this address:
PHH m&m
P,Q. 8ox 371458

Pittsbiungh, PA 15250-7458
For ariy questichs about the mortgage account or this transfer, plessa contact Ocwien or PHH using this iiformation:

Corvent Servicer -New Seivicer
; LG PHH Mortzape Services
CustomerService.
877.744.2506
Momagewonsm

1M°WWW

_. Mt.uurei!moaam _

Under Federaltaw, dufing the 60-day period fe!lummeeffedvedneofﬁxe transfer of mortgage servicing, & payment
recelvad by Ocwen on or biefore Its due date may not be treated by PHH as lite, and a fate fee may not be assessed to the

AcCOUNL:
Remember, Ocwen will be hiere for you throughout this transfer to assist in any way we tan. if you have questions regarding
this transition, pléase.call us &t 855.245.3916,

Sincerely,
Ocwen Loan Servicing, LLC

NMI.S#!BSZ PHH, N:Hﬂ
This commiunication is from-a debt cofiector attempting to collect a debt; any liforshation ebtalied will be mdfar thot purpose;

However, [f the debt Is in active bankruptey of has been discharged through bankruptcy,. this conimunication Is provided pirely for
Infarmationol purposes only with regord to our secured fien on the above referenced propeny. itis not Intended a5 an attempt to

coflest 4 debt fioim you pérsonally. page3

case 7:20-cv-00043-80 o XtHB1 TFidp306/20 Page 3ageL060



AT Ocwen Loan Servicing, LLC. 1651 Worthington Road, Sulte 100
Ol e ' West Paim:Beath, FL 33409
" www.gcwen,com: ' Toll Free; 800.745.2935
) ?5"{,} Helping Homeowners Is What We Do1®

Why is niy.mortgage accoiint belng transfarred?

‘Ocwen Loan Servicing his joined § forces with PRH Mortgage Services, @ mortgage compiany with well-establishied mortgage
origination and servicing capabilities. As a ‘result; we will be consolidating 2ll mortgage accounts under one eofnpany, PHH
Mortgage Services {"PHH"):

What paymeént methotkare avallable?

PHH offers several convenient options; in addjtion to: makmga payment.by mall, the atcountholder iridy enroll for recurring
payments from a checking or savings account or make payments online at MorigageQuestions.com. If the: morithly gayment
Is-made through an online bill payment service with a blweekly program oryia a government allotment seivice, please be
sufe to change the payee to PHH and use the new paymentaddres and actaint details gs applicatife.

Howy will this affact the credit reporting on:my mortgage?

After 2/172019; the cufrent Otwen aecouiit number will be reported to the credit bureaus as "Account Transferfed 3o
another Sewicerltumpany M Activity'on thie new account puriber will appear under the name "PHH Mbrtgage Services” on
the tredit repart goingforward,

What if1 thadea paymentto Ocwien, bit it does not show up on my PRH account?

If Qewen receives a payinent on, or after 2/1/2019, the payment will be forwarded automatically to PHH, If. may take a few.
days for PHH to recelve and apply the paymients, but this forwarding will nat niegatively impact the account or credit report
during the first 60 days after transfer. i

‘Poes PHH have a website?

Tha PHH website i i5 Mongageauesnem com. We encourage registration on the website to access all the account activity,
Intluding paymént due dates and amounts, escrow balarices and other account information. Election of paperiess Billing,
direct debits ahd various alerts, Including payments récelved, hazard disbursements; tax dlsbuisements, paperless
documents, and yéar-end statements-are alsb available.. -

Can | uge'my otwencustofners,com usemame dnd password fo log into Mortgagenuesﬂons.com?
Your current uset name will not frarisfer to'MortgageQuestions.com. Affer 2/7/2019, you tar set up the account on the
PHH website, MortzageQuestions.com by &stabl!shing a newusernaie and passward.

Will 1 contiriué t6 recelve paperless billing nbtifications?
Yes. if enrolled in paperless billing, you will continue to receive emails notifying you of the availability of the billing
statement at Murtgageo.uestlons.com

1am under the protection of the Servicemembers Civil Refief Act (SCRA). Dot need to take actioh regarding this?
The service transfer does notimpact-any service member protectloris. Please notify us of any change in active duty status.

 NMLS # 1852 ~ GBYEPHH_ACH
This communication Is frorn u debt collector frttempting to collect o debt; any Mformation ebtained will be used for that purpose.

However, if the debt Is'In dctive bankruptey or has been discharged through. bankruptcy, this communication is provided purely for
m{onnntmnai purpbses only with-régard ta our secured lien on the above re,&renced property. It is not Intentled us an attempt to

collect a debt frm you pefsonally,
Page 4
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N Ocwen Loan Servicing, LLC 1661 Worthington Road, Stiite-100
f ; Geiven.com We’sl" l;aim Begch, FL 3_34(_!9
. WWW. - Toll Free: 800.746.2936
GCWEN Helping Homeowiers Is What We Dol® ourres

A trial modification plan s currentfy in place, but payments remain due before the account is parmanently modiﬁe:l.

% What should be donie?
Monthly payments should continue to be miade as required in the modification plan, Ocwen’s records will he maintained by
PHH Mortgage Sewlces, Including the status-of the modification, Please altow-30 days for PHH to review and process the
information. It Is not riecessary to call for a status prior to 30 days, as the agent wlill niot have any additional mformation to

providé;
If the trial plan is scheduled to end within 60 days of the mortgage account transfer diite, the trial plan will not expire until

the later of (a) the last day of the month-the modification becomes effectivé, as noted in the final Modification Agreemerit,
or {b) the due date by which the final Modficstion Agreement must be returned, as noted in the final Madification

Agreement.
Atrial inodification is currently in place. Is it necessary to provide ahy additional informatton for the mortgage actount
o be permanently modified?

No. There I8 ho need to send any additional documentation for PHH to send a final Modification Agreement. Once the
exetirted, final Modification Agreetnent is retwimed and all required monthly trial plan payments have beeri made, PHH will

permanently modify the mortgage.

How ¢an the account Refatiohship Manager be contacted?
.After 2/11/2019, the Relationship Manager can be contacted by calling the PHH Customer Care Center at 877.744.2506 and

requesting to speak with him/her.

A modification application has just been submitted to Ocwen, Should this also be sent to PHH?

It Is not necessary to resubmit the application or documnents to PHH. Please allow up to 30 days from the date of the
account transfer for PHH.to process the application and determine ellgibllity. it is not necessary to call prior to 30 days, as
the apent will nothave ahy additional information to provide.

1 received a notice from.Ociwen that thére were missing documents for a modification, but | have riot sent them yet.

Should these documents be sent to PHH riow?

Yes, please send the documents to PHH Mortgage Services by fax to 856.917.2848 or by emall.to
HAT@mungagefamnrv com. Ogwen will be providing PHH with the status of the modification (trial plan or initial
application), coples of the initiat application and information identifying the missing documentation.

NMLS # 1852 ' GBYEPHH_ACH
This communication is from a debt collector attemptinig-to collect a debt; any information obtained ‘will be used for that purposeh
However, if the debt is in active bankruptcy or has been discharged through bankruptcy, this communication is provided purely for
Informational purposes only with regord to our secured llen on the above referenced property. it Is not intended as an attempt to

collect a debt from.you personally. .
Pages

Case 7:20-cv-00043-80 (Xl B TriddDsi0620 page 2399962



wen | Ine, LL 1661 Woithington fioad, Sulte 400
l.{ .QmenwL:wan Ser'v::ng, LLC et
oowen Tell Frée: 800.746.2036
oem-n He(omynnmeawnemb What We Dol®

Ihave & Short Sate or Deed in Uleu application pending With Ooweh. Dol hava'to Maﬂmhmmhﬁntom
inow sl vevapply?

{Fthere i a pénding foréclosire sale-date.or closing scheduled in She next 60/ days, please resent thiedocumgntationto
PHH by fax 1o 856.917.2848 or by émali to HAT@martgagefanilly.com. if there is riot @ Toreclosure sl or scheduled closing
In ﬂ&mwmomnmupm«!eﬂlu fhie statyis of thie periding resolution, PHH will foflow up with a¥inal-approval of
denlal. Please allow PHH Mortgage Services 30 days to process the Short Sale or Desi 1 Lisuappiication.

‘Tréceivd spproval froin Ociwer for 3 Shiait Sile of Deed in Leu, Will this dpproval be hinored by FHINY

Ve, ttwill be horicred s long.d5the driginal réquirements orcontmendesforapproval provigéd by Qcrwen are met, With
respict toShioit Sales, fledse note thist the original éxplratich iiste of Gewed’s approval {the “good thiough' date) sHil
applies; if it has explred; the dpproval s no longer valid. Ocwen will be providing thiése aparoval regulrements to PHH.

NMLS# 1852 ' GBYEPHH_ACH
mmmmkaﬁmbﬁomadeamueawu&mpﬂmwwlewmt;mmmwm obitolned will be. medlarmmwmqse

However, if the débt Is-In-active Sonkniptéy or fias beco dischorgd through bankiuptcy, this. communication ispmv!dedpmely!nr
Informotional pirpose's only with régard. to:our secured.lien on the above referenced property. it Is:not Tntended as an attempt to

collect'a detit.from ydu personally, .
Pige
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N Ocwen Loan Servicing, LLC 1661 Worthington Road; Sufte 10D
West Paim Besch, FL 33409

WWW,0CWen,tom Toll Frée: 800.746.2936
Helping Homeoyimiers s What We Do)®

it _<f

OCWEN

5

Pnyabk 1o:

PHH Mortgage Services
P.O. Box 371458
Pittsburgh, PA 15250-7458 Amount of Payment: $

NMLS # 1852 GBYEPHH_ACH
This communication is from o debt collector attempting to collect a debt; any infermation obtained will be used for that purpose.
However, if the debt is in active bankruptcy or has been discharged through bonkruptcy, this communicgtion is provided purely for
informational purposes only with regard to our setured lien on the above referenced property, it is not intended os an dttempt to

colfect a debt from you personaily.
Page 7
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Py Fay Shates: wmnmm
£

10110013 Terms; SI.ﬂ?pe'mﬂl.pm
>mwwuth1msnn
1312017 for $00.782<
High bt o 3 m.mmamehmn $100:12% $yoim BT 1o 1272097
,B@ﬁ*dmnﬂ: yu"ﬂli' will hie grenoved: 182010
Pege 4 i 17

125017 1402037 1062047 32087 08529047 0 [isirdudg 0412617 Q26T

L2512 120 G G4 L&E0E 072046 GEr2016 OFZP16

12:2045 112013 102013 082655

12¢ 128 120 OK
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@ Report Created On: 01/11/2019

TransUnion.” Flle Number: |RNE

You have been on our files since 09/01/2000

Date of Birth: [N
Names Reported: MARK ANTHONY GUTHRIE, MARK A. GUNTHRIE and MARK A. GURTHIE
Addresses Reported:
Address Date Reported

[
401 JOY; CT, JACKSONVILLE, NC 28540-8301 0510512008

]

.

[ ]

—
Telephong Numbers Reported:
A I ]
Employment Data Reportad: -
Employer Name Pasition Date Hired Date Verified
USMC MARINE CORP PILOT ' I
| S

The.infoimiation regarding adjustable-rate morigages was cbtained from public records and appears 6n your reporl. TransUnioh yses a vendorto collast Adjirstable Rate Moripage. .
(CARM) iriformation from public récord sources: This ARM datamay be'inéliuded in your report when il [ requested by TransUnlon customets qualified to racelvs it, The information
was oblalned from the Recorder's Office’in the jurisdiction and state specified; Nene of thess items contairis adverse Information; they are simply a fisting of the Information fied In the
Resorder's Office conceming your.edfustable rate mortgage, e [ : R FEREIR 2 ! ed In 1

MORTGAGE DETAILS FROM PUBLIC RECORD E
Recorder'’s Office: Origination Date: 08/2009 Loan Amount: $180,126

ONSLOW, NC Initial Rate Adjustment: 01/2015 ) ‘Rate Calculation Change: 2%
Next Rate Change Date: 0172619 Change Percent Limit: 2%
Rate Change Frequency: Yeary Meximum Rate: 6%
Rate Change Interval: 01 Combined Loan to Value: 109.50%

Index Type: constantMaturityBill
Look Back Period {days): S0

“Typicaly, créstars reportany changes.mede to your sscount information monthly, This mezns that sbine. accounts listed below may nof refiéct the most secent actfuity untl the
treditér'a nexd réporting: This information may inclide things.such as balances, payments, dates; remarks, ratings, etc. The key(s) below ere provided to helpyou understand some of
me‘mum\hfonnaﬂqqhatqgu‘ldbempo;:tnd._ LT e, o o o o . AL athe: ¥

Some creditors report the timeliness of your payments-each month In relation to your agreement with them, The ratings in the key below describe the payments that may be reported
by your credifors, Please note: Some but not all of these retings may be present in your credit report, .

2N ]
!

Page 1 of 14
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TransUnion:

OCWEN LoAN svcG LLc I

1661 WORTHINGTON RDSTE 100

WEST PALM BEACH, FL 33409

(561) 682-8000

Date Opened: 08/21/2009 Date Updated: 11/30/2018 Pay Status: Current; Paid or Paying as

Responsibllity: Joint Account Paymant Recelved: $0 Agreed

Account Typo: Mortgage Account Last Payment Made: 10/11/2013 Terms: $1,071 per month, pald

Loan Type: VA REAL ESTATE Menthly for 372 months
MORTGAGE >Maximum Delinquency of 120 days in 10/2015 and In

082018 for $81,249<

High Balance: High balance of $490,126 from 03/2018 to 11/2018

1112018 10/2018 09/2018 08/2018 07/2018 06/2018 05/2018 04i2018 0372018 0z/2018

- g2as703]  g2337es| 234003 - $233, sez . §231,854 $1 79.974 3179 074

an

01/2018 1212017 1012017 0972047 08/2017 072017 0672017 052017 04/2017
120 120 120 120 120 120 120 120 120

03/2017 02/2017 0172017 1212016 1112016 10/2016 072016 08/2016 07/2016 06/2016
120 120 120 120 126 120 120 120 120 120

05/2016 04/2016 03f2016 0212016 0172016 12/2015 11/2015 10/2015 0912015 0812015

120 120 120 120 120 120 120 120 oK “

072015 06/2015 05/2015 042015 03120418 02/2015 01/2015 12/2014 112014 1012014

Page 2 of 14
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TransUnio @

The following accounts are reported with no adverse infoimatioh, For your protection, yolr account numbers have been pariially masked, and in ‘some cases sgrambled. Pléage note:

, Adcounts are roparted’es “Current; Paid or paying &s agreed" If pald within of the:due date. Agoounts reported as Ciment mi e Ia L chidrges-H no
onorbefore the dusdate. . ¥ paying 83 ag P 1 80 days of tha:due dak reported as Curvent may sfll Inciur lgte fees urln!eraatdml:g,es # agl pald

AMERICAN HONDA FINANCE (NN

1235 OLD ALPHARETTA RD

SUITE 180

ALPHARETTA, GA 30005

(800) 543-5636

Date Oponed:
Responsibliity:
Account Type:
. Loan Type:

Romarks: CLOSED

Individua] Account
Instafiment Account
AUTOMOEILE

03/2009 02/2009

oK OK
05/2008 0412008
OK OK

0712007
oK OK

06:2007

MARINE FEDERAL CREDIT UN
SUSAN NELSON MEM ADV OFFC

PO BOX 1851

JACKSONVILLE, NC 28541-1551

(810) 577-7333 x3170

Date Opsned: [
Responsibility: Individual Account
Account Type: Installment Account
Loan Type: AUTOMOBILE

Remarks: CLOSED

1012009 08/2008
oK OK

1202008
OK GK

1112008

Balance:

Date Updated:
Payment Received:;
Last Fayment Made:
High Balance:

01/2008 12/2008

OK OK

03/2008 02/2008
OK OK

052007
OK

Balance:

Date Updated:
Payment Received:
Last Payment Made:
High Balance:

08/2008
OK OK

07/2009

1012008 0972008

OK OK

MARINE FEDERAL CREDIT UN N
SUSAN NELSON MEM ADV OFFC o

PO BOX 1551

JACKSONVILLE, NG 28541-1651

(810) 577-7333 3170

Dats Opened:
Respons|blility:
Account Type:
Loan Type:

Individus! Account
Installment Account
UNSECURED

Balance:

Date Updated:
Payment Received:
Last Payment Made:

1142008 1012008

OK OK

01/2008
OK OK

122007

06/2009 05/2008

OK OK

08/2008
oK

- OBAGAIZ009

Page 3 of 14

EXHIBIT 12

Pay Status:
Terms:

Date Closed:

0%/2008 08/2008

OK oK

112007
0] OK

1012007

Pay Status:
Terms:
Date Closed:

04/2008 0312009

oK OK

Pay Status:

Terms:

Cunent; Peid or Paying as
Agreed

07/2008 06/2008

OK OK

Q92007
oK 0K

08/2007

Current; Pald or Payinp as
Agreed

02/2009
OK OK

01/2009

Curmrent; Paid or Paying as
Agreed

Page 0068
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2

TransUnion:

Remarks: CLOSED

07/2009

OK

MARINE FEDERAL CREDIT UN SN

SUSAN NELSON MEM ADV OFFC
PO BOX 1551
JACKSONVILLE, NC 28541-1551
(910} 577-7333 3170
Date Opened: ] Balance: $0 Pay Status: Current;-Paid or Paying as
Responsibliity: Individual Account Date Updated: 06/02/2009 Agreed
Account Type: Installment Account Payment Recelved: Terms:
Loan Type: UNSECURED Last Payment Made; Date Closed:
High Balance:

Remarks: CLOSED

05/2009 04/2009 03/2009 0212009 01/2009 1212008 11/2008 10/2008 09/2008 08/2008

OK OK OK OK OK OK OK OK oK OK

07/2008 06/2008 0572008 0472008 03/2008 02/2008 /2008 1212007 1112007

OK OK OK OK OK OK OK OK oK
NAVY FEDERAL CR UN N
POB 3700
MERRIFIELD, VA 22118-3700
(888) 842-6328
Date Opened: ] Date Updated: 120242018 Pay Status: Current; Pald or Paying as
Responaibility: Individual Account Payment Recelved: $0 X Agreed
Account Type: Revolving Account Last Payment Made: [ Terms:
Loan Type: - CREDIT CARD

12/2018 11/2018 10/2018 09/2018 0872018 07/2018 06/2018 052018 0412018 03/2018

Py ey

Page 4 of 14
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2

TransUnion.

02/2018 01/2018 1212017 1112017 1012017 0912017 08/2017 0712017 06/2017 0512017

 [Batance_ -:!-ﬂ--ﬂ-:]m-:l-:-'_'l-:l

4

sl o = =34

= —_—
—_—a—eae——s

-
_ngh Balance
Rating

B e e L S SEEEEII—S——————

[ ok
o Jy JJ J J /J / / S/ S S g )

042017 03/2017 0212017 0112017 122016 1112046 1012016 09/2018 0812016 0712016

I r: o el @l "f::_fa _3 = -
[:I-:lm-:-:-:l-:l-:l-:l-ﬂ-:
OK OK OK oK oK OK OK oK OK OK

NIRRT I TN/ /e ST A e

06/2016 05/2016 0412016 0372016 02/2016 01/2016 122015 11/2015 10/2015 Q8/2015

' ’.’/"[ oK oK oK OK oK oK OK 0K oK oK
[ L I A AL 7 L 7S, L 7 ‘

082015 07/2015 0612015 05/2018 042015 03/2015 0212015

el ox/ B

ue l 7 //’//
iptated; //)7/27/2018 Pay Status: Current; Paid or Paying as

2 B ; s
g ems: aid Monthly
i : Date Closed:

Date Pald: |

VERORED L GSSINGK: Gt
S / d . d
'/ d N
¥ P y d
7 2
;
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TransUnion:

02/2018 012018 1212017 1112017 1012017

07/2018 06/2018 052018 04/2018 03/2018

Balance
[ S vy -]

e __77[ N |

OK OK OK

]
l-'-l-_'.'..'.'n.

07/2017 086/2017 05/2017 04/2017 03/2017 02/2017 01/2017 1212016
T —— ——— e S B ———— —————————

09/2017 0872017

Amu!Pﬂ 4 - s B R S _"——
. —— ¢ m——
Rating o) oK oK oK

' s S

"‘ oK K oK oK oK OK

1172016 10/2016 08/2016 08/2016 072016 06/2016 05/2016

Pay Status: Current; Pald or Paylng as

| | :
10/05/2010 Agreed
I Terms:
L} Date Closed:
09:2010
MWI -
| i
ehede
e g »
f Balance: — Pay Status: Curent:Pald or Paying as
L/ 7/ /ipdidual Account Date Updated: 0515/2010 Agreeld
£ Instaliment Account Last Payment Made: ] Temms:
7 NOTE LOAN High Balance: | ] Date Closed:
Page 6 of 14
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@

TransUnion:

05/2010

0K

OMNI MILITARY LOANS NORT NN

P.0. BOX 53528
FAYETTEVILLE, NC 28305

(810) 353-6767

Date Opened: [ ] Balance:
Responsibliity: Individus! Account Date Updated:
Account Type: Inatafiment Account Last Payment Made:
Lomn Type: NOTE LOAN High Balance:
Remarks: CLOSED

0212010

COm <
OMNI MILITARY LOANS NORT S

P.0. BOX 53628

FAYETTEVILLE, NC 28305

{010) 353-8767

Date Opened: | ] Balance:
Responsibility: Individual Account Date Updated:
Account Type: Instaliment Account Last Payment Made:
Loan Type: NOTE LOAN High Balance:

Remarks: CLOSED

1172009 10/2909

ok ox
SAN DIEGO COUNTY cU [RENEI

PO BOX 910107

SAN DIEGO, CA 92191

(B77) 732-2848 x2388

Date Opened: | ] Date Updated:
Responsibllity: Individual Account Payment Recoived:
Account Type: Instaliment Account Last Payment Made:
Loan Type: AUTOMOBILE

High Batance: I

01/2019 12/2018 112018 10/2018

OK K

12108/2008

01/02/2019

06:2018 08/2018

) oK

Page 7 of 14

EXHIBIT 12

Pay Status: Current; Paid or Peying as
Agreed:

Torms:

Date Closed:

Pay Status: Current; Paid or Paying as
Agreed

Terms:

Date Closed:

Pay Status: Current; Paid or Paying as

Agreed

Torms:

07/2018 06/2018 0512018 04/2018

e Al

OK

Page 0072
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®

Translinion:

03/2018 0212018 01/2018 12/2017 1142017 1012017 09/2017 082017 07/2017 06/2017

USAA FED BVG BK - AN AN
PO BOX 47504
SAN ANTONIQ), TX 78265-1504
(800) 631-226}

Curient; Pald'or Paying as-
Agreed

Dats Opened 11 | Bafanco: A P§yf Status:
Responsibil| L: individual/Account Dhte Updatey’: / 117/2009 /
AccountType: 4 Installmght Account Payment Ryceived: )

AUTOWDBILE ./ Last Payrpfent Made: / ) )
: ./ High Ba¥nce: d _ / /  DateClosed:

" Terms:

10/2009
OV o

WF ; , / /
POBOXM4517 § = [ , . /
DES MGINES, 450308 / / ,

(877) 3426157 |.

Date 'ened:' / [ /- / " / ¢ el e ' 12/11/2018 Pay Status: Curren!; Pald or Paying as
Respgnsibility: : / b L, ] T : Agreed

Accoyit Typy: g/ccouny s Béd | o pald:

Loanfjype: | ’ 7 ¥ . Date Patd:

HiglyBalange:
Credit Limjz:

R~y /
1212018 11/2018 1012018 09i2018 0812018 0712018
—

————————
Py

i B T

Amount Peld l

Pn
f

coassbB your credlt iiformeation fron TransUnion, 7
es rjulriwwmremain onyourcredl! forup to 2

{ NAVY FEDERAL CREDIT via EQUIFAX MORTGAGE
1 SERVICE {820 FOLUNLANE % ¢
TVIENNAL VA 22180.5..

‘ / Page.fAmf 14
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2

TransUnion:

815 EAST GATE DR

SUITE 102

MOUNT LAUREL, NJ 08054
{(800) 685-5000

Requested On:
Inquiry Type: fndividual
Permissible Purpose: CREDIT TRANSACTION

. GAPITAL ONE AUTO FINANCE
* 3905 N DALLAS PARKWAY

FLANO, TX 75093
_ (800) 846-0332

o Requested On:
Inquiry Typs: ndividu

CHASE AUTO

PG BOX 801003

FORT WORTH, TX 76101
(B00) 336-8575

Requested On:
Inquiry Type:

IHOEHN ‘HONDA'V 0 - CAPITAL ONE BANK USA NA
. 545dPAseo DEL NORTE W - PO BOX 30281

SALT LAKE CITY, UT 84130

(800) 855-7070

Requested On:
Inquiry Type: M

The cumpanles llsled below recelved your namer addmss and otherhmlted Informaﬁon d:out’you so lhay eould make a ﬁn'n oﬁer of. uedu or lnsunmoe They dld nok fecelve your full
- credit repon ‘mese Inqu]ﬂss are not seen by anyone but you &nd do not effact your scope;

t A [ tee 4
GEMBISAMS o ; o ChoT e T
PO BOX 981400 )
EL PASO, TX 79598
(800) 984-1017

- ALLSTATE INSURANCE
2775 SANDERS RD
NORTHBROOK, IL 60062-6110
» (800) 255-7828

NATIONWIDE INSURANCE CO
1 NATIONWIDE PLZ

COLUMBUS, OH 43215-2220

(800) 882-2822

Requested On: NN

Page 9 of 14
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TransUﬂioh@

; GRANITE BAY ACCEPTANCE INC
1781 VINEYARD DR,
L #222
. ANTIOCH, CA 84509

1 GEICO PLZ
WASHINGTON, DC 20076-0003
(773) 582-2886

Requested On: [INENR

ONE GEICO PLAZA
WASHINGTON, DC 20079 .
(800) 841-3000 .

Requested On:|
Permissible Purpose: RANCE UNDERWRITING

' P OBOX 1000
CHESTER, PA 19016
(600) D16-BBOD

. Requasted Or: S

TU INTERACTIVE
100 CROSS ST

202 ,
SAN LUIS OBISPO, CA 93401

(844) 580-6B16

Requested °n=—

DISCOVERPLCYR
P O BOX 1531
WILMINGTON, DE 10850
(800) 347-2683

Requested On: NN
GOLDMAN SACHS BANK USA
PO BOX 45400
SALT LAKE CITY, UT B4145
(844) 827-2871

Requested On: NN

Page 10 of 14
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TransUnion:

Requested On’

,,r.« . .. ey

E
2

MARK ANTHONY GUTHRIE via TRANSUNION
INTERACTIVE
" 100 CROSS STREET 202
2 SAN LUIS OBISPO, CA 83401
5  (844) 580-6816

Requalhd On: q
' Permissible Purpose: CONSUMER REQUEST

The fouowlng dr osure af informaﬁan m!ght peﬂaln 1o you, Thlsaddlhonal ;nfomxaﬁon méy Include SpedialMessanés; Office ofFore;gn Assels c::mm] ('OFAC') Potentlal Name -

amyor Th!rd Party supplemema! lnfmmaﬂon Autherized paities may also teoelva the aftdifiond!.

.Matches, Inquity Analysls; Miliary, Landlng Act (‘MM‘) Covered Bonvwerlnlormaﬂon.
Intormaﬂon belowfrom TransUnm - -

-

AR

TheMlﬂlary Lendlngm provldeﬁmpnnanl safegum!s to vae Military pemnnel and. the:rdependanfa Underme Mmieryl.emﬂngM(MLA). if you are: an actlve duly member of the

;. amned forces of gre on’ adive Suard or Resenre duly. yau mnol be chamnd an lnterest rate higher.than 36% on some typsé ofeonsume: loans. It algo pro!acts your spouse and !
certu‘m dependems B [ =

TO ass!st ﬁnanda! Irmtﬂnﬂuns with complylnn wﬂh thls requirenisnt, TransUnlon recelves Murmaﬁon about an lndeuafs military staxuatrun the LS. Deparimsm of Defenso mmugh

thelr, data center knownas the DMDC (Department of Defense Manpower Dala Center) When potemlal Iendazs relquest your credit file fmm TmnsUnion. Ihey mn a:sa requesl thls E
lnformaﬁnn 3 . . - :

Inqmry Anatyms

The eompanles that mquest your cradlt reporl muaﬂimt ‘provide cenalr) inforination nboin you Wﬂhln the pqst GD days, companles that requested your report provkieu the foliowing
mfonnatfon

NAW FEDERAL CREDIT via EQUIFAX MORTGAGE |demifylng Information thev provided:
- SERVICE MARK GUTHRIE
* Requested On:—
NAVY FCU Idenglf;l:;ln;:;nv;l;n they provided:
Requested On: IR MARK A. GUTHRIE

Employer: UNITED STATES MARINE CORPS

Should you wish to contact TransUnion, you may do so,
Online:
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To report an inaccuracy, please visit: dispute fransuniop.com
For answers to general guestions, please visit: www.iransunion,.com

By Mall:

TransUnlon Consumer Relations
P.O. Box 2000

Chester, PA 18016-2000

Phone:
(800) 816-8800
You may contact us between the hours of 8:00 a.m. and 11:00 p.m. Eastem Time, Monday
through Friday, except major hofidays,

For all correspondence, please have your TransUnion file number available
(focated at the top of this repory).

Para informacion en espanal, visite www.copsumerfinance.goy o escribe a la Consumer Financial Protection Bureau, 1700 G Street N.W. Washington,
DC 20552.

A Summary of Your Rights Under the Fair Credit Reporting Act

The federal Fair Credit Reporting Act (FCRA) promotes the accuracy, faimess, and privacy of information in the files of consumer reporting
agencies, There are many types of consumer reporting agencies, including credit bureaus and specialty agencies (such as agencies that sell
information about check writing histories, medical records, and rental history records).For more information, Including information about
additional rights, go to or write to: Consumer Financial Protection Bureau, 1700 G Street N.W.,
Washington, DC 20552, ‘ ‘

= You must be told if information in your file has been used against you. Anyone who uses a credit report or another type of
consumer report to deny your application for credit, insurance, or employment - or to take another adverse aclion against you - must tell
you, and must give you the name, address, and phone number of the agency that provided the information.

" You have the right to know what is in your file. You may request and obtain all the information about you in the files of a consumer
reporting agency (your 'file disclosure”). You will be required to provide proper identification, which may include your Social Security
Number. In many cases, the disclosure will be free. You are entitled to a free disclosure if:
= a person has taken adverse action against you because of information in your credit report;

you are the victim of identity theft and place a fraud alert on your file;

your file contains Inaccurate Information as a result of fraud;

you are on public assistance;

you are unemployed but expect to apply for employment within 60 days.

In addition, all consumers are entitled to one free disclosure every 12 months upon request from each nationwide credit bureau and

from nationwide speclalty consumer reporting agencies. See www.consumerfinance gov/learnmore for more additional information.

¥ You have the right to ask for a credit score. Credit scores are numerical summaries of your credit-worthiness based on information
from credit bureaus. You may request a credit score from consumer reporting agencies that create scores or distribute scores used in
residential real property loans, but you will have to pay for it. In some mortgage transactions, you will receive credit score information
for free from the mortgage lender. ’

" You have the right to dispute incomplete or inaccurate information. If you identify information in your file that is incomplete or
inaccurate, and report it to the consumer reporting agency, the agency must investigate unless your dispute is frivolous. See
www.consumerfinance. gov/learnmore for an explanation of dispute procedures.

= Consumer reporting agoncies must correct or delete inaccurate, Incomplete, or unverifiable Information. Inaccurate,
incomplete, or unverifiable information must be removed or corrected, usually within 30 days. However, a consumer reporting agency
may continue to report information it has verified as accurate.

Page 12 of 14
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©

® Consumer reporting agencies may not report outdated negative information. In most cases, a consumer reporting agency may
not report negative information that is more than seven years old, or bankruptcies that are more than 10 years old.

| ]
usually to consider an application with a creditor, insurer, employer, landlord or
need for access.

You must give your consent for reports to be provided fo employers. A co

Access to your file Is limited. A consumer reporting agency may provide information about you only to people with a valld need

other business. The FCRA specifies those with a valid

nsumer reporting agency may not give out information

about you to your employer, or a potentlal employer, without your written consent given to the employer. Written consent generally is

not required in the trucking industry. For more information, go to www.consumerfinance. gov/ileamnmore.

You may limkt "prescreened"” offers of credit and Insurance you get based on information in your credit report. Unsolicited

“prescreened" offers for credit and insurance must include a toll-free phone number you can call if you choose to remove your name

and address from the lists these offers are based on. You may opt-out with the
(888-50PTOUT).

nationwide credit bureaus at 1-888-567-8688

CONSUMERS HAVE THE RIGHT TO OBTAIN A SECURITY FREEZE. You have a right to place a “security freeze” on your credit

report, which will prohibit a consumer reporting agency from releasing information in your credit report without your express
authorization. The security freeze Is designed to prevent credit, loans, and services from being approved in your name without your

- consent. However, you should be aware that using a security freeze to take control over who gets access to the personal and financial
information in your credit report may delay, interfere with, or prohibit the timely approval of any subsequent request or application you
make regarding a new loan, credit, mortgage, or any other account involving the extension of credit.
A securily freeze does not apply to & person or entity, or its affiliates, or collection agencies acting on behalf of the person or entity, with
which you have an existing account that requests information in your credit report for the purposes of reviewing or collecting the
account. Reviewing the account includes activities related to account maintenance, monitoring, credit line increases, and account

upgrades and enhancements.

As an alternative to a security freeze, you have the right to place an Initial
cost. An initial fraud alert is a 1-year alert that is placed on a consumer's credit

or extended fraud alert on your credit file at no
fite. Upon seeing a fraud alest display on a consumer’s

credit file, a business is required to take steps to verify the consumer’s identity before extending new credit. If you are a victim of
identity theft, you are entitled to an extended fraud alert, which Is a fraud aler lasting 7 years.

You may séek damages from violators, If a consumer reporting agency, or, in some cases, a user of consumer reports or a furnisher

of information o a consumer reporting agency violates the FCRA, you may be able to sue in state or federal court. You may also have

the right to file suit under state law.

= |dentity theft victims and active duty military personnel have additional rights. For more information, visit

consume ore.

States may enforce the FCRA, and many states have their own consumer reporting laws. In some cases, you may have more rights
under state law. For more information, contact your state or local consumer protection agency or your state Attorney General, For

Information about your federal rights, contact;

TYPE OF BUSINESS: . CONTACT:
“1,a, Banks, savings associations, and credit unions with total assets of over $10 Bureauy of Consumer Financial Protection
biflion and their affiliates ~ 1700 G Street NW

| Washington, DC 20552

b, Such affiliates {hat are not banks, savings assaciations, or credit unions also
should list, in addition to the CFPB:

e

+ederal Trade Commission
Consumer Response Center - FCRA
Washington, DC 20580 1-877-382-4357

2. To the extent not included in item 1 above:

Office of the Comptroller of the Currency

a. National banks, federal savings assoclations, and federal branches and federal
agencies of foreign banks ;

Customer Assistance Grou
1301 McKinney Street, Suite 3450
Houston, TX 77010-9050

b. State member Eanks..branches ‘and agencies of foreign banks (other than federal

branches, federal agencies, and insured state branches of foreign banks),
commercial lending ‘companies owned or controlied by foreign banks, and
organizations operating under section 25 or 25A of the Federal Reserve Act

Federal Reserve Consumer Help (FRCH)
1200

PO Box 12
Minneapolis, MN 55480 1-888-851-1820

“c. Nonmember Insured Banks, Insured Stale Branches of Foreign Bans_, and

FDIC Consumer Response Center
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Insured state savings associations

U0 Walnut Sireel Box &1

, Kansas City, MO 64106

d. Federal Credit Unions

National Gredit Union Admlmstrahon
Office of Consumer Protection (OCP)

'Division of Consumer Compliance and Outreach
(DCCO)

1775 Duke Street |

Alexandria, VA 22314

- 3. Air carriers -

Asst. General Gounsel for Aviation Enforoemenl &

Proceedings

Aviation Consumer Protection Division
gartment of Transportation

' 1200 New Jersey Avenue, S.E.

: Washington, DC 20590 1-202-366-1306

4. Credilors Subject o Surface Transporiation Board

Office of Proceedings, Surface Transportation Board
Degartment ol‘s Tgvansponahon

Washington, DC 20423

5, Creditors subject o Packers and Stockyards Acl, 1921

“Nearest Packers and Stockyards Adminisiration area
supervisor

G.VSmaIi Business Investment Corhpanies

1 Assoclate Deputy Admmlstrator for Ca?ltal Access
Umted States Small Business Administration
409 Third Street, SW, gth Floor

| Washington, DC 204

|77 Brokers and Dealers

| Securities an& Exchange Commission

100 F Stre
Washington, DC 20549

8 Federal Land Banks, Federal Land Bank Assomatlons. Federal Intermediate
Credit Banks, and Production Credit Associations

‘Farm Credit Administration
i|1501 Farm Credit Drive

McLean, VA 22102-5090

: =9.‘Rete1ilers, Fina‘nce Companies, and All Other Creditors Not Listed Above

FTC Reglonal Office for region in’ Which the creditor
operates or
ederal Trade Commission: Consumer Response

Page 14 of 14
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MARK ANTHONY GUTHRIE

Dear MARK ANTHONY GUTHRIE,

We understand that recently something on your credit report did not seem right to you ‘We take {
getiously, and we want to miake sure -your TransUnion credi répoft Is atcurate. it's our comimitmel

if we were-able to make changes to your eredit report based on information you provided, we mag

changes. Otherwise, we.asked the nompany reporting the Information you dispufed 1o do &l of 1

1. Review relevant information we sent them, including any documents you gave us as part
dispiite

2, investigate your dispute and verify whether the Information they report is.accurate

3. Providg us a response to your dispute and update any other information

4. Update their-records and systems, if necessary-

Your-dispute is Important. In the pages that follow you will see your detailed investigation results!
the business name and contact details of the source of the Information. Piease review the result

TransUhio)

40""‘

®

hls matter
1o you.

e those
e following:

bf your

including
s carefully.

I-low to Read Your Investigation Resilts

You wm 586 that, for each disputed item, ‘a summary éxplanation appears In the gray-box, fellp
paragtaph describing the resiilts of our investigation, followéd by & view of how the item ap,

updated ciedit. report, Please note any changes we miade to personal informatisn (na?v

‘employment, SSN, date of biith) will appear at the end of Your: Investigation Resuits.

@

id by a brief

e, address,

Want tg review & full copy of your cradit report? Get yours-a

“0hr2 U0594-103227 0110,
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| Maximum Delintuency: If applicable, the " | Yorms: The monthly payirisnt amount of monthly

il bumbae: 20
Diotsoisd; | OVRZOW Pege 26t
A Note 6n Credit Report Updates. y | __
Iiformation In your credit raport 1s updated fraquently. which mezns items you. disputed may not appear on
your credit report er have already changed by the time.we received your dispute. In most cases, the Date
Updated. represents the. fast ime the sccourit information was: updated or reported by the data furnisher.
Plgase note that this date may not:change followinig our invesigalion: of your dispite. For Payment
Regelved and Last Paysient Made, pleass keep. in mind, the datis mey it tepresent Very recent payment
aclivily. Forinactive accounts or sccounts ‘that have bisen closed and paifd, Pay-Status reprossnis the last
known status of the-account.
Definitlons
For your teference, here are:some definitions to tielp you understand Your Investigation Results,
For ACCOUNTS: _ | 7
Batance: The halance owed as of the-datethe  [Oflgiital Chiarge Off: If applicable, thie dnidint
gocolint wes verfied or-fepoited charged off due 1o rion-payment of tie acoopit
Credit Linilt: The maximumm amaufit of credit Past Dus: This amount past due as of the date the
| approved by the craditcr on the cceunt. accountwas verified of repoited =~
Dafe Opensod: The:date the account was - |Pay Status: The cument siatus of the account; how
Opened . You gre cutveritly paying
Hiiih Balance: The highestamount ever owed on.an | Remarks: If applicable; the creditor may provide
account ' additional information here related o the account

o-0f confractus! ovmersip

Last Payrient Maties Tha date the craditor Responsibility: The type-of Stigl owniershiip.
réoeived:the last payiment on the account (individual, joint, authotized user, elc;) of the:account.

maximum amount past due bafore anaccount |minimim payieht due on the éicouint
becomies a.charge-off of & collection accoint

Rating Key

Some creditors report the timeliness of your payments each month in relation to your agreement with thiem.
The ratings in‘thé key below describe the. payments that may be tepdried by your creditors, ‘This rating key
will help you undesstand any updates fo your PAYMENT HISTORY, if applicable'to YOUR INVESTIGATION
RESULTS. Any rating that is shaded or any valiie in the-acctunt detsil appearing with brackets {> <)may
indicsite that it is cansldered adverse,

w || @ |58

uumm|um| Fy—




File Number: Page 3ol &
Date Issued: 01/2872019
TransUnion Credit Score
MARK ANTHONY GUTHRIE
&;{ i 4
Your Séore& Giade - Soove & Grads Rangs Where You Rank
Score
Not Purchased
{See Balow)
Grade Unavailgble Unavaable
. . (See Below) (See Below)
Cragled an
01/2872012
Based on your TransUnlon credit repart, this is a| The numerical score:Tangas from 850 to 300 Your credit ranks higher than —%of the nation’s
depiction of your creditworthiness. equaling grads ranges fromAto F. population,
Summary

You dii not order a Transtinfon credit store. You cen purchese your credit sooré for $9.95 by caling 1-866-SCORE-TU or 1-866-726-73868,

Want 1o review a full copy of yaur credit report? Get yours at www.lransuni n.com/fullrepart

P BK0Z2-002 00594-1005228 0310
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| UPDATED: Achange was made to-{ive Hem{s) based oii your dispiite and other Iriformation has also

. u_;mm']m]-ﬂnlmm7mlzmmnmmmmm- 7

N Famacls
Datolgaued: 017282010 R

Your Investigation Results

' mvssﬂemou RESULTS - DISPUTED INFORMATION UPDATED AND OTHER INFORMATION
{ changed.

OCWEN LOAN SVCG LLC #80241" (1641 WORTHINGTONRD, STE 100, WEST PALM BEACH; 1133400, {561) 662:6000)
We invastsgated the information you disputed and updated Ratlng Hebs is-how this iten appaars oh-your
otadit repart followmg ag;:gr mvasugaﬁen

Doty L . EA— et Peid ér Pl
MMIW Joih Accotnt: Dﬂl "F’ 11'3”3“13 . "
Asoount Type: Morigig w hymﬂhﬂ' 1019912013 Tokine: 3140‘" pei fiohth, paid
Loan Type: VA REAL ESTATE lﬂnhﬂlhnw $140,125- Monithly for 372 moriths
MORTGAGE ' >Madrim’ Daltmmyol 120 daysin
o528 od thiR

‘mﬁmmnmﬂmmm-mlﬁm mlsmlllmmmm-mumm
-:J--Zlm_--il—--fﬂ-ﬂ

:Lanmum--ﬂmm-mutILmr;ummm@mmmm:z:m

20 ~‘l:ZE'.'IIZ” *Tmmmmm-mmm T
O DO I [EX T EXJEXFL BIEXI XTI IXI[[X]

W, f-your.credit report? Get yours atwmuw
'ant fo review a-full copy of y rept y : o aoaro
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onumbe: [N Pige5el5
Date lssuod: ‘017282018 -

In the preceding pages we have provided details: on the results of our Investigation. If our
Investigation has not résoived your disputo, here's what yoir can do next:

If there fias been a changa to your cradt report as & result of otir investigation, or if you have:gdd
to your report, you inay ask TransUrilon to sendl ah updated credit report to those who' hav
report within the last 2 ysars for employment purposes or within the.last 8 months for any other pt

Add a 10D-word statement to your report, What this means is that you have the right to send us a noté
of 100-words.or less describing your situation.or why you disagree with.the resls, -and yve will add this
statement to your repott. Anyone who views: your veport will see this statement. Please know that #f you
include any medical information in your-statement, this means youi're giving TransUnIo'  pempiasion to
inchide that information:in any future credit report we'issue on your behalf;
Dispute directly with the company that reported the information to us. {f you want chir
information found on your credit fepait you may dispute with the: company that reported it using the
-gontact Inforietion ¥sted In Youii Tnvestigation Results.
Provide to usanyother nlformaﬂen or documerits about your dispute. Plaase visit
N, andlatuslmowyouaremngampeatdlspute Ba sure toingiude a
Information ‘of documentatlon 'you feel wilt help us resalve your dispute;
File a complaint about the company reporting {he ‘astcount or about TransUnilon with|the Consumer
Financial Pmtecuon Buresu of with your State’s Attomey Genaetal's office,

Should You Wish to Contact TransUnion

Plsase have your TransUnion FILE NUMBER available. Your unique FILE NUMBER Is iocatdd at the top-of

each page of this cormspondence

Online;
To, dispute information contained in yeur credit report, please visit: ¢ ‘
For more hfonnatlon p!aase vtsﬂ our. Frequemly Askad Questions page at

By Mall:
TraﬁsUnion

P.O.

Chester, PA 18016-2000

By Phonie:
(800 918-8800

Box.2000.

You riiay contact us bétween the hours of 8:00 AM - 11:00 PM ET, Monday through Friday, éxcept major

holidayt.

‘Want to review a full copy of your credif raport?-Get yours at www.transun fu
00554-1005231 05430
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Summaty of Rights

mmwmormms UNDERTHEFCRA
e 6 escribie a 15 Consumerfinancial Pmuectlnn

[ar nformacion e sspari sistie i -
|Bureau, 1700°G Stréet N;W. Washirigton; oC 20552.

ASuiimaty-of Your Righits Underthe Falr Credit Reporting Act

The fédetal Fair Crétiit Repoiting Act (FCRA) pfomates the accuraty; faless, and privacy of information in-the filds of consumer
fepoiting. agencles, There are many types of fonsumer feporting agencies, Iucludlng ctedit'byreaus and spe aliy agencies
(such as.agencles that sell Information about check writing: filstorles, medlcal mcords, and rental hlstory fecoyds): For mare
information, intluding information about additionat fights, g0 o www.col gEmm: ez COnsumer]
financial Protection Buréay, 1700 6 Street N.W., Washington, DC 20552,

o You mnstbe told if Information in your file fias be¢n used against yoii, Ariyone who uses a eredif report. of griother type o
- consumer report to deny your applicition forcredlt; insurance, oremployineitt = or to take anbthier edverse pction ggalrist
you - miusttellyou; and must give fou the name; address, and phore iumber. of the agency that provided th “Information.

*Yois hiave the right to kitow what s in your fle. You. may-request and obtain all the information about you I the files of aI
consumey reporting agency (your ‘file dlsctosme'). Youwillbe required to provide proper idemjﬁcaﬂon. whidh may ihtlude

your! Soclal Security Number, in fiany cases, the disciosure will be free.. Yourare entitled to afree diselosute ¥:

& person has taken adverse aciion against? you because of tnformiation in-your cridit repont;
» youare thevictim of identity.theft and place 3 fraud alert on your file;

s your filé-cofitatns indccurate fnformation as a result of fiaud;

“yousre on:publicassistance;

+yourare unemployed but expect to apply for employment within 60 days.

In addition; ali consumers:are.entitled to-one free:disclosura evety i2 mqnths upon request fmm each na‘ o W

bureau and from; pationwide speclally consumet repoﬁlns asenclw See.
addmonal {nformation.

~ infotmation from credit' bureaus. You may-request & eredit scare from consumer teporting ‘agencles that &
distribiite scores used in fesidéntiat reat piopenty leans, butyou wilthave to-pay,for it. In some morigage tra
will recéive creditscore: information forfree from the: mongageiander,

. »-You ‘hgve the right to dispute Incomplete or: inaccivate lnfnmnhn 1F you Tdéntify Informiation in yo

* You have the right to ask for & credit-score, Credit &cores dre pumerical Summiries of yous creﬂ!tawor!hlﬂﬁess based m;l

‘incomplete or !nacculate. and report It tq the consumer fepming dgency, the -dgency. must Invesitigate unlest" your dispuite

s frivolous. See i foran explafiation-of dispute pmced;ues

" o Gonsurher. aponinz sgencies E— or delete Inscrurate; incomplete, or unverifabls hiformatis
© Intoingilete; or-tihverifiable information must be femoved or corrected, usadly within 30 days. waeva
teporting agency may continue torepert information.it has vérified-as accurate. ;

* Consumer reporting agencles may not report-outdated negative information, In most cases, a consumer re
may notrepoit negative information that s mote than sevenyears:old, of bankmupteles that are moré thian ¢

* Access to your filels {imied: A consuiner reporting agency may provide Infotrivation aboit you only to-peoy
need Usially to consideran’ appllcaﬁon with:a créditor, insurer, employer, landiord or ethér business. The
those with 4 valid iieed forattess.

¢ You must. give your congént for véports to be.picvided to emplbyers. A corisumer.répoiting agency may

Information aliout you £6. youir-emplojer, or § pntenﬁal employer; without your written consent given fo.
Wﬂuen consant generally Is not required in Wie trucking Industy. for mere lnformal

. You lmv llmlt"pmsmed" oﬁusofcmdtt and Insurancé youget

Uprésereened” offers for creditand Insurance must ihclude 4 toll-free phoné dumberyou can call IF you £ha

your-fidme and:address fromi:the lists thiise offers are. based an. You may pt-oit with the nationwide cre
2:888-5678688-(888:50PTOUN).

» CONSUMERS HAVE THE RIGHT 70 OBTAIN A SECURITY FREEZE. ¥oir have a.iight to place & “security freeze® b

tepoit, which will pmhlbit @ cofisimer reponing: agency. from releasing information in yaur credit repn
express puthbrization; The secufity fregzé {8 deésigned to prevant credit, loans, anid. sewices figin bielng. ap)
name without your consent, However, you should be aware thiat using a-security freeze to Aake:control’
access tothe pe:sonal am! ﬁnandal quormaﬂon inyour credit report may delav. Interfere’ with, orptombmh

ate Scoves 0
isactions, you

file that tsh

s Inaccurste,
» 8 consumen

based on Inforniation in your crédit rejiont

iting agency
years.old.

ewitha vallj
CRA specifie

ot give out
he employer.
lon.. go tof

- Urisolicited
¢ t0 Pemove
it bureaus s

n your cred
.without your
Toved I Vi
ver. who gets
timely
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approval of any subsequent request or appllcation you mike regardlnga hew lodn, ciedit, morigage, oF any; cﬂfemccount
Involving the extension of credit,

A secutlty freeze does not apply1o & person orentity, or its affiliates, or collection agencies acting on béhalfofthe person

. orentity; wittiwhich you have an ex&ﬂngagcountthat requésts information jn your credit report for the purposes of
reviewing orcollectfngthe gccaunt; Reviewing the dccount Inclides activities relatéd fo actount maintenaiice, manitoring,
credit line Increases, arid accoisit upgrades and enhancenients.

* As an altemative to a security freeze, you have thie sight o place an Inftial or exténded fraud aleiton your ¢redit file at no
cost: An initial fraud alert Is a 1-year alert that Is placed on a consumer's credit file. Upon seelng 3 fraud alert display o5 @
consumer's credjt file, a business.is required to take steps to. veiifythe consumer’s identity before. extending new credit, If]
-yt are dvictim of identity theft, you are entitled to atiextended fraud-alén, whith is a fraud alert lasting 7 years.

'» You may seék dimages from violators. If a consuimer réporting agency, or, In some gases, a yser of consumer reports-ora
furitsher of information to a consumerreporting agency violates-the FCRA, you:may:be able to siie in state orfederal court:
You.may also hiave thiright o file suit under state law.

> ldenmyﬂmftvlalms and adlve duty mllltaw personnel have additionat rights. For moré information, visit

P $K0Z2-002 00594-1008254 En0
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d, Federal Credit Unlops

| Alexandria, VA 22314

|'States may enfarce thie FCRA, and many states hava theb'ownmsumerupmtlhglaws. 1 some ¢iises, you may have more:
vights under state lsw, For more information, contact your statéor loralonsumer protéction agency orypursti Ate Attomey
General, mlufnxmaﬁonahmyw federal rights, contacts .
. mzonusmr.ss{ .CONTACY::
1.4, Bariks, $avings assoclitions, and ciedit unfonswith £ Consumerf'manclal Prbte:tfbn Bureay
total assets of over $10 billion and theit affillites - 17006 Strest, W,
. Weshington; DC 20552
'| b, Such affiliafes that a¥é riot hatiks, savings associations, b Fedeml deei:nmmtsslqn
|  orereditunions also shiould list, inaddition tothe CFPB; | ConsumeyResponse Center
: - 600 Pénnsylvania Avenue, N.W. 4
: WGshington. 0C 20580 . {877)382-4i357
2. 'ro the extent not im:luded in ftem 1 abeve. a. Office of the'Comptroilerofthe Cumency:
.a. National banks, féderal savings assotTations, and federal | -CustomerAssistance Group
b:anchesand feﬂarai agencles of forelgn banks 1301 MciGnney Stidet, Suite 3550:
Houston, TX 77010-9050
b. State: memhi.rban’ks. bBranghes and agencies of foeign | b. Federal Reserve ConsumerHelp Center
banks (other than federal branches, federal agencles, PO Box 1200
and Insured State Branches of Foreign Banks), | -Minneaolis, MN 55480
commercial lending compenies owned ar controlled by
foreign banks,and organizations qperating under section
25 or 25A of the Fedéral Reserve Act.
-¢; Nonmembei Insured Banks, Insured State Branchies of | ¢ FDIC ConsumerResponse Cénter
Forelgn Banks, ang’ lnsunedstate sav!ngsassociaﬂons 1100 Walhut Stregt, Box #11
Kansas City, MO.64106

d. tiatlonal Credir Unfon:Adminlistration
Office of ‘ConsumerFinancialProtection (OCFR)
-Divislon oF Consumer Compliance Poficy and O
1775 Duke Street

treach

——

3, Alr éarifeéis

| Washingtunl DC20590

Ass’t. Gerieral Counsel for Altation. Enforcement ax Proceedinigs:
Aviation Cansunier Protection Division
Depamnentof Transportation

1200 Newersey Avenite, S.E:

& Cradtors Sublec t e Sirace Taneporaton Board

Office of Proteedings, Suface Ttansponatmn Bogrd
 Department of Transpontation
395.E Street, 5.V,
‘Washington; DC 20423

5.Ciedjtors Sublecj to the Packets and Stotkyards A,
1921

| Nearest Packers and Stockyards Administration area '

Supervisor

* 6. Smiall Busiriess Tvestment Compnnl'es

Associate Deputy Mmrnlstmor forfaptal Accest

- United States Small Business Adminlsttaton
- 409 Third Streét. SW,, Suite 8200
_ ‘Washington, DC20416°
'7. Brikers and Dealers | Sepurtties and achangeCommissron
: 10D F Street; NE.
Washington, D€ 20549
6. Federal Land Banks, Federal Land Bank Assoclations; Fainm Credit Administiation
Federal Intermediate Crédit Bariks, and Production Credit 1501 Farm Credit Drive:
Assoc“latlons Mﬂ.ean.VA 22102-5090
9, Retallers, Finarice Compiaiies, and All Othier Creditors Hot- | Federal Trade Commission
Uisted Above ConsumerResponsg Center
“600 Pennsyivania Avenue, NW. _
Washlnstém e 20580 1877) 382:4357
mmmn
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Ifyou have questions orare inneed of additional fiifbrmation, plese contact dic above referancod dealorship.

Veiy truly yours,
SunTryst Bank
Dealer Finanoial Services

The Federil Bipual Craifit Opporiunity. Act prohibita ereditors fror disciiminaling igiltist erodil applicants en @ie-Ykis 61 mis, colos, seligion,
rintitial erigin, sox, siirilal dntus, ege (rovidid Gie spplicnt has e capacity loeniet fatonbinding contiet), eomiss all or part of the apylicant's
iricome darives from any publio essiatiinge pirogratn, oc Beckne e applicant his in. good fhilth exerelsod any right under'the Consmer Crei
Pmieullmm ‘The Federn) gpency that -sdminisiers compliance with thix luw concemiing: this cieditor s the Bureay of Consunter Finmrein)
Protection; 1700 GSMNW., wmmocm

T -
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820 Foltin Lane
, Viering, VA 22180

Application or Loan Number:
Date: 12512019 -
"We*_meats Croditor,_ ' “You" nicins Applicant
— e mmmmmmxAmmmNcm v
[ thuttipte Greditors, We are grovidiiig this notic on behslF of us and e following credhonts):
Dosoipion of Ao, Tarssetton or Aaduestod Crédik. A Réaidentl ReetEsteld Loah
Deacyigtion of Action Taien: Grodi Denlsl
_Pu'nu’,n/ Reasons for Cre mf UL wal. Termination or Qther Action Taken Concetni nr; Credit

Credt Applicidion iroomplate
Insufficlant Nimber of Gradi Reforancds Privided
Uriaseoplabla Type of Crogit Refsrencea Piovided

Unebis to Vertfy Credrt Roforances
' me&hmuarm!oymem

- —— = -— — e e e mm—e— o~

‘momwwm

L Vmwmmmmmmm :

dayuﬁuyaumdumlimﬁn»lnuﬂm sny
JWMMMMmmmmmmmw
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 TransUinisn  PO.Bok 200 | (S00}B1B6BOD  wiwwitrirsuriton.com

B "We aiso obtained your credit seore fram the consiimisr reporting agency and vsed it in riaking our cridit decision, Your
eredlit oore is a-number thiat reflects the information in:your corisumer fepoft. Your sredit sedre can change, depending
on how the informalion in your consuriier neport cliznges.

 Yourcreditsooie: 776
*Date: 192019
Swmsnngaﬁumatgwoﬂ“!ouhigﬁoﬂﬁ
« Key factors that advéniely-affected your éeedit soore:
02 LEVBLOFDBUNQBENCYONAQCOUNTS
30: msmcamosrnmmumomismbsuom
z& PROPOR‘HON OF BALANCGES TO CREDIT LiNITS ON nmmamm REVOLVING OR OTHER REVOLVING:
08+~ mmxmaummsmmm 1ZMONTHS.

If you tiave aiy questions regandiig your eredit scare. yoi stionid contaet Biquifai 4t their address and telchhone number
dbove, _

o1 Ourcreditdecision was based n.whols orin pait on irifomation cbiined from an affitiats or from an Gutside soiifce ciber ihgna
eonmmmpmﬂn;og:my.vndermemr&udnkspuﬁnxmmhﬁelheﬁshtmmbammmgmf.nohmmmdm
SRei yon reciive this notice, ﬁnrdudmaoﬂhnﬂteoﬂlﬂnlnrm‘on.

CJUfslxom

1f yob Have: anquons regmding this ngtice, yoir. sbonld conigct:
C:tditoﬂs Name; thw MUJIIM

\ Wm .-,v_Azzm
“Télephone: 4

Notice, The fedesal Eqnal Creédit Opportuiliy Act prohﬂms creditors Trom discfiminating ngalnsl eredit npp]u;nnls onthe basis
of vace. volor., religion. niational origin. sex. marital Sintus, aze { ravitle¢

binding conlract); because s ol Gr part of the apphcam s Sticome-derivés from hﬂy public asslstnme prog;am, or becnuse the
applimm has in go6d faith ‘exercissd: any right uider the Ciinaunier Credlt Protection Act: ‘The fedéral agency that admirilsters
complidiice with this Tdw concerfing thiscreditoris;

'Bureau of Consumer Financisl Protection ' L
£700 G- Strect NW

Washington, DC. 20006
wFo112
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g;u;g:m . NewBern Office
Blake Y. Boperce 910 Cravexi Stiees
Mathew W. Buckuilier e ' PO, Box 1654

Jostph Z. Frest Pt Wew Bers, Nosth Caroliia 28563
Johiy W, King . STUBBS PERDUE | Telephone (252) 633-2700
Willtam H, Kroll AITORNEVS-AT LAW Fatatmile {252) 6339600
Trawick H. Scubbs, Jr.
Landon G, Van Winlde
, 9208 Falls 6 Netae Road Sulte 201
Chry R, Pendue. Raleish, North Caroling 27615.
{1947 --1999
Telephione (919) 8706258
Facsimile (919) 6706259

Doeamber 16, 2019

PHHMurbgageSemees

| 112 08,0, 5 2605); 15 V.5.C. § 16815-2()8); 12 C.F.R, §§ 1024.55-36; N.C. Gen. Stot.

5645-39.70“ 4593 .
Borrower(s): ‘Mark Anthony Guthrie
Loan No.:
o Jaelmonvme ‘North Carolina 28540
S&P File No.: 20190238.00
Dear Sir or Madam;

Pleage be advised that myself and Stubbs & Perdue, P.A. have been retained by

Thia : idence constitotes & disputemdmnfmtmdebythenmowezpmuanttolz
0.?.&31024856f39m&m1{ &mmm@&mmmﬂmmawmm Settlement
Pmoed _ (‘EESEA"), which became effective on January 10, 2014, and implemeétited the
N F ! >-«memmwmmmmammumm

“ els m - (l‘lclpholﬂcyq Suhuduyoandsuudays)
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PHH Mortgage Corporation $k/a Ocwen Loan Servicing, LLC dfb/a:

PHH Mortgage Services.

Decembér 16,2019

Page 2ol 1Y

MARR ANTHONY GUTHRIE (the @ j63”) .in eonnecmon with the aliove-
referenced loan, ' hick dtjon and

‘belief, 35 held-by ALLY BANK fhla: GMACBANK(‘QMAQ") and servieed by PHH
MORMAGE CORPORATION fik/a OCWEN LOAN SERVICING LLC db/a PHH
MORTGAGE SERVICES (‘PHE), 'which is- secured by yeal pmperty having a2
physxcal address of 401 Joy Oouzt, Jacksonville North Carolina 28540 (t:ha

This correipondence is a qualified written zequest; notice of error, and request for
information putsiiant to the Federal Servicer Act, which is a part of the Real Estate
Settlement grmedms Act, 12 US0. § %605(¢); and a yoquest for information
plrsuant to N.C.:Gen. Stat. §§ 45-89.7 axid 46:98, relating to the above-referenced

Loan.

As PHH is aware, and on or about August 21, 2009 (the “Loun Execution Date”
and i grder to.purchase the Property, the Borrowers. execuiaedaNoﬁe mi‘avorof
GATEWAY mmnme DIVERSIFIED MORTGAGE SERVICES, L.P. (Gates

ii the priginal pnnmpalmnuunt of $180,126.00, with. interest aewmng iéréon at a
ra;temrtaallyaqualtofourpercent (&M%)perannum(the“ﬂm“’), which called for
- monthly installment payments in the amount of $907.70, consisting of principal and.
interest, commencing o October -1, 2009, withaﬁnalpaymeﬂt ot‘the ontetanding
principal dnd interest due on or before. Septeinber 1,:2089 (the “Maturity Dats
The Note wag secured by g Désd. of Trdst on the Property; wh:chwownedbythe
Bormwers and utilized was: prevzoualy ugilized as their primary residsnice, that was
facorded. on Septeaber 1, 2009, in Book 4280, Page 18 of the Onslow County
Registry (colle¢tively, the “Daei '. 8" (topethier with the Note, the "Mortaage”).

FoﬂowmgexeeuuonoftheMortgage, aiid on or abiout April 21; 2011, the Borrower
filed a yoluntary petition for relief under chepter 18 of the United States
Bankruptey. Code, 11 U.S.C. § 101 ¢t séq., in the Umteds‘tatesBanhuptcycomt
for the Eastern District of North Caroling’ @he “Bankvuptoy. Court’);, which was
‘amed Case No 11qoa"134-a-nnn (t;he “Bankxuptey Cage”). GMAG ﬁledaproofof
Bankmptcy Case, abserted a cldim in the smount of

$195,701 44, the balanéé of wlueh was aecured by the Propeity pursiiant to the
Deedof"l‘mst, arising fromn the Mortgage: O July 18; 2011, thie Chapter 13 Trustee
“Trugtas”) filed n Notice of Amended Motioh for Confirmation of Plan (D.E; 18)
through which, the Botrower proposed a chapfer 18 plan of reorganization (the
m") which would have paid. the Mottgage docording to its contractual terms, as
well ag &ired any prepetitibn arrearage owed thereunder over the sixty (60) mionth

: hfeot‘thel’lan.OnAuguatls 2011, the Bankruptey Court entered an Order

approving and confirmiiig the Plan (D.E, 21). _
Thereafter, on or abont January 1, 2013, the Borrower, through counsel and in the

‘Stubbs & Perdiic; P.A.
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PHHE Mortgage Corporation fk/a Ocwen Loan Servicing, LLC d/b/a
PHH Mortgage Services

Deécember 16, 2019

Page 86f11

BnnkmptcyCase,ﬁledaMohontnAllowSumndetofRealepertyand
- Modification. of Chapter 18 Plan (D.E. 36; the * tion”), seeking the

au on of the Bankiuptey Cou!ttosnmnderthe Property securing
repayment of the Mortgage and reduce the paymeits made fo the Trustee under his
Plan accordingly. GMAC received notice- of the Surrender Motion and did not fils
aby response or objection thereto. Accordingly, .4nd: on. February 7, 2018, the
Bankruptéy: Couit entered an Order Allowing: Sumnder of Real Property and
Modificatiork of Ghapter 18 Plan (D:E. 38; thie "), Pusguant to the
teyms of the Surrentder Order, GMAC was authorized to Tiguidate the Property and
ﬁledadeﬁmncyclmmmtheBanhuptcycourt,futreatment a8 a general
unsecired claim wider {he. Plan, within one hundred twenty (120) days of entry of
the Surrender Opder.

Following entry of the Sutrender Order; and on or about March. 15, 2013, PHH,
through its predecessor-in-interest OCGWEN LOAN SERVICING, LIC, filed a
TransﬁarofClam Othert_:hanﬁ:rSecmtymtheBankmptcy Cowrt-(D.E. 40; the

of Transfer of Claim”), As assdrted in the Notice of Trasisfer of Claim,
GMAC transferred all right, title, and interest in the Mortgage, including the rights
to ¢ollect payments arising theteunder, to PHH, Following the transfer of rights:
under the: Mortgage from GMAC to PHH, and. notwithstanding the deddline for
filing a deficiency elaim established by the Surrender Oxdsr. neither GMAC, PHH,
or any’ of their agents, graployees, or assigni took. any sction to liguidate the
Property or file any. deficiency cliim related thereto.

On May:18, 2016; anduponoompletmn of all payments called for-under the Plan, as
amended, the Botrower received a discharge pussuant to 11 U.S.C: § 1328(a) (D.B.
48; the *Discharge”). On August 23, 2016, and followmgths filing and acceptance of
theﬁnalacoountmgandreportfmmthe'l‘maﬁee ‘the Bankruptey Court entered an

Order ¢closing the Bankruptcy Case (D.E. 52).

Thexeafter, and notmthstaudmg that the Borrower's in personam obligations under
the Mortgage were di | purgnant to the Discharge entered in the. Bankruptey
Case, of which PHH received notice, PHH continued to report the Borrower as
deliniquent under the Mortgage to ome or more copsumey reporting agencies
(“CRA%") s that teim i defined in 15 U.5.C. § 1681a(), which false and derogatory
information caused: Borrower actual damages including a. niaterial decrease in his
 ¢redit score, impairment to his creditworthiness, and the donial of requests: foi
extension of credit which, but for the niiginformation submitted by PHH, would

have been approved.
This false and misleading communication of information concerning the Mortgage

and Borrower to one or more CRAS is evén more inexplicable in light, of the fact that
PHH had sctusal Jnowledge of the entry of the Discharge. Additionally, and

Stubbs & Perdue, P.A.
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PHH Mortgzage: Corporation #k/a Ocwen Loan Servicing, LLC d/b/a

PHH Mortgage Services

Deoembar 16,2019

Page dof11.

following entry: of the Discharge and nitification by Borsower that the Mortgage
had been discharged, PHH, malatterdabedAuguat& 2017, informed Borrower

thut, nnmthstandmg the entry of the Discharge, it would continue to pissue
collection processes. against, Borrower “per the Bankruptey chapter 18 discharged,
gmdelines Thereafter, PHR continued to :éend -periodie: monthly miortgags.
statements to Borrower falssly and deceptively demanding. payments on the
I\‘;I:sr:gage notwithstanding that the game had-besn discharged in the Banln'upwy

Unexplainably PHH continigs. to attempt: to- collect a dmcbarged debt from. the
Borrower and confinues. to. provide filse and ‘¢ifonequs information regarding
Borrower's payment history and the status of the. Mortgage to one or moxe CRAs,

To.independently confirm that the balance of the Lotn has been dmcharged, and to
ensure acciurate- yeporting of the same o various third parties ineluding, but xiot
limited to; CRAs, financial. mstitut;qns, the ;ntarygl Revenug_ Service (the “ES’).

Loan from its' incsption through the present, induding ¢
restatements, or modifications thereto,

Upon receipt of this correspondente, please refrain from reportmg any negahve'
. wedxtinfomhonﬁoanymdxtrepnrﬁngagenmes.meludmg ixperia ion
~ ""’)(eolbchve!y, M”),unﬁlyoure@ondtoeachofthe followmg
'  tiyged o conduct an internal audit of the above-referenced
Loan since ita inception to-the présent; paying particular attention t0.the collection
ndmmngnfthehanfoﬂomgenﬁyofthz Diccharge, Please do not rely on
pravious servicer(s); originstor(g), or Jolder(s) vecords, assurames, or indeminity
‘agroements, or otherwise refuss to condvict s full avdit of the Loan.

requeats Tt is strotig

Ithaacometptheattenhonofmyd:entthatm\ﬂupleemrs.nommdbyﬂm
thh reepect to ﬂsservicingand i ofamoumsallegedmbe ovved undertlﬁ

inanyamonnt {iii) th emteneeofaaanegadpast due and outstandmgbalanoeon-
the Loan; (iv) furnishing:incorrect, inaccurite, and/or falss information to CRAs
nehungtomchantandthenoan.mcludmgailegedpastmandommdmg
payments-and amounts and payiment. dutes, {v) increased amounts applied t, and
attyibuted towards fees, it, or expenses, on the Loan, snd (ﬁ) ﬁua assessment,
spplication and collection. of interest, Inte fees, atforneys’ feen, p 7 ingpection
foes, force-placed insuraice costs:and expenses; -and otber costs, feee, and ‘expenses
that my client is not legally-obligated to pay undér the tarms of the Loan, attendant
Ioat docnments, including the Deed of Trust, and the Discharge,

‘Stubbs & Perdue, P.A.
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PHH Mortgage Corporatmn fkls Ocwen Loan Servicing, LL.C d/b/a
PHY Mortgage Services

December 16, 2019

Page 6 of 11

To be clear, dnd for the avoiddnce of any doubt, Borrower is dsserting that PHH hss
md;;oor continues to make the following errors m ‘coninection with its servicing of
an:

a.  Asséssing, coilet ing, or attempting to collect feea, expenses,
costs; aftorneys’ fees; or other & o5 from Borrower which: are neither
aunthorided. under applicable law; of ‘puiiuant to. the terms of the Deed of
Trust, the Note, and the Discliarge, in violation of N.C. Gen. Stat. § 45-91(4);

b.  Pailing to timely notify Borvower, inn writing and in 8 formand
within the time specified in 15 1.S.C. § 1881s-2()(7), that PHH has, is, and
continues to supply negative information of and concerning Borrower to one
or move CRAs; and

¢ ConhnmngeoreporttoonearmmORAsthattheInanxsm
defanilt, s delinqaent, or otherwise communicating to CRAs that Borrower is
fmhngtoperfomundertheMortgagewhean{knows thie sanie t6 be false,
in viclation of the Fair Credit Reporting Act (the “FCRA", specifically 16
U8.C. § 16815-2(a)(1)(A).

PHH is hereby formally advised that, pursuant to 16 US,C. § 16813—2(&)(1)(3) and
(a)(@8), it is prohibited from further reporting inaccurate. information relsted € the
Loan or Borrower to any CRA and must conduct its- own reasonable investigation of
the disputed information and report the résults of that investigation to Borrower
within thirty (30) days of receipt of this letter. 15 U.8.0. §§ 1681s- 2(a)(B)(E)(iil)
and 168H(a)(1)(A).

Therefors, and ir an effort to ensure thiat these errors and other concerns are
adequately. and tinely addressed; on behalf of my client; the Borrower, I am
requesting the following information:

1. A complete and itemized statement of the account and loan
history ranging from the date the Loan was exéeuted on Augist 21, 2009, the
Loan Exeeution Date, through the date of this ¢orrespondenoe mcluding, but
not limited to, all reeemtsbywaynfpaymentor otherwise and all charges to
the Losin in whatever form; and the dates of each and every debit and credit
to any accounts related to- this Loan, the nature and purpose of each such
debit and credit, and the name and address of the payee. of any type of
disbursemerit relatéd to these accounts..

2. A complete and itemized statement of all advances or charges
against this Loan, for any purpose, that are not reflected on the loan history

Stubbs & Perdue, P.A.
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PHH Mortgage: Corparaiaon fifa Ocwen Loan Servicing, LLC'
PHH Mextgage Beivices -

December 16, 2019

Pajgc 6 of 11

transaction statexsent provided in responise to the item above.

8. Acomplete and itemized statement of the escrow accounts of the
Loan, if any, from the Loan Esecution Dafe to the dsté of this
carrespondence; including, but not imited to, dny recaipte or disbursements
‘with regpect 1o xsal cdtate Pl'@ﬁrﬁ”axes,ﬁmorhamdmsumnce. flood
insuraneed morfgage. ingirasice, credit mmam or any oflier - msm‘anoe»
product,

4, A complete:copy of the servming file” compiled and maintained
by PHH 8. requiredby 12 C.F.R. § 1024:38(c).

" Gopies of all documentation and information relied mpon by you
in eonﬂuotmg @ veasonable investigation into this matter, as réguived by 12
C.F.R. § 1024 35@)(4)

8, A eomplete angd ‘itemized statement. from the inception of the
Yoan to the:date of this corresponderice of any forcsd-placed ingurance and
expensesrehﬁedthe‘retq.xelatedmanyww‘bothesehm, inchiding bt no
limitéd to, homeowners, flood, hazard, wind, heil and other cesualty
insurance.

7.  Acomplete and itemized statement from the date-of the Loan to
the date of this letter of any suspense ‘aceount entries and/or any- corporate
advance entriesrelaﬁadmanyway tothe Loan.

8 A eomplete and jtémized statement from the Loan Execution
Date to the dste of this correspondence of any propéry inspéction. fees,
property preservation fees, broker opinion. fees. appraml fees, bankruptcy
wonitoring fees, foreclosure foes, attoimeys’ fees, enviro al fees, forced-
placed insurance ebﬁtehndeﬁpaﬂs&a,otnthersﬁnﬂnrfeesorexpensesm]mﬂ
in any way to thess Loan or the Property.

9.  Identify the provision. under the applicable instrument(s),
pocurity agreement(s), mortgage(s), deéd(s) of trust, madior otlier atteridant
Toan document(s) that authorize PHH to charge each and every fee, cost or
expense;. meluding those §n the request: above, against the Loan.

. 10:  All ropies of propexty mspechon reports. and appraisals relating
tothePtoperty semngassacnﬁtyfortheloan,asmoxeparﬁculaﬂy
eacribed in the Deed of Triist.

1. A comz‘sléte_- and fitemized statement, or other - document,

Stubbs & Perdue, P.A.
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PHH Mortgage Corporation ffk/a Ocwen Loan Sexvicing, LLC d/b/a
PHH Mortgage Services
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Page Tof 11

* evidencing any and all arrearages including each month in which the default
occurred; and the amount of each monthly-default for the Loan,

12. A complete and itemized statement, or other document, of any
Mechargeahthelaan&mthelnanExecuEnnDatetothedateoftbm

carrespondence.
13, The amount, if applicable, of eny “satisfaction fees” telated to
the Loan.

14. A complete and itemized staternent. from the Loan Execution
Date to the date of this correspondénce of any fees incurred to modify, extend,
oramendtheLoansorto defer anypamentdue under the terms of the

15 A full and complete wmprehensible deﬁmhonal dicnonary of all

and items requested above

16. A complete and itemized statement of any funds depogited in
any euspension account(s)- or corporate advence account(s) essotiated or
maintained with zespect to the Loan, including, but not limijted to, the
balance in any such acsount or accourts snd the nature, source and date of

anyanda]lﬁmds depesited in such account or accounts,

17. A compléte and itemized statement from the Loan Execution
Date to the dute of this letter of the amount, payment date, purpose .and
recipient of all foreclosure expenses, NSF check charges, Iegal fees, attorney
foes; professional fees and other expenses and costs that have been charged
against or assessed to these Loans.

18. Thefulllegalnamei address (principal business office and
registered agent for semoe of process), end phone number of the current
holder of the Loan, (as including the nauy; address and phone number of any
trustee or other Aduciary). This vequest is being made pursuant to
§ 1641(1)(2) of the Truth In Lending Act (the “TILA"), requiring PHH, as the
sérvicer, to identify the Holder of the Loan.

- 19. The name; sddress and phone number of any master servicers,
servicers, sub-servicers, contingency servicers, back-up servicers or special
servicers for the underlying Loan.

20. .Acopy of any mortgage Pooling and Servicing Agreement and all

Stubbs & Perdue, P.A.
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Page 8of 11

Disclosure Statements provided to any -investors with réspect to any.
mortgage-backed seourity trust ot other special purpose vohigle related to the
Pooling and Servicing Agrooment ag well 45 avg and all améndments and
supplements thereto. If a copy of the Poolig and Serviei) Agreement has
been filed with the Secutities and Excharige | cnmmsmon (the “SEC"), 4 eopy
of SEC: Form: 8k and the Prospectus Supplenient, SEC Form 424b6. The

name,. address. and phone aumber of any Trustee under any Pooling or
Seivicing Agreemsnt velated to this Loax,

21,
eontmgency Rrviin !
with reapectt to this Loan and awount

22. All written lossanitigation rules and wWwork-out procedures
related to any defanlts regarding this Loan.

23, The procedural -manuel used. by PHH amym. ite. subsidiari
agonts, emplojecs or representatives, with respect to the se or gith.
servicing of these Loan. rvicing

24. A summary of all fixed or standard legal fees approved for dny
form of legal servicss rendered in connection with this Loan and account,

. 2B, Ifthis Loan are subject to sny Blectroni 'I’radnngAgreement,
then the full name aid-address of the Eleetrome Agent nndthefunnameand
address of the Mortgage Electronic Régistration System,

26. If this is & MERS Designated Mortgage Loan, then identify the
Electronic Agent (name, addvess &nd contact: Momation) and the type of
mortgage electronic system used by said agent. .

27, If'the servicing of this Loun is provided pursuint to any type of
mortgage electyonic registration system, then attach a copy of the mortgage
electronic registration gystéta procadires manual.

28. A oopy of the LSAMS'I'!ansacﬁonHmlmyReportﬁarthe
mortgage loan. account, ooneapondingtothahan,mthadehdad
description of all transaction, activity and foe eodes,

29 If this Loan are part-of a “mortgage warehouse loan," then state
the full name and addiess of the lender and attach a copy of the Warehouse
Loan Agreement and state if; upon any default or notice. of default, whether
or not the Mortgage Warehouse Lender has the right to override any

Stubbs & Perdue, P.A.
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PHH Mortgage Services
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Page-9of 11

servicers or sub-gérvicers and provide instructions divectly to the Electronic
Agent and specifically identify the legal basis for such authority.

If PHH has _p_lae_ed or ordered any fotced-plaoed msuranoe

ofench polwy ordered orplaced on the Property as. ‘well ag the following
information with respect to-each pelicy identified: (i) the price; (i) the agent;
(iii) why' each policy was placed on. the Property; (iv) an explanation of how
such policies are beneficial to my client; (v) how such policies are protective of
the Property;.(vi) wbether any forced-placed insurance foes been agsessed,
charged, and/or collected: to the Loan or any escrow account thereunder; (vii)
what provisions in the Note, the Deed of Trust or any agreement executed
that allow, permit, proaeribe, of provide thé basis for the assessment,
charging, or collection of fess for fotoedeplaoed insugdnce fees, costs and

expenses-against the Loan.

Puisuant to N.C. Gén. Stat. § 45-86,7, my chent also requests the following
additional information relating to the Loan and the Propexty:

1.  An exact reproduction of the lfé of loan mortgage transactional
history Tor this Ioan on the system of record used by the servicer from August
21, 2009, to your réceipt of this request.?

2.  Please provide proof of proper crediting and application of all
payments dinte execution of the Loan, to interest; principal and escyow in
that ordsr of application es required by the applicable law (both state and
federal), the ¢ovenants of the applicable sécurity instruments, including the
Deed of Trust, and the provisions of the Loan.

8.  Identify and biiefly destribe all loss mitigation operations that
wei'e-available to my client from the owner or assignee of the Loax from 2009
until receipt of this request and foi each loss mitigation application that you
received during the applicible périod, identify:

a. The date it was received;

2 For pirporés of identification, thie life of loan transations] history means any soffware program or
gyetens by which the servicer-records the current mortgage balance, the xeceipt of all paymeits, the

, asammentofanylatefeeéorchm!ges andthewoordmgofanyeorporatendvmeesﬁormfeeaot
ehareeaincludmg.butnutlimtedto.pr#pertyiupecﬁonfwo.bmkamopmmim.hpl
escrow Tees, processing fees, techriology fess or any -other callsteral charge. To the extent thatﬂus
transactional history includes numerio or-alpha-numeric codes, pléase attach a complete list of all
enchwduandstatamphmﬁnghahashortdesuipmfneadmode which is aléo being requested
purimant t6 N.C. Gen. Stat. § 46-93(d).

‘Stubbs & Perdue, P:A.
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b. The date you sent my client an acknowledgement of recoipt of
the application;

e. The date you detérmined it.was complete;

d. A deseription of your evaluation of it, including you

‘detertnination of which loss. mitigation options were or were
‘not offered to my: chent

‘ 4. A copyof statements or bills for sétvices submitted atd paid by
PHH and/or its: subsidiaries, agents, assignees and related entities, to any
attorney, Liw fvin orthird-party for any forni of Jognl services renderedl after
the Lawsuit that was applied or charged to the Loan.

6.  The full name, address and telephone number of the current
‘owner of the Loan, including the holdér of the Note 4nd the beneficiary under
the Deed of Trust. I owned by a trust, please provide ths nenie, dddress
(both ‘the principal business dddiess and the registered agent for service of
process) and phone number of sny trustec under trist.or. othet fidiiciay,
pursuant fo N.C. Gen. Stat. § 46-93(1).

Please he advised that: Pm must acknowledge receipt of this request pureuant to
12 U S.G § '2605(6)(1)(A), Reg. X § 8600.21(e)(1), anid Chapter 46 of the Noith
Carolina Generdl Statutes, Pledse provide doctmients requested and a detsiled
answerto eaqhqueshonmtmnthehme&amemqmedbyRESPA and Chapter 45
of the North Carolina Statutes. Upon receipt of your response, an -audit will be
conducted that may lead to a furthes request under any additional comsnondenee
Or requests.

Additionally, plesse be advised.that my clisnt will seek the recovery of monstary
damages,costs. mdreasmbielsgalfeeéﬁotanyfadurebme{tohmelymd
accurately véspond to, or otherwise comply with. the requests made herein, or to
otherw:se faﬂwmmplymth thé terms. of the Loan and Deed of Trust, as modified
by-the D; 0. Borrower, likewiss, reserves the #ight to-seek statutory damages
and msulfmg attorneys’ fees and-expenses: for- each violation of any part of 12
13.8:C. § 2605-and Chiapter 45 of the North Carolina Genéral Statutés, the Code-of
Federal Regulations, the United States Code, and applicabla North Carolina law.

Your prompt attennon to- this matter is greatly: appreciatéd. ‘If you have. any
«questions regarding the foregoing, fpleaae don’t hesitate to let-me know. _

Stubbs & Perdue, P.A.
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Sincerely,

Landon G. Van Winlte; Esq.

Enclosures

cc:  Mark Anthony Guthrie (via e-mail delivery only)

Stubbs & Perdue, P.A.
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New Bern Office

Lawde B. Biggs i
Blake Y. Bojene A 310 Ceifven Sreeez
Marshew . Buckller S) N ryia
Joecph'Z. Froet t NewBern, Nerth Ceroling 28563
Patrick D, Holes
Jotin 0. King. fr. STUBBS PERDUE Teléphoris (252) 6332700
Willtern H, Keoll ATTORMEYS AT LAW Fassimle (252) 339600
Trwwick H. Stiibbs, Jr:
Landon G, Van Winkls ,
9208 Falls 6f Nets< Road Sulse 201
Gary R. Perdye “Ralsigh, Nerth Caralina 27615
(1947 - 1997) Teegho I BIES
Faslinfle (919) 8706259
January 8, 2020
PHH Mortgage Services PHH Mortgage Cotpotaﬁon dfv/a PHH
Poat: Office Box 66002 ~ Mortgage Services
Lawrenceville, New Jersey 08648  Attn: Corpotation Service Go. — Reg, Agent
2626 Glenwood Avenue, Suita 550

Raleigh, North Carolina 27608

BE: Second Notification that Borrower is Represented by Coungel;
Instruction fo Cease Communicating: Directly with Borrower in
Violagtion of the Fair Debt Collection Practlees Act, 15. U.S.C.
§ 169 et seqp

Déar sir or madain:

As you have been.made aware, by correspondence. dated December i6, 2019 and
received at your offices on Decembier 20, 2019, myself and ‘my law firm, Stubbs &
Perdue, P.A. (the *Firm") represent MARK ANTHONY GUTHRIE (the "B,gmgg")
in connection with the mortgage Isan, Loan No. e “Logn”). which,
upon, infermation and belief, is held by ALLY BANK fk/a GMAC BANK {FBMAC)
and serviced by PHH MORTGAGE CORPORATION f/k/a DCWEN LOAN
SERVICING, LLG db/a PHH MORTGAGE SERVICES ("BHH"), which is secured
by real property having a physical address. of 401 Joy Court, Jacksénville, North

Cayolina 28540 (the “Property”).

As submitted in our prior correspondence to your offices, please find encloged a
otter Evidencing Legal Authority of Attornsy to Act on Behalf of Client (the
"mt’hg_mggg”), which confirms that the ¥irm represents the Borrower in this
mattef. Notwithstanding PHH's actual notice of the Authorization, it nevertheless,
and inexplicably, remitted correspondence to Borrower datéd Decomber 80, 2019,
which appea¥s to be a payoff statement generated in connection with the Loan.

Case 7:20-cv-00043-80 EnXidBITrt 3106120 Page PGS 106



PHH Mortgage Corporation fk/a Ocweén Loan Servicing, LLC d/b/a
PHH Mortgage Services

January 8, 2020

Page 20f2

You are hereby adviged, for the second time, that this Firm represents Borrower in -
connection with this matter, Accordingly, please refrain from contacting
Borrower directly for any purpose whatsoever, and instead direct all such
tommunicationg and corresponidence to my offices.

Please be. advised that further direct communications with Borrower
without his consent, and thh the actual knowledge that Borrower is
represented by this Firm, is # violation of the Fair Debt Collection
Practices Act, 15 U.S.C. § 1692 et seq; {the
CPA™), including; but not necessarily limited to, 16. U:8.C; §. 1692¢(a)(2),
as well as the North Carolina Debt Tollection Act, N,C. Gen. Stat.'§ 75-50 et
geq. (the “NCDCA”), including, but. not necéssarily limited to, N,C, Gen.
Stat. §76-56(3), and that Borrower expressly reserves the right to seek
appropriate judicial relief for all such past and future, vwlatmns of the
FDCPA, the NCDCA, and other npplwable Iaw,

Your prompt attention to. this matter is greatly appreciated, If you have any
questions regarding the foreguing, please don't hesitate to let me know.

Sincerely,

Landon &, Van Winkle, Esq.

Enclosures

cc:  Mark Anthony Guthrie (via ¢-mail delivery only)

Stibbs & Perdue, P.A.
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W Attach this card to the back of the mailplece,
or on the front if space permhs.
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G Neutral

As of: January 28,2020 8:11 PM Z

Daugherty v. Ocwen Loan Servicing, LLC
United States District Court for the Southern District of West Virginia, Beckley Division
October 12, 2016, Decided; October 12, 2016, Filed
CIVIL ACTION NO. 5:14-cv-24506

Reporter
2016 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 159586 *

DAVID M. DAUGHERTY, Plaintiff, v. OCWEN
LOAN SERVICING, LLC, Defendant.

Prior History: Daugherty: v. Equifax Info. Servs.,
LLC, 2015 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 144679 (S.D. W. Va.

Oct. 26, 2015)

Core Terms ,

remittitur, punitive damages, award of punitive
damages, reprehensibility, ratio, compensatory
damages, willful violation, emotional distress,
present evidence, physical injury

Counsel: [*1] For David M. Daugherty, Plaintiff:
Christopher B. Frost, Jed Robert Nolan, Ralph C.
Young, Steven R. Broadwater, Jr., LEAD
ATTORNEYS, HAMILTON BURGESS YOUNG
& POLLARD, Fayetteville, WV; Sarah K. Brown,
LEAD ATTORNEY, MOUNTAIN STATE
JUSTICE, INC., Charleston, WV.

For Ocwen Loan Servicing, LLC, Defendant: Jason
E. Manning, John C. Lynch, LEAD ATTORNEYS,
Jonathan M. Kenney, TROUTMAN SANDERS,
Virginia Beach, VA.

Judges: IRENE C. BERGER, UNITED STATES
DISTRICT JUGDE.

Opinion by: IRENE C. BERGER

Opinion

MEMORANDUM OPINION AND ORDER

The Court has reviewed the Defendant Ocwen Loan
Servicing, LLC's Motion for Remittitur (Document
219) and Memorandum in Support (Document
220), the- Plaintiff's Response in Opposition to
Defendant's Motion for Remittitur (Document 227),
the Reply Memorandum in Support of Defendant
Ocwen Loan Servicing, LLC's Motion for
Remittitur (Document 232), and all attached
exhibits. For the reasons set forth herein, the Court
finds that the motion should be denied.

PROCEDURAL HISTORY

The Plaintiff initiated the present action with the
filing of a Complaint on June 8, 2014, in the Circuit
Court of Raleigh County, West Virginia. The
Plaintiff named Equifax Information Services, LLC
("Equifax") and Ocwen Loan [*2] Servicing, LLC
("Ocwen") as Defendants, asserting that when the
Plaintiff sought to refinance a mortgage loan,

Case 7:20-cv-00043-80 Xk BI Tri@tbsiosi20 Page FagRA312
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2016 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 169586, *2

currently serviced by Ocwen, false or misleading
statements on his credit report attributable to both
Defendants prevented him from doing so. The
Plaintiff asserted a number of claims against the
Defendants, including violation of Section 1681s-
206)(1)(4) of the Fair Credit Reporting Act
("FRCA"), 15 US.C. §1681s-2 A), unlawful
debt collection practices under West Virginia Code

464-2-127(d), and various claims arising under
West Virginia common law, including negligence
and the tort of outrage. The Plaintiff also requested
that the court exercise equitable power to prevent
foreclosure of his property, invoking the common
law doctrine that equity abhors a forfeiture.

On August 7, 2014, the case was removed fo the
United States District Court for the Southern
District of West Virginia. Ocwen filed its Answer
to the Plaintiffs complaint on August 8, 2014,
Ocwen denied any unlawful conduct and all claims
of liability. On July 8, 2015, counsel for the
Plaintiff notified the Court by letter that all claims
against Defendant Equifax had been settled. On
September 11, 2015, Ocwen moved for summary
judgment on all claims raised by the Plaintiff. On
October [*3] 26, 2015, the Court entered a
Memorandum Opinion and Order, granting
summary judgment. for the Defendant on the
Plaintiff's state law claims, but denying summary
judgment on the Plaintiff's claims under the FCRA.
The Plaintiff agreed to voluntarily dlsmlss his
claims for state law negligence.

Trial began on May 16, 2016, and concluded on
May 23, 2016. At the conclusion of the evidence,
Ocwen moved for judgment as a matter of law. The
Court denied the motion, and the case proceeded to
the jury. (See May 19, 2016 Transcr., at 111:2-
114:15) (Document 206). The jury returned a
verdict finding Ocwen liable for willfully violating
the FCRA, and awarding damages of six thousand,
one hundred twenty-eight dollars and thirty-nine
cents ($6,128.39) and punitive damages of two
million, five bundred thousand dollars
($2,500,000). Ocwen filed the present motion on
June 24, 2016. The Plaintiff filed his response on

July 11, 2016, and Ocwen's reply was filed on July
21, 2016. The motion is ripe for review.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

There is no specific provision for remittitur under
the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure, but it is well
established in the Fourth Circuit that a "remittitur
should be ordered when [*4] a jury award will
result in a miscarriage of justice." Hughston v. New
Home Media, 552 F.Supp.2d 559, 564 (E.D.Va.
2008), quoting Bennett v. Fairfax County. 432

F.Supp.2d 596 599 (E.D. Va_-2006) (citations

omitted). The decision as to whether a damage
award is excessive and should be set aside is
"entrusted to the sound discretion of the trial co

Robles v. Prince George's County. Maryland, 302

F.3d 262, 271 (4th Cir. 2002).

The Supreme Court has held that punitive damages
may be imposed by a jury to "further ‘legitimate
interests in punishing unlawful conduct and
deterring its repetition." Saunders_ v. Branch
Banking and Trust Co. of Va., 526 F.3d 142, 152
(4th Cir. 2008), quoting BWM of N. Am.. Inc. v.
Gore, 517 US. 359, 368, 116 S. Ct. 1589, 134 L.
Ed. 2d 809 .(1996). Federal law does not establish a
bright line, permissible ratio for punitive and
compensatory damages. Stafe Farm Mut. Auto Ins.
v. Campbell, 538 US. 408,416, 123 S, Ct. 1513,

155 L. Ed 2d 585 (2003). However, the Supreme

Court has indicated that there are "procedural and
substantive” limitations on a punitive damages
award. Id. (citations omitted). In the context of
willful violations of the FCRA, the Fourth Circuit
has upheld jury verdicts where the ratio of punitive
to compensatory damages was 80:1. See Saunders
v. Bianch Banking and Trust Co. of Va., 526 F.3d

142 (4th Cir. 2008) (Saunders II). The Fourth
Circuit has instructed district courts, when
reviewing an award of punitive damages on motion
for remittitur, to look to "(1) the degree of
reprehensibility of the defendant's misconduct; (2)
the disparity between the actual or potential harm
suffered by the plaintiff and the punitive damages
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award; and (3) the difference between the punitive
damages [*5] awarded by the jury and the civil
penalties ... in comparable cases.” Saunders II, 526
F.3dat 152.

DISCUSSION

Ocwen requests that the Court remit the punitive
damages award because (1) its conduct was not
reprehensible; (2) it did not repeatedly violate the
FCRA; (3) there . was no evidence that Ocwen
deployed - malice, trickery, or deceit; and (4)
because the "disparity between the actual harm
suffered and the punitive damages award" requires
remittitur. (Def.'s Mem. of Law in Supp. of Mot.
for Remittitur, at 3-7.) The first' three arguments
can all be grouped under the "reprchensibility”
analysis set forth by the Supreme Court in State
Farm._State Farm. 538 US. at 419, citing Gore,
517 US. at 576-77. The final argument falls within
the second prong ‘e of the State Farm analysis, which
addresses the disparity between compensatory and
punitive damages. For the reasons that follow, the
Defendant's arguments fail.

Ocwen argues that the punitive damages award
should be reduced or stricken because its conduct
was not "malicious," did not "cause physical harm,"
or "endanger the health and safety of others."
(Def.'s Mem. of Law in Supp. of Mot. for
Remittitur, at 3.) In assessing reprehensibility, there
are four factors courts will generally consider:

~ whether (1) the harm caused was physical [*6]

as opposed to economic; (2) the tortious
conduct evinced an indifference to or a reckless
disregard of the health or safety of others; (3)
the target of the conduct has financial
vulnerability; (4) the conduct involved repeated
actions or was an isolated incident; and (5) the
harm was the result of intentional malice,
trickery, or deceit, or mere accident.

State Farm, 538 U.S. at 419, citing Gore, 517 U.S.
at 576-77.

Ocwen argues first that the Plaintiff in this case did
not suffer physical injury, and that while the jury

did find that the Plaintiff suffered emotional

distress, that is insufficient to satisfy "physical
injury" under State Farm. (Def.'s Mem. of Law in
Supp. of Mot. for Remittitur, at 4.) Further, Ocwen
argues that its tortious conduct did not demonstrate

‘reckless disregard for the safety of others. (/d. at 4-

5.) In making this argument, Ocwen relies heavily

upon Bach v. First Union Nat. Bank, 149 Fed Apps.
354 (6th Cir. 2005), an unpublished decision from

the Sixth Circuit that predates Saunders II, wherein

the Sixth Circuit found that emotional distress was
"not the sort of physical injury" contemplated by
State Farm. Bach; 149 Fed.Appx. at **9. Notably,
the Sixth Circuit cited no precedent to support this
conclusion. Bach is an unpublished decision
without persuasive value which does not reflect the
law of the Fourth [*7] Circuit regarding emotional
distress. The trial court in Saunders II discussed
Bach at length, and -indicated that the "reasoning
appears to be soundly applicable to FCRA cases
where both compensatory and punitive damages
have been awarded." . Saunders. v. Equifax
Information Services, LLC.. 469 F.Supp.2d 343

© 353 (E.D. Va. 2007) (Saunders I). However,

Saunders 1 did not involve evidence of emotional
distress, and the Fourth Circuit did not expressly
adopt the trial court's view of Bach in affirming the
decision. See generally Saunders II. 526 F.3d at
142-153. To the contrary, the Fourth Circuit has
never held that in the context of the FCRA, or in
the context of punitive damages, emotional distress
is insufficient to satisfy the physical injury prong of
State Farm. At trial, the Plaintiff testified at length
about the emotional toll that Ocwen's conduct
inflicted upon him, and his wife corroborated that
testimony. The jury clearly accepted this testimony,
at least in part, by finding that the Defendant had
willfully violated the FCRA, and awarded
compensatory and punitive damages. The Court
finds that this counsels agamst remittitur of the
punitive damages award.

Even if the Court were to agree with Ocwen
regarding the Sixth Circuit's holding in Bach, and
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the absence of physical injury in this case, [*8]
Ocwen's request for remittitur would still fail. The
Fourth Circuit noted, in Saunders II, that FCRA
violations will "very infrequently cause physical
harm or endanger the health and safety of others.”
However, the Fourth Circuit also noted that
"Congress nevertheless authorized punitive
damages" for willful violations of the FCRA, and
therefore, held that "the absence of [the first and
second factors of the State Farm analysis]" did not
"weigh strongly" against an award of punitive
damages. Saunders II. 526 F.3d at 153. Therefore,
even if physical injury were absent in this case, that
would not provide meaningful support for Ocwen's
remittitur request.

The third Srtate Farm factor,
vulnerability of the Plaintiff, was clearly present in
this case, and Ocwen does not dispute this
conclusion. (See Def.'s Mem. in Supp. of Mot. for
Remittitur, at 6.) The Plaintiff faced a balloon
payment on his mortgage, and testified that because
of inaccurate entries on his credit report, and a
credit score tarnished, in part, by inaccurate reports
of a-foreclosure that Ocwen failed to reasonably
investigate and rectify, he was unable to obtain
refinancing for an extended period of time.
Therefore, the Court will [*9] proceed to the fourth
factor, and determine whether Ocwen engaged in
the type of "repeated actions" contemplated by
State Farm. Ocwen again invokes Bach I to argue
that it did not engage in repetitive misconduct,
noting the Sixth Circuit's finding that State Farm
required eviderice of a "nationwide ' pattern of
tortious conduct.” Bach I.. 149 Fed Appx. at 363,
citing Gore, 517 US. at 576-77. Ocwen
misconstrues Gore. The Plaintiff attempted to
establish reprehensibility in Gore by arguing that
the Defendant's conduct was "part of a nationwide
pattern of tortious conduct." The Supreme Court
rejected that contention, and certainly did nof hold
that the reprehensibility analysis requires such a
nationwide pattern. Gore, 517 U.S. at 560. In this
case, the Plaintiff presented evidence that Ocwen
repeatedly failed to reasonably investigate his credit
disputes, and presented evidence to establish that

the financial -

Ocwen's conduct was willful.  The Plaintiff
presented evidence showing that Ocwen gave only
cursory attention to the many disputes that were
submitted regarding his credit history and an
inaccurate foreclosure entry. The jury found that
Ocwen had willfully violated the FCRA, and it is
reasonable to infer that the jury determined, in
reaching a punitive damages verdict, [¥10] that
Ocwen would not change its behavior absent the
imposition of significant punitive damages. The
Court, therefore, finds that this factor weighs
against remittitur. The Court also notes that in
reaching its verdict, the jury necessarily rejected
Ocwen's arguments that it complied with the

- requirements of the FCRA. Saunders II supports

this conclusion. In Saunders II, the Fourth Circuit
did not find that the defendant engaged in repeated
violations of the FCRA, but nonetheless found that
the defendant's "intentional misconduct and
longstanding refusal to correct its errors [were]
more reprehensible than negligence or a mistake
quickly corrected.” Saunders II, 526 F.3d at 153.
This conclusion is equally applicable here. Even if
Ocwen had not engaged in repeated misconduct,
the jury found that Ocwen willfully violated the
FCRA, and the Plaintiff presented evidence at trial
showing that Ocwen - repeatedly refused to
reasonably investigate the Plaintiff's credit disputes.

As to the fifth State Farm factor, the Court agrees
with Ocwen that the Plaintiff did not establish
malice, deceit, or trickery. However, this alone is
not enough to support remittitur. While there is no
evidence  that  Ocwen's conduct - was
malicious [*11] or deceitful, the Plaintiff presented
evidence that Ocwen repeatedly refused to comply
with its statutory duty under the FCRA to
reasonably investigate-credit disputes, despite the
fact that the Plaintiff was clearly financially
vulnerable. The Plaintiff presented evidence that
Ocwen's conduct resulted in significant emotional
distress, and the jury ultimately found that Ocwen
willfully violated the FCRA, and therefore imposed
punitive damages. Under these facts, Ocwen's
conduct was sufficiently reprehensible that State
Farm does not dictate granting Ocwen's request for
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remittitur.

This brings the Court to the question of whether the

punitive damages verdict should be remitted based’

on the disparity between punitive and
compensatory damages. The jury awarded
compensatory damages of $6,128.39, and punitive
damages of $2,500,000, for a ratio of
approximately 408:1. Ocwen argues that this ratio
alone should form the basis for remittitur. The
Court cannot agree, and again, finds support in
Saunders II. In Saunders II, the Fourth Circuit
declined to remit a jury verdict where the ratio of
punitive damages to compensatory damages was
80:1, noting that while "[pJunitive damages awards
that exceed a [*12] single digit ratio” may present
"constitutional problems,” the Supreme Court, in
State Farm, recognized that "greater ratios may
comport with due process ... when "reprehensible
conduct results 'in only a small amount of
economic damages." Seunders II, 526 F.3d at 154,
quoting State Farm, 538 U.S. at 425. The Fourth
Circuit also reviewed a number of FCRA cases, and
declined to "conclude that an award [of punitive
damages 80 times larger than the compensatory
damages was] grossly excessive or arbitrary. Id.

Here, while the jury verdict did not include any
economic damages, the jury awarded a relatively
modest amount of total compensatory damages.
The jury then imposed a significant punitive
damages sanction, presumably to deter Ocwen from
placing future homeowners in a similar
predicament. As the - Fourth Circuit noted in
Saunders I, other circuits have permitted punitive-
compensatory ratios of up to 2173:1. See Id_at 153
citing Kemp v. Am. Tel. & Tel. Co., 393 F.3d 1354,
1364-65 (11th Cir. 2004) (allowing punitive
damages award of $250,000 accompanying
compensatory damages-of $115.05); 4bner v. Kan.
Citv 8. RR., 513 F.3d 154, 165 (Sth Cir. 2008)
(affirming punitive damages award of $125,000
accompanying nominal damages of $1.) Thus,
restricting a punitive damages verdict to a single
digit ratio would not, in the words of the Saunders
II court, "serve as a meaningful deterrent” [*13] to

Ocwen's reprehensible conduct. The jury was
instructed that it could consider a number of factors
in determining whether to award and what amount
of punitive damages to award. These factors
included the Defendant's financial status. The jury's
punitive damages verdict in this case comports with
the due process clause, fits squarely within the
Fourth Circuit's holding in Saunders II, and is a
legally appropriate sanction for a jury to impose, in
light of Ocwen's willful violations of the FCRA.
Therefore, Ocwen's motion for remittitur must fail.

CONCLUSION

Wherefore, after careful consideration, the Court
ORDERS that the Defendant Ocwen ILoan
Servicing, LLC's Motion for Remittitur (Document
219) be DENIED.

The Court DIRECTS the Clerk to send a copy of
this Order to counsel of record and to any
unrepresented party.

ENTER: October 12, 2016

/s/ Irene C. Berger

IRENE C. BERGER

UNITED STATES DISTRICT JUGDE
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF WEST VIRGINIA

End of l)ocumeni
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Opinion

ORDER

Before this court is an appeal by creditor-appellant
Ocwen Loan Servicing, LLC ("Ocwen") from the 7
July 2010 order of United States Bankruptcy Judge
Stephani Humrickhouse. In that order, Judge
Humrickhouse found Ocwen in contempt of the
discharge injunction and the bankruptcy court's 23
May 2008 order. For the reasons set forth below,
the bankruptcy court's decision is affirmed.

I. BACKGROUND !

On 26 October 2004, debtors filed a chapter 13
petition. (DE #2-1.) By order dated 25 April 2008,
the bankruptcy court granted debtors discharge.
(DE #3-2.) On 29 April 2008, debtors filed a
motion for a declaration that they were current on
their residential mortgage payments to Ocwen, their
mortgage servicer. (DE #3-1.) Ocwen did not
respond [*2] to the motion. On 23 May 2008, the
bankruptcy court issued an order declaring debtors'

IThe facts are taken primarily from the bankruptcy court's 7 July
2010 order. Where appropriate, the court cites to the record on
appeal, by docket entry ("DE # ).
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indebtedness to Ocwen current and providing that
any attempt to collect the "discharged principal
payments, interest, fees or expenses . . .
deemed to be a willful violation of the discharge
injunction. and contempt of the orders of this Court;
and that such action shall give the right to the
Debtors to pursue a proceeding before this Court
for contempt and appropriate sanctions." (DE #1-

1)
In the summer of 2008, debtors sought to refinance

their mortgage, but were furned down after Ocwen

transmitted an inaccurate payoff statement and loan
history to the proposed new lender. Ocwen's
documents reported that the loan on debtors'
residence was in foreclosure, even though the loan
has never been in foreclosure. Debtors, individually
and through their attorney, repeatedly notified
Ocwen of this etror, but Ocwen failed to rectify its
mistake. Debtors filed motions to reopen their
bankruptcy case and to show cause why Ocwen
should not be held in contempt on 12 September
2008. (DE #3-5, 3-6.) The bankruptcy court
allowed the motion to reopen. (DE #3-7.) Ocwen
subsequently filed a brief response to [*3] the
show cause motion, requesting that the "matter be
set for hearing while it investigates the claims made
by. the Debtors." (DE #4-1.) The bankruptcy court
set the matter for hearing in-November 2008;
however, the hearing was continued a number of
times on the parties' representations that they were
attempting to resolve the matter without court
intervention. (See DE ##4-3 to 4-13.) The
bankruptcy court ultimately held the show cause
hearing in May 2010. At the hearing's conclusion,
the court found Ocwen in contempt of the discharge
injunction 2 and its 23 May 2008 order and took the
" jssue of damages under advisement. (DE #1-2.)

' On 7 July 2010, the bankruptcy court issued a
written order memorializing its finding Ocwen in

2 A discharge in bankruptcy "operates as an injunction against the
commencement or continuation of an action, the employment of
process, or an act, to collect, recover or offset any such [discharged]
debt as a personal liability of the debtor, whether or not discharge of
such debt is waived.” 11 U.S.C. § 524(a)(2).

shall be .

contempt and assessing compensatory damages in
the amount of $2500, plus attorneys' fees of $2250.
(Id.) The court lowered the mortgage's interest rate
to [*4] 6%, which it determined was a reasonable
market rate for the period after the 23 May 2008
order. (Id.) Applying the modified interest rate, the
court set the balance owing on the mortgage as of 1
July 2010 at $65,373.12. (Id.) Additionally, the

. court imposed punitive damages in the amount of

$66,300, representing $100 per day from 12
September 2008, the date on which Ocwen was
served with debtors' motion to show cause, until the
date of entry of the contempt order. (Id.)

II. DISCUSSION
The court reviews the bankruptcy court's findings

of fact for clear error and its legal conclusions de
novo. See In re Meredith. 527 F.3d 372, 375 (4th

Cir. 2008). A court reviewing an order of civil

contempt applies the abuse of discretion standard.
JIH Tax, Inc. v. H & R Block Eastern Tax Servcs.,
Inc 359 F.3d 699, 705 {4th Cir. 2004).

Ocwen contends that Judge Humrickhouse erred in
a number of respects. It argues that (1) the
bankruptey court lacked the authority to modify the
terms of debtors' residential mortgage; (2) the
bankruptcy court lacked the authority to order a
contempt sanction for violations of the discharge
injunction; (3) the punitive damages award
constitutes an impermissible criminal
[*5] contempt sanction; and (4) the amount of the
punitive damages award is constitutionally
excessive. (Appellant's Br. at 2-4.) The court
addresses these arguments in turn.

A. Residential I.oan Modification Exception

Ocwen first contends that the bankruptcy court is
prohibited from modifying terms of debtors'
mortgage pursuant to 11 USC._ § 1322(h)(2).
Under that statute, "[a] debtor's Chapter 13 plan
may 'modify the rights of holders of secured claims,
other than a claim secured omly by a security
interest in real property that is the debtor's
principal residence." In re Ennis, 558 F.3d 343.
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345 (4th Cir. 2009) (quoting 11 USC. §

Inre Litton, 330 F.3d 636. 643-44 (4th Cir. 2003).

1322(b)(2)) (emphasis added). The statute's
mortgage anti-modification clause was enacted "to
encourage the flow of capital into the home lending
matket." Nobelman v. American.Sav. Bank, 508
US. 324, 332, 113 S, Ct. 2106. 124 L. Ed. 2d 228
(1993) (Stevens, J., concurring).

In examining what constitutes impermissible
modification of a residential mortgage under §
1322(b)(2), the Fourth Circuit explains:

The bankruptcy courts have consistently
interpreted the no-modification provision of §
1322(b)(2) to prohibit any fundamental
alteration in a debtor's obligations, e.g.,
. lowering monthly payments, '[*6] converting a
variable interest rate to a fixed interest rate, or
extending the repayment term of a note. See,
e.g., InveSchum, 112 BR. 159, 161-62 (Bankr.
N.D. Tex. 1990) (concluding that plan -was
impermissible modification because it proposed
to reduce monthly payments and secured
valuation). In Jnn.re Gwinn, 34 B.R. 936, 944-45
(Bankr. S.D. Ohio 1983), the court approved a
plan as a permissible cure under § 1322(0)(5),
because the plan did not propose to lower
monthly payments, extend the repayment
period, or make the obligation conditional. It
instead sought only to reinstate the original
contract with a minor delay in payment. Jd.; see
also In re Cooper, 98 B.R. 294 {(Bankr. W.D.
Mich.  1989) (finding  impermissible
modification where plan proposed new
payment schedule). Along similar lines,
another bankruptcy court concluded that
confirmation of a Chapter 13 plan would have
constituted "an impermissible modification
because the plan proposed to alter fundamental
aspects of the debtor's obligations, i.c., the
nature and rate of interest, and the maturity
features of the loan. [n re Coffey. 52 B.R. 54,
55 (Bankr. D.N.H. 1985). As these decisions
have emphasized, § 1322(b)(2) prohibits

[*7] modifications that would alter at least one
fundamental aspect of a claim.

Significant here is § 1322(b)(2)'s prohibition
against a plan that modifies a fundamental aspect of
a residential mortgage creditor's secured claim. The
bankruptcy court confirmed debtors' Chapter 13
plan on 14 March 2005. (DE #2-3.) No one
contends that the confirmed plan modified debtors'
obligations to Ocwen. As such, no violation of §

1322()(2) has occurred.

Ocwen's argument suggests that the bankruptcy

court can never modify a debtor's residential

mortgage, even where the creditor has violated the

Bankruptcy Code or a court order, to the detriment

of a debtor. Such a result is contrary to the plain

language of § 1322(h)(2) and the "fresh start" that
the Bankruptcy Code envisions a debtor receives
upon emerging from bankruptcy. In analyzing

whether § 1322(h)(2) forecloses a Chapter 13
debtors' claim against the mortgage lender for

allegedly attempting to collect fees and costs post-

discharge, another bankruptcy court's observations

are particularly instructive:

Essentially, [the mortgage lender] reads too
much into § 1322(b)(2). Section 1322(b)(2)
prevents [*8]a chapter 13 plan from
modifying a mortgage lender's contract rights.
A chapter 13 debtor may not modify principal
or interest payments or discharge fees and
“expenses allowed by the mortgage contract.
But § 1322(b)(2)'s protections do not place
mortgage lenders outside the court's purview. -

Section _1322(b)(2) prevents a plan from
modifying a mortgage lender's substantive
contract rights, but § 1322(5)(2) does not allow -
a mortgage lender to ignore the procedural
limits imposed by the Bankruptcy Code and
Rules that govern how those rights are
exercised. A mortgage lender must exercise its
contract rights in the manner -allowed by the
Bankruptcy Code, Bankruptcy Rules, and court
orders. Bamkruptcy Rule 2016 requires
mortgage lenders to disclose any fees and costs
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the mortgage lender intends to collect from the
debtor. Enforcement of Rule 2016 is necessary
to enforce the rights and obligations imposed
by specific Code provisions. Failure to enforce
Bankruptcy Code and Rule requirements. would
allow mortgage lenders to deny debtors the
promised fresh start, despite their diligent
compliance with all that the Code and the court -
asked of them.

In.re Cano, 410 B.R. 506, 521 (Bankr. S.D. Tex.
2009). A :

. :
Here, [*9] the bankruptcy court's modifications of
the subject mortgage constitute contempt sanctions,
assessed independently of debtors' plan. The court
modified the mortgage as a result of Ocwen's
violation of the discharge injunction and the court's
order and to thereby compensate debtors for losses
incurred. A modification of a residential mortgage
under these circumstances is not subject to any
limitations imposed by § 1322(5)(2).3

B. Sanctions Under Section 105

Ocwen next argues that the bankruptcy court did
not have the authority under 11 US.C. § 105 to
impose sanctions under the circumstances here.
This statute empowers the bankruptcy court to hold
parties in civil contempt for violating the

3Tn a footnote, Ocwen asserts that there is no factual basis for the
bankruptcy court's determination thet 6% is a reasonable market rate
debtors could have obtained had they refinanced in 2008.
(Appellant's Br. at 9 n.4.) At the hearing on the motion to show
cause, as possible sanctions against Ocwen, debtors' counsel
suggested a modified interest rate on the subject mortgage of 6%
through 2008, of 5.5% for the first six months in 2009, and 5%
thereafter. (DE #11 at 13.) When the court subsequently questioned
Ocwen's counsel about this "creative solution,” Ocwen's counsel
pointed out that 5% is below the current market rate. (Id. at 24.) She
ackm)Wledged "six percent through 2008 is most probably accurate.
As is the 5.5 percent for 2009." (Id. at 25.) She stated [*10] the
current market rate, for creditors with "pristine credit,” is "right
around 545 to 5.5 percent.” (Id) The bankruptcy court's
determination that 6% was an appropriate interest rate by which to
sanction Ocwen was not an abuse of discretion (or clearly erroneous,
if one characterizes the determination of the interest rate a finding of
fact).

Bankruptcy Code as well as its orders. See I/
US.C. § 105(a) ("The court may issue any order,
process, or judgment that is necessary or
appropriate to carry out the provisions of this
title."); In re Walters, 868 F.2d 663, 669 (4th Cir.
1989). While recognizing that the bankruptcy court
possesses such authority, Ocwen contends a
predicate violation of neither the Bankruptcy Code
nor a court order occurred here. (Appellant's Br. at
2-3, 10-11.) Specifically, Ocwen claims that its
"mere delay” in updating its accounts to reflect the
discharge does not constitute an act to collect,
[*11] recover or offset a discharged debt in
violation of the discharge injunction nor an attempt
to collect the discharged principal payments,
interest, fees, or expenses in violation of the court's
23 May 2008 order.

Ocwen points to many cases which recognize that a
creditor's reporting of inaccurate credit information
about. the debtor, without evidence of intent to
coerce payment of the discharged debt, does not
violate the discharge injunction. Another
bankruptcy court summarizes the law in this regard.

[Clourts have frequently held that acts which
by their nature constitute efforts to collect
discharged debts— such as filing suit against the
debtor, sending dunning notices, or attaching
the debtor's property— are. not excused simply
because they were mistakenly pursued.
However, a distinction must be made between
acts which have as their direct and. natural
purpose the collection of debts and acts which
have some other lawful purpose but could also
be used (or, more accurately, misused) to
coerce payment of a debt. The reporting of a
delinquent debt to a credit reporting agency is
not inherently an act to collect a debt but rather
to share information relevant to credit granting
decisions. [*12] A creditor reports both
performing and delinquent accounts in the
expectation that other credit grantors will do
the same, enhancing each creditor's ability. to
cvaluate proposed credit transactions and to
avoid extending credit or making loans to poor
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credit risks.
This is not to say that the reporting of a
discharged debt as delinquent rather than
discharged would not, at least in some
circumstances, place pressure on a debtor to
pay the debt. And the court does not doubt that
there are at least some creditors who report
discharged debts without an indication of their
bankruptcy status in the hope that debtors will
be pressured into paying them as a condition of
obtaining future credit. But where the action
complained of does not on its face constitute an
act to collect a debt, the burden is on the debtor
to show that the creditor took the challenged
* action for the specific purpose of collecting a
discharged debt. .. .. : ‘

Of course there will be circumstances in which
an improper motive may be inferred, thereby
shifting the burden to the creditor of showing
otherwise. For example, if a creditor, having
been informed of the problem, inexplicably
fails to take corrective action, a debt
[*¥13] collection motive may be inferred
(particularly where the creditor fails to respond

_to the motion to réopen alleging such a
motive). In those circumstances, reopening the
case to award injunctive relief and attorneys
fees might well be appropriate, even in the
absence of other provable damages. . ..

In re Jones; 367 B.R. 564, 569-70 (Bankr. E.D. Va.

2007) (citations and footnote omitted).

This case falls within that latter situation the Jones
court identifies. The evidence shows Ocwen did
more than delay updating its accounts. It
transmitted an - inaccurate payoff quote and loan
history to debtors' potential mortgagee; assessed
discharged principal, fees, and costs; reported
inaccurate information to credit reporting agencies;
and, most importantly, after the inaccurate
information had been brought to its aitention a
number of times, failed to correct the information,
at least as of the date of the bankruptcy court's
hearing. Ocwen never presented any evidence to

the contrary. The court agrees with the bankruptcy
court that Ocwen willfully violated the discharge
injunction and the bankruptcy court's 23 May 2008
order. As such, the bankruptcy court had the

authority pursuant to 11 US.C. § 105 [*14] to
sanction Ocwen for these violations.

C. Punitive Damages

Ocwen next argues that even if the bankruptcy
court had the authority to hold it in civil contempt
under § 105, the punitive damages award
constitutes an impermissible criminal contempt
sanction.* Ocwen correctly recognizes that how a
court labels a contempt sanction is not dispositive.
Rather, oo

the critical features for determining whether a
contempt remedy is civil or criminal are the
substance of the proceeding and the character
of the relief that the proceeding will afford.
When the nature of the relief and the purpose
for which the contempt sanction is imposed is
remedial and intended to coerce the contemnor
into compliance with court orders or to
compensate the complainant for losses
sustained, the contempt is civil; if, on the other
hand, the relief seeks to vindicate the authority
of the court by punishing the contemnor and
deterring future litigants’ misconduct, the
contempt is ecriminal. For these reasons,
putatively civil contempt sanctions will be held
to be criminal sanctions in cases when the fines
were not conditioned on compliance with a
court order, not tailored to compensate the
complaining party, but instead [*15] initiated
to vindicate the authority of the court and to
punish the actions of the alleged contemnor.

Cromer v. Kraft Foods N. Am.. Inc.. 390 F.3d 812,
821-22 (4th Cir. 2004) (citations, alteration, and
quotations omitted). If the contempt sanction is in

4Notably, Ocwen does not argue that its conduct does not mest the
standard the bankruptcy court applied to assess punitive damages,
i.e., "egregious conduct, 'malevolent intent,’ or 'clear disregard of
the bankruptey laws," (DE #1-2 at 11).
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fact criminal, certain due process protections must
be provided and procedures followed prior to its
. imposition. See id. at 820.

A number of courts recognize that punitive
damages may be awarded as a contempt sanction
under §_ J05 for violation of the discharge
injunction. See; e.g.. In re Workman, 392 B.R. 189,
195, 196 (Bankr. DS.C. 2007) (awarding
plamtlﬂ"s/debtors punitive damages of $100 per
day, from time mortgagee sent plaintiffs/debtors
letter inaccurately notifying them they were past
due on mortgage and responsible for fees through
entry of contempt order, for violating confirmation
and discharge orders as "appropriate to coerce
compliance with the orders"); In re Mooney. 340
BR 351 361-62 {(Bankr. ED. Tx. 2000)
[*16] (finding a punitive damages award of
$40,000 for violation of the discharge injunction as
"necessary and appropriate to carry out the
provisions of the Bankruptcy Code" where creditor
continued with its course of conduct even after
having been informed of its violations of the
discharge injunction); In re Cherry; 247 B.R. 176,
187 189-90 (Bankr. E.D. Va. 2000) (although
ultimately concluding punitive damages were not

warranted, recognizing most courts allow punitive
damages for violation of the discharge injunction).

But see In re Dyer, 322 F.3d 1178, 1195 (9th Cir.
2003) ("[W]hen a bankruptcy court exercises the

contempt authority of § 105(a), it may not impose
serious punitive sanctions.").

The imposition of punitive damages as a contempt
sanction does not necessarily constitute a criminal
contempt sanction. As a bankruptcy court has
noted,

[t]he imposition of punitive damages under the
authority granted under § /05 in this context
does not carry this court into the realm of
criminal contempt as contemplated by 18
US.C._§ 40I[, the criminal contempt statute,]
and Griffith v. Oles (In re Hipp). 895 F.2d
1503, 1515 (5th Cir. 1990)f, where the Fifth
Circuit held that bankruptcy courts [*17] do

not have jurisdiction to try for criminal
contempt]. - Clearly every assessment of
punitive damages does not occur within that
-forbidden realm. The assertion that all criminal
. contempt sanctions are punitive in nature does
not render all punitive sanctions criminal in
nature. This Court is not assessing . these
punitive sanctions for contempt of this Court's
authority. It is assessing these sanctions, as
requested by the debtor, for the violation of the
statutory protections provided to her under §
524 and to which she is entitled as the quid pro
quo. for properly disclosing and surrendering all
of her non-exempt property to the trustee for
the benefit of her creditors. The vindication of
these statutory protections is critical to the
proper restructuring of the debtor-creditor
relationship and is an integral part of the
bankruptcy case, not separate and independent
from it. Issuing reasonable sanctions of this
type under the proper circumstances is clearly
"necessary and appropriate” to insure that the
bankruptcy system actually works. Although
language utilized in some jurisprudence has
unfortunately blurred the lines in this area, [the
creditor] committed no crime here, nor is it
[*18] being punished for one.

Mooney, 340 B.R. at 362 n.29.

‘In this case, the court finds that the Bankruptcy

court's $66,300 punitive sanction was a proper civil
contempt sanction. It is clear from the record that
the bankruptcy court was most concerned about
Ocwen's failure to correct its reports or the
information it reports to credit reporting agencies,
despife having been repeatedly notified of such
failure and in the face of the motion to show cause
and hearing thereon. (See DE #1-2 at 7
(recognizing at the hearing that the court was
presented with no evidence that Ocwen had taken
any corrective action to date), 8 ("That Ocwen still

.proposes to correct its reporting, and has not yet

given proof of having done so, is mind-boggling."
(emphases in original)), 9 ("The fact that Ocwen is
unwilling to acknowledge the seriousness of this
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matter even today carries significant weight with
the court."); DE #11 at 54 ("I find most egregious
here, although . . . violation of an order of this court
is egregious in and of itself, is the continued
reporting of this loan in the fashion, almost to date.
I find that most egregious and if 1, in fact, do award
punitive damages, it will be based in large

[¥19] part upon that.").) Specifically with reference
to punitive damages, Judge Humrickhouse stated,
"Ocwen has given every indication that it is and
will remain indifferent to the statutory significance
of the discharge injunction and to the express terms
of the May 23, 2008 order, unless it is compelled to
take note." (DE #1-2 at 11 (citing Cherry. 247 B.R.
176, 189-90).) These statements evidence the
judge's belief that Ocwen would not take any action
on its records without a punitive sanction being
imposed. Thus, the punitive sanction was intended
to coerce Ocwen into correcting its records and the
information it was disseminating about debtors'
accounts and thereby coercing Ocwen to comply
with the discharge injunction and the court's 23
May 2008 order. Ultimately, an award of this type
is necessary and appropriate to carry out the "fresh
start" provisions of the Bankruptcy Code and is a
proper civil contempt sanction under the facts here.

D. Constitutionality. of Punitive Sanctions

Finally, Ocwen contends that the bankruptcy court's
punitive damages -award -is unconstitutionally
excessive. In evaluating the reasonableness of a
punitive damage award, courts consider (1) the
degree of reprehensibility [*20] of the wrongdoer's
conduct; (2) the ratio of the punitive damages
award to compensatory damages; and (3) punitive
damage awards or sanctions for comparable
misconduct. See BMW of N. Am., Inc. v. Gore, 517
US. 539, 574-84. 116 S. Ct. 1589, 134 L. Ed. 2d
809 (1996). The court examines each of these in
turn.

Evaluation of reprehensibility is based on five
factors:

(1) whether the harm done was physical as
opposed to economic; (2) whether the conduct

involved indifference to the health or safety of
others; (3) whether the victim was financially
vulnerable; (4) whether the conduct involved
repeated actions or was isolated; and (5)
whether the harm suffered by the plaintiff
resulted from conduct that was known or
suspected to be unlawful.

EEOC v. Federal Express Corp., 513 F.3d 360,
376-77 (4th Cir. 2008) (citing BMW, 517 U.S. at
576-77). Considering these factors, Ocwen's
conduct was, indeed, reprehensible. Its gross
misrepresentation of the status of debtors' mortgage
debt was not an isolated incident. In fact, it
continued over a period of many months, despite
debtors' and their attorney's repeated requests that
Ocwen rectify its error and their filing of a motion
to show cause. Such persistent misconduct can only
be characterized [*21] as willful and intentional.
Furthermore, as previously recognized, debtors
depended upon Ocwen's accurate reporting to take
full advantage of the "fresh start” offered by the
bankruptcy system. Ocwen's conduct is particularly
worthy of punitive sanctions, given debtors'
financial vulnerability, See BMW, 517 U.S. at 576
("To be sure, infliction of economic injury,
especially when done intentionally through
affirmative acts of misconduct or when the target is
financially vulnerablé, can warrant substantial
penalty." (citation omitted)).

Turning to the ratio of punitive damages to the
compensatory award, Ocwen contends that the
amount of the punitive award is impermissibly
excessive because it represents a 14-to-1 ratio. It is
true that awards exceeding a single-digit ratio will
generally be deemed unconstitutionally excessive.
See Exxon Shipping- Co. v. Baker, 554 U.S. 471,
501, 128 8. Ct. 2605. 171 L. Ed. 2d 570 (2008}
("[W]e have determined that 'few awards exceeding
a single-digit ratio between punitive and
compensatory damages, to a significant degree, will
satisfy due process'. . . ." (citation omitted)).
However, Ocwen's argument fails to consider the
previously-determined permissible loan balance
modification in its [*22] ratio calculation.
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Including the value of loan balance modification,
the ratio between the punitive and compensatory
damages awards is, in fact, 4-to-1, and falls
squarely within the confines of due process.?

Finally, the punitive damages award is consistent
with damage awards in comparable cases. See
Workman, 392 B.R. at 196-97 ($100.00 per day for
each day mortgagee violated the confirmation and
discharge orders (relying on 4.H Robins Co., Inc.,
197 B.R. 561 (ED. Va 1994) (sanctioning an
attorney $100.00 per day for each day that he was
in violation of a confirmation order)).

In sum, the court finds that the punitive damages
award does not exceed constitutional limitations.

I [*23] CONCLUSION

The 7 July 2010 Order of the Bankruptcy Court of
the Eastern District of North Carolina is
AFFIRMED.

This 24 January 2011.

/s/ W. Earl Britt

W. Earl Britt

Senior U.S. District Judge

Page 8 of 8

End of Document

5 The value of the loan modification is the difference in the amount
Ocwen claimed as the principal owing as of 23 May 2008
($76,426.43) and the amount the bankruptcy court set as the balance
remaining as of 1 July 2010 ($65,373.12). (See DE #1-2 at 11.) This
calculation does not teke into account the effect of the new 6%
interest rate over the remaining life of the loan, which would
presumably result in an even higher compensatory damage figure
and thus a lower ratio of punitive damages to compeasatory
damages.
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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE DISTRICT OF COLORADO

Civil Action No. 17-cv-00025-WYD-KHR
VALERIE JEFFERS,
Plaintiff,
V.
OCWEN LOAN SERVICING, LLC,

Defendant.

FINAL JUDGMENT

THIS MATTER came before the Court and a jury of ten duly sworn to try the matter on
February 20, 2018 the Honorable Wiley Y. Daniel, Senior United States District Judge,
presiding. On February 22 2018, the jury returned its verdict as follows:

Verdict Form
We, the jury, being duly empaneled and swom to try the above-captioned case, do unanimously
find our Verdict as follows:

L Fair Credit Reporting Act Claims
Question 1: Has the Plaintiff proved by a preponderance of the evidence that Defendant
negligently violated the Fair Credit Reporting Act as defined in Instruction Nos. 7, 12 and 13?

Answer: YES
Question 2: Has the Plaintiff proved by a preponderance of the evidence that Defendant
willfully violated the Fair Credit Reporting Act as defined in Instruction Nos. 10, 11, 12 and 13?

Answer: YES
-1
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Question 3: Ifyou a'nswered "YES" to Question 1 or Question 2, or both, then state the
amount of Plaintiff's actual damages oﬁ her Fair Credit Reporting Act claims:

'$25,000.00
Question 4: If you answered "YES" to Question 2, then state the amount of Piaintift’s punitive
damages on her Fair Credit Reporting Act claim:

$360,000.00

. Breach of Contract Claim
Question 5: Has the Plaintiff proved by a preponderance of the evidence that Defendant
breached the contract?

Answer: YES
Question 8: [f you answered "YES" to Question 5, has the Plaintiff proved by a
preponderance of the evidence that she incurred damages on her Breach of Contract claim as
defined in Instruction Nos. 20, 21 and 227

Answer: YES
If your answer to Question 6 is "YES," in what amount?

$15,000.00
Proceed to sign the appropriate form of certification section.

IT IS THEREFORE

ORDERED that judgment is hereby entered in favor of Plaintiff, Valerie Jeffers, and

against Defendant, Ocwen Loan Servicing, LLC, in the total amount of $25,000.00 on Plaintiff's

Fair Credit Reporting Act Claims. It is further

-2-
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ORDERED that judgment is hereby entered in favor of Plaintiff, Valerie Jeffers, and
against Defendant, Ocwen Loan Servicing, LLC, in the total amount of $360,000.00 for punitive
damages on Plaintiff's Fair Credit Reporting Act Claims. It is further

ORDERED that judgment is hereby entered in favor of Plaintiff, Valerie Jeffers, and
against Defendant, Ocwen Loan Servicing, LLC, in the total amount of $15,000.00 on Plaintiff's
Breach of Contract Claim. it is further

ORDERED that post-judgment interest shall accrue on the total amount of $400,006.00
at the legal rate of 1.97% per annum from the date of entry of judgment. I is further

ORDERED that Plaintiff shall have its-costs by the filing of a Bill of Costs with the Clerk
of this Court within fourteen (14) days of entry of judgment, and pursuant to the procedures set
forth in Fed. R Civ. P. 54(d)(1) and D.C.COLO.LCivR 54.1.

DATED at Denver, Colorado this 23rd day of February, 2017.

FOR THE COURT:

JEFFREY P. COLWELL, CLERK

o] Rebernt B, Reeeh
Robert R. Keech,
Deputy Clerk
APPROVED AS TO FORM:
o] Weley Y. Dassdel

WILEY Y. DANIEL,
SENIOR UNITED STATES DISTRICT JUDGE

-3-
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T the

Uniterr States Court of Appeals
Hor the Seventh Tirruit

No. 19-1569

MONETTE E. SACCAMENO,
Plaintiff-Appellee,

.

U.S. BANK NATIONAL ASSOCIATION, as

trustee for C-BAassS MORTGAGE LoOAN

ASSET-BACKED CERTIFICATES, Series 2007

RP1, and OCWEN LOAN SERVICING, LLC,
Defendants-Appellants.

Appeal from the United States District Court for the
Northern District of llinois, Eastern Division.
No. 1:15-cv-01164 — Joan B. Gottschall, Judge.

ARGUED SEPTEMBER 16, 2019 — DECIDED NOVEMBER 27, 2019

Before BAUER, BRENNAN, and ST. EVE, Circuit Judges.

ST. BVE, Circuit Judge. Chapter 13 bankruptcy is a promise
to a debtor: if you comply with the bankruptcy plan, thenyou
can get a fresh start. That promise went unfulfilled for Mon-
ette Saccameno. She had done everything that was required
of her: she cured the delinquencies in her mortgage and made
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42 monthly mortgage payments under the court’s watchful
eye. Near the end of her bankruptcy, she obtained statements
from her mortgage servicer, Ocwen Loan Servicing, LLC, that
she was paid up—that she was paid ahead even. The court
granted her a discharge.

Ocwen, however, immediately began trying to collect
money that it was not owed and threatening foreclosure. No
problem, Saccameno thought, it must be a simple mistake.
She sent Ocwen all the paperwork it could have needed to fix
its records. When that did not work, she sent it again. Then
she sent it a third and fourth time, with a request from an ac-
quaintance, a lawyer, for an explanation why Ocwen thought
she owed money. Ocwen did not explain. Ocwen did not care.
Ocwen did not truly grasp how wrong its records were until
almost four years later, two days into Saccameno’s jury trial
when its witness was testifying.

It is little wonder, then, that the jury awarded Saccameno
substantial damages for the pain, frustration, and emotional
torment Ocwen put her through. The jury ordered Ocwen to
pay $500,000 in compensatory damages based on three causes
of action that could not support punitive damages. A fourth
claim, under the Illinois Consumer Fraud and Deceptive Busi-
ness Practices Act (ICFA), 815 TLCS 505/1, did allow punitive
damages, and for that claim the jury awarded them to the tune
of $3,000,000, plus compensatory damages of an additional
$82,000. Ocwen challenged this verdict on a variety of
grounds, but the district court upheld the verdict in its en-
tirety. On appeal, Ocwen has limited its arguments to the pu-
nitive damages award, which it contends was not authorized
by Illinois law and is so large that it deprives the company of
property without due process of law. We agree with the
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district court that the jury was well within its rights to punish
Ocwen. We must, however, conclude that the amount of the
award is excessive. We therefore remand to the district court
to amend the judgment.

L. Background

Around 2009, Saccameno fell behind on her $135,000 home
mortgage and her bank, U.S. Bank National Association
(nominally a defendant but irrelevant for our purposes), be-
gan foreclosure proceedings. To keep her home, she sought
the protection of the bankruptcy court and, in December 2009,
began a Chapter 13 plan under which she was required to
cure her default over 42 months while maintaining her ongo-
ing monthly‘mortgage payments. See 11 U.S.C. § 1322(b)(5).

Saccameno first began having problems with Ocwen in
October 2011, shortly after it acqwred her previous servicer.
Ocwen sent her aloan statement saying, inexplicably, that she
owed $16,000 immediately. With her attorney’s advice, Sac-
cameno ignored the statement and continued making pay-
ments based on her plan. Her statements continued to fluctu-
ate: her February 2013 statement said she owed about $7500,
her March statement, $9000. A month later, Ocwen now owed
Saccameno about $1000 in credit, and Ocwen told her she did
not need to pay again until September. Still, Saccameno con-
tinued making payments through June, the last month of her
plan. At that time the bankruptcy court issued a notice of final
cure, Fed. R. Bankr. P. 3002.1, informing Ocwen that Sac-
cameno had completed her payments. Ocwen never re-
sponded to the notice, and the court entered a discharge order
on June 29, 2013. Saccameno’s last statement pre-discharge
showed that the credit in her favor had grown to $2800 and
she was paying down her loan.
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Within days, however, an Ocwen employee, whom Ocwen
refers to only as “Marla,” reviewed the discharge but mistak-
enly treated it as a dismissal. As far as Ocwen was concerned,
then, the bankruptcy stay had been lifted and it could imme-
diately start collecting Saccameno’s debts. This might not
have been a problem —for Saccameno of course did not have
a debt anymore—but Marla’s mistake was only the tip of the
iceberg. Apparently, in March, Ocwen had manually set the
due date for Saccameno’s plan payments to September 2013,
hence the credit. That manual setting took place in a bank-
ruptcy module that overrode and hid Ocwen'’s active foreclo-
sure module, which instead reflected that Saccameno had not
made a single valid payment in 2013, as each check was being
placed into a suspense account and not being applied to the
loan. Marla’s dismissal entry deactivated the bankruptcy
module and reactivated: the foreclosure one. If Marla had
properly marked Saccameno’s bankruptcy as a discharge,
then someone in Ocwen’s bankruptcy department would
have reconciled the plan payments with the suspense ac-
counts before closing both modules.

Instead, on July 6 and 9, Ocwen sent Saccameno two letters
saying it had not heard from her since its non-existent recent
communication about her “severely delinquent mortgage.”
The letters offered the contact information of governmental
and non-profit services for people unable to make their home
mortgage payments. They also warned Saccameno that fail-
ure to respond could result in fees from foreclosure, sale of
the property, and eviction, and that this process could ruin
her credit, making it hard for her even to find a new rental
property. Saccameno understandably dubbed these the
“you'll never rent in this town again” letters.
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Before these letters arrived, Saccameno called Ocwen to
ask about lowering her interest rate. An Ocwen employee said
she was not eligible because she was several thousand dollars

~ in default. Knowing this was a mistake, two weeks out from
her discharge, Saccameno asked how to correct the records
and was given a number where she could fax her documents.
She did so a few days later, and with that paperwork Ocwen
corrected Marla’s mistake before July was over.

If only that were the end of this story. With the corrected
records, Ocwen’s bankruptcy department performed a recon-
ciliation and recognized that Saccameno had made several
payments in 2013, so her default was nowhere near as large
as the employee had said. Nevertheless, it somehow deter-
mined that she had missed two payments during her bank-
ruptcy, so she was still in default—albeit to a lesser extent—
and the foreclosure module remained open. In August,
Ocwen sent Saccameno a letter declaring that it had “waived”
$1600 in fees (that had been discharged) and that it was miss-
ing two of her plan payments (which, even if true, would also
have been discharged under the terms of the plan). Around
this time Ocwen assigned Saccameno a “relationship man-
ager,” Anthony Gomes, who scheduled a call with Sac-
cameno. He was not familiar with her file or the documents
she had sent, and asked Saccameno to resend them. She did,
and they never spoke again. Instead Saccameno would fre-
quently call Ocwen’s customer service line and each time was
directed to a new, similarly unhelpful person.

. While this was all going on, Saccameno remained optimis-
tic and continued to make her monthly payments. Ocwen had

accepted her payments for July and August 2013 but began
rejecting them in September because each payment was not
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enough to cure her supposed default. After a few months of
rejection, more letters like those sent in July, and further futile
phone calls, Saccameno recruited an acquaintance, an attor-
ney named Susan Van Sky, to help. Van Sky wrote to Ocwen,
explained how Saccameno had made all her payments during
her bankruptcy, as confirmed by the court, and asked for an
explanation how, then, Saccameno could be in default. She
followed up with a phone call and an Ocwen representative
insisted that the company never rejects payments and re-
quested proof that it had done so. Van Sky followed directions
and faxed 100 pages of Saccameno’s paperwork to the num-

- ber Ocwen had provided. Somehow this paperwork was
routed to the wrong department and the receiving depart-
ment refused to do anything with it. Van Sky continued to call
Ocwen, also reaching new people each time. Some asked her
to fax the same papers again, so she sent them once more.

Eventually, Ocwen sent Van Sky something back, though
calling it a response would be generous. The form letter re-
ferred to the dates of Saccameno’s bankruptcy but otherwise
mentioned nothing about her loan and did not answer any of
Van Sky’s questions. Ocwen had not even updated the form
with Saccameno’s name. Instead it referred to another mort-
gagor. Attached was a spreadsheet that supposedly explained
how Saccameno was behind in her payments; Van Sky,
though, could not decipher the spreadsheet, and Ocwen did
not elucidate. Exhausted from the lack of progress, and no

‘longer having time to help, Van Sky dropped out and Sac-
cameno hired counsel.

Ocwen, meanwhile, continued to reject Saccameno’s pay-
ments. The erroneous default grew and grew as the underly-
ing foreclosure action remained pending in the Circuit Court
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of Cook County. Though the Circuit Court had stayed the case
because of the bankruptcy, Ocwen was internally preparing
to revive it and seek a judgment of foreclosure. Periodically,
its experts appraised the property, and agents checked each
month if Saccameno was still living in the home (and if they
concluded she was not, they would have placed locks on the
doors). Ocwen added the costs of these measures to Sac-
cameno’s debt. It also produced affidavits to support a re-
quest for judgment of foreclosure, including one prepared as
early as July 2013, and gave them to its local law firm. That
firm filed an appearance in the foreclosure proceeding in 2014
and told Ocwen, in January 2015, that it needed only one more
document before it could move for judgment.

Perhaps part of the reason Ocwen never did move for
judgment was this suit, filed the next month. As relevant to
this appeal, Saccameno sought damages under four legal the-
ories: breach of contract, for the refused payments; the Fair
Debt Collection Practices Act (FDCPA), 15 U.S.C. § 1692, for
the false collection letters; the Real Estate Settlement Proce-
dures Act (RESPA), 12 U.S.C. § 2601, for the inadequate re-
sponses to Saccameno and Van Sky’s inquiries; and the ICFA.
The ICFA claim related to Ocwen'’s false oral and written
statements regarding Saccameno’s default and its unfair prac-
tices in violation of consent decrees that Ocwen previously
had entered with various regulatory bodies. These decrees
addressed, among other things, its inadequate recordkeeping,
misapplication of payments, and poor customer service.
Among the steps Ocwen had consented to take was to track
Chapter 13 plan payments accurately and to reconcile its ac-
counts on discharge or disrmissal.
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Once Ocwen received the complaint, it overrode the fore-
closure module again with the bankruptcy module. This had
two effects. First, just a week after she filed the complaint,
Ocwen sent Saccameno an offer to refinance her mortgage,
deigning to grant her the “opportunity” to stay in her home.
This offer would have lowered her interest rate and her
monthly payment but increased her principal. Saccameno
could afford her payments post-bankruptcy, though, and
wanted to make progress toward owning her home outright.
Ocwen sent another offer in July 2015, though Saccameno was
even less pleased with this one. She viewed it as a “life sen-
tence” because, though it would have lowered her interest
rate, it would have increased her principal, reset her mortgage
to last another thirty years, and ended with a balloon payment
of nearly half the principal. Second, Ocwen inexplicably
started accepting Saccameno’s payments for March and April.
She stopped sending them, on her attorney’s advice. Little else
happened regarding the loan, except that Ocwen voluntarily

" dismissed the state-court foreclosure case in March 2016.

The jury heard all of this at trial—as well as testimony re-
garding the mental and emotional strain Saccameno went
through because of Ocwen’s continuous errors. Ocwen had
promised the jury, in its opening statement, that it would ex-
plain why it received only 40 payments during the bank-
ruptcy. It never had the chance, though, as Saccameno’s coun-
sel diligently walked Ocwen’s representative through its own
records payment by payment. Just before lunch on the second
day of trial, the representative counted to 42, confirming that
Saccameno had made each payment. Ocwen never again ar-
gued otherwise. It instead focused on Marla’s mistake in July
of 2013—the marking of dismissal instead of discharge. The
jury evidently did not buy the story that Saccameno’s years of
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woeful treatment could be placed on the shoulders of a single,
essentially anonymous, line employee. Notably, Ocwen did
not produce Marla—did not even give her a last name. Its cor-
porate representative admitted that it had not investigated
Marla, had never checked to see if she—or anyone else—had
done something similar before or since, and did not know
even if Marla was still employed with the company (though
the representative suspected not, because her name was not
in the email directory).

The jury found in Saccameno’s favor on all counts. By the
parties’ agreement, the verdict form included a single line for
compensatory damages under the breach of contract, FDCPA,
and RESPA claims and the jury wrote $500,000 on that line.
Because only the ICFA claim could include punitive damages,
and it requires that one prove economic damages before re-
ceiving other damages, see 815 ILCS 505/10a(a), Saccameno
agreed to place that claim in its own section of the verdict
form with a line each for economic, non-economic, and puni-
tive damages. The parties further agreed that the ICFA dam-
ages would not be treated as a subset of the damages on the
other three counts. For this claim, the jury awarded $12,000 in
economic, $70,000 in non-economic, and $3,000,000 in puni-
tive damages, resulting in a total award of $3,582,000.

Ocwen responded with three post-verdict motions. The
first, a motion for new trial, objected to the admission of the
consent decrees. The second, a request for judgment as a mat-
ter of law, challenged the sufficiency of the evidence on every
count other than the FDCPA claim. As relevant here, it argued
that the award of punitive damages was not supported by suf-
ficient evidence. The third motion, to amend the judgment,
argued that the punitive damage amount was excessive, in
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violation of the Due Process Clause. Ocwen primarily sought -
to compare the $3,000,000 award to the $12,000 in economic
damages the jury found. Saccamenoinstead urged the district
court to compare the punitive award to the combined dam-
ages on all four counts.

The district court thoroughly considered and deflected
Ocwen’s barrage of arguments and upheld the verdict. On the
punitive damages, the district court concluded that the jury
reasonably found Ocwen’s employees had been deliberately
indifferent to the risk that Saccameno would be harmed, and
Ocwen’s management had notice of—and ratified—its em-
ployees conduct. On the constitutional question, the court de-
cided that the proper comparator for the punitive damages
award was the total amount awarded on all four counts, as
they involved related conduct. That resulted in a punitive
damages ratio of roughly 5:1, which the court concluded was
not unconstitutionally high given the.reprehensibility of
Ocwen'’s conduct. ’

II. Sufficiency of the Evidence

We address first Ocwen’s argument that there was insuffi-
cient evidence for the jury to award punitive damages at all.
We review the sufficiency of the evidence de novo and ask
whether the record, viewed in the light most favorable to the
prevailing party, can support the jury’s verdict. Parks v. Wells
Fargo Home Mortg., Inc., 398 F.3d 937, 942 (7th Cir. 2005).

Under Illinois law, punitive damages may be awarded
only if “the defendant's tortious conduct evinces a high de-
gree of moral culpability, that is, when the tort is ‘committed
with fraud, actual malice, deliberate violence or oppression,
or when the defendant acts willfully, or with such gross
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negligence as to indicate a wanton disregard of the rights of
others.” Slovinski v. Elliot, 927 N.E.2d 1221, 1225 (1IL. 2010)
(quoting Kelsay v. Motorola, Inc., 384 N.E2d 353, 359 (IIl.
1978)). When the defendant is a corporation, like Ocwen, the
plaintiff must demonstrate also that the corporation itself was
complicit in its employees’ tortious acts. See Kemner v. Mon-
santo Co., 576 N.E.2d 1146, 1156 (lll. App. Ct. 1991); see also
Douglass v. Hustler Magazine, Inc., 769 F.2d 1128, 1145-46 (7th
Cir. 1985). Ocwen contends that Saccameno’s case failed in
both respects.

The parties first accuse each other of waiving their argu-
-ments regarding corporate complicity, but both assertions are
meritless. Saccameno contends that Ocwen cannot challenge
the verdict because it did not object to the jury instructions.
The instructions properly tracked Illinois law and Ocwen’s ar-
guments, so it is permitted to argue that the jury misapplied
those instructions to the facts. See Jabat, Inc. v. Smith, 201 F.3d
852, 857 (7th Cir. 2000). Saccameno offers nothing else on this
issue, so Ocwen responds that she has waived the chance to
seek affirmance of the district court’s decision. An appellee
cannot waive an argument as easily as an appellant can,
though. See Thayer v. Chiczewski, 705 F.3d 237, 247 (7th Cir.
2012). Even if an appellee forgoes a brief entirely, we may still
affirm. See Blackwell v. Cole Taylor Bank, 152 F.3d 666, 673 (7th
Cir. 1998). We are especially unwilling to deem Saccameno’s
argument waived, as it goes to the validity of the jury’s ver-
dict, to which we are inclined to defer, e.g., Gracia v. SigmaTron
Int’l, Inc., 842 F.3d 1010, 1018-19 (7th Cir. 2016).

On the merits, Ocwen argues that the evidence could sup-
port only a finding of negligence, not a “conscious and delib-
erate disregard” for Saccameno’s rights. Parks, 398 F.3d at 942.
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It continues to place most of the blame on what it calls “an
isolated ‘“miscoding’ error committed by a lone employee,
identified as ‘Marla.”

Ocwen cannot pin this case on Marla. Her error was one
among a host of others; and each error was compounded by
Ocwen’s obstinate refusal to correct them. If this case were
truly Marla’s fault, then Saccameno’s troubles would have
lasted a month—most of July 2013. That was how long it took
for Saccameno to point Ocwen toward Marla’s mistake, and
for Ocwen to change the dismissal to a discharge. The real
problems only began at that point though, as Ocwen falsely
claimed that Saccameno had missed two plan payments for
the first time in August and started improperly rejecting Sac-
cameno’s payments in September. Ocwen apparently did not
discover the former until the second.day of trial and likely
would have continued the latter until it filed for foreclosure,
had this lawsuit not gotten in the way.

Ocwen contends that the miscounting of payments was
also a human error—though it does not identify a human. We
are not sure how many human errors a company like Ocwen
gets before a jury can reasonably infer a conscious disregard
of a person’s rights, but we are certain Ocwen passed it. The
record is replete with evidence that Ocwen’s servicing of Sac-
cameno’s loan was chaos from the moment Ocwen began
working on the loan in 2011 to the day of the jury’s verdict
nearly seven years later. Saccameno’s successful bankruptcy
should have made things easier by resetting everything to
zero—“fully current as of the date of the trustee’s notice,” the
plan said. With her bankruptcy papers in hand, Saccameno
repeatedly attempted to inform Ocwen that it had made an
obvious mistake. This was not enough, though, and when
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Saccameno and Van Sky sought to find out why, Ocwen did
not explain. Instead it sent her a letter written to someone else.

Ocwen likens itself to the bank in Cruthis v. Firstar Bank,
N.A, 822 N.E.2d 454 (Ill. App. Ct. 2004), which illegally re-
versed payments into the plaintiffs’ account at the behest of
the payor. Id. at 458-59. Though this act was conversion, the
court found punitive damages unjustified because the bank
had credited the plaintiffs’ account after being confronted. Id.
at 465. On seeing their account had been emptied, the plain-
tiffs had inquired with a bank manager; that manager helped
them to challenge the withdrawal and did his own internal
investigation. Id. at 459. Initially, a vice president wrongly
said the withdrawal had been fine, but within two months the
bank had corrected the plaintiffs’ account and waived all
charges. Id. at 460. Ocwen, in contrast, never noticed most of
its mistakes, even well into this case. Its “waiver” of fees was
not an acceptance of responsibility but a result of the dis-
charge. No helpful manager assisted Saccameno—though
Ocwen tries to cast Gomes in this role, he is a pale imitation.
He spoke with Saccameno once, knew nothing of her case, of-
fered no assistance, and only requested that she send paper-
work that Ocwen already had twice over.

Ocwen’s comparison to Parks v. Wells Fargo Home Mortgage
is even further afield. There, a mortgagee failed to pay taxes
on a couple’s home, allowing a tax scavenger to fraudulently
obtain title. 398 F.3d at 939—40. In concluding that the defend-
ant had not acted with conscious disregard of the Parks’
rights, we emphasized that the company, on learning of its
mistakes, “set out to make matters right, and it succeeded in
doing so in relatively short order.” Id. at 943. When the plain-
tiffs -had called in, the company “immediately put two
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researchers on the job to find out what could be going on”;
those researchers discovered and explained exactly how the
taxes had gone unpaid, and the company succeeded in getting
the fraudulent deed vacated. Id. at 940. Ocwen, however, still
has offered no real explanation for any of the errors its em-
ployees made, and never acted to correct its mistakes. This
“unwilling[ness] to take steps to determine what occurred”
warranted punitive damages under the ICFA. Dubey v. Pub.
Storage, Inc., 918 N.E.2d 265, 280 (Ill. App. Ct. 2009).

The utter lack of explanation also supports a finding of
corporate complicity. Illinois law insists on managerial in-
volvement before punitive damages may be awarded against
a corporation. See Mattyasovszky v. W. Towns Bus Co., 330
N.E.2d 509, 512 (Ul. 1975) (listing four ways this complicity
can be demonstrated). Saccameno, however, interacted only
with line employees and never escalated her dispute. The dis-
trict court thus rightly recognized that the only plausible basis
on this record for corporate complicity is that “the principal
or a managerial agent of the principal ratified or approved the
act” of its employees. Id.; Kemner, 576 N.E.2d at 1156. Ratifica-
tion is governed by agency principles and is “the equivalent
of authorization, but it occurs after the fact, when a principal
gains knowledge of an unauthorized transaction but then re-
tains the benefits or otherwise takes a position inconsistent
with nonaffirmation.” Progress Printing Corp. v. Jane Byrne Po-
litical Comm., 601 N.E.2d 1055, 1067 (Ill. App. Ct. 1992).

As the district court recognized, Illinois law permits a
finding of ratification based on a corporation’s litigation con-
duct, if that conduct is inconsistent with nonaffirmation. In
Robinson v. Wieboldt Stores, Inc., 433 N.E.2d 1005 (Ill. App. Ct.
1982), a part-time security guard had falsely imprisoned a
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woman on suspicion she had stolen a scarf, despite her re-
ceipt. Id. at 1007. The defendant’s chief of security testified
that a receipt alone was not a reason for a guard to conclude
a person was not a thief, and initially denied that any guards
were working on the day in question. Id. at 1009. On cross-
examination, though, he revealed that the plaintiff's descrip-
tion of the guard matched that of a part-timer, who the corpo-
ration never produced. Id. at 1008. Based on this conduct, the
court permitted the jury to consider an award of punitive
damages against the corporation, as it had “continued to de-
fend the actions of its agent throughout the course of th[e] lit-
igation and ... shown no attempt to alter its procedures.” Id.
at 1009. Robinson, though, does not stand for the proposition
that defending a lawsuit alone ratifies employees’ actions. So
the court held in Kennan v. Checker Taxi Co., 620 N.E.2d 1208
(1. App. Ct. 1993), in which the corporation “did not ignore
plaintiff’s complaint” that he had been beaten by one of its
drivers. Id. at 1210, 1214. Instead, the company sent an inves-
tigator to speak with the plaintiff, its president directed that
the driver’s lease not be renewed, and by the time of trial, the
driver and company were “nolonger associated.” Id. at 1214.
These facts invalidated the punitive damages award. Id.

Though a corporation need not go as far as the Checker
Taxi Company to avoid a finding that it ratified its employees
conduct, it must do more than Ocwen did here. We start with
Marla. Even if she were to blame, Ocwen'’s position regarding
her could reasonably be seen as inconsistent with nonaffirma-
tion. Much like the security director in Robinson, Ocwen’s cor-
porate representative knew nothing about Marla (besides her
first name). The representative testified that she did not speak
with Marla, did not know where Marla’s office was, did not
know how long Marla had been an Ocwen employee, and did
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not know if she remained one to this day. The jury heard evi-
dence that no one at Ocwen took any steps, whatsoever, to in-
vestigate how Marla’s mistake—which according to Ocwen
was all but the sole cause of Saccameno’s woes—was made or
how Ocwen would prevent it from happening again. Ocwen
did not need to fire Marla to defeat the inference that it had
ratified her actions, but it needed something from which the
jury could have seen an “attempt to alter its procedures.” Rob-
inson, 433 N.E.2d at 1009.

Marla’s mistake, though, was not the only problem. The
jury’s ratification finding was supported further by Ocwen’s
complete lack of insight into its other, unnamed employees’
errors. Ocwen corrected Marla’s mistake shortly after it oc-
curred, and though Ocwen did not know why Marla had
made it or take any steps to prevent it from recurring, the
company at least acknowledged that it was a mistake (and:
apologized on Marla’s behalf). In contrast, Ocwen went into
this litigation—and the first day of trial—with the view that
Saccameno had missed two payments during her bankruptcy.
Once its misconception was corrected through the testimony
of its own representative, Ocwen had no explanation for how
this whole ordeal happened, let alone how it might be
avoided in the future. The closest it got was to blame the mis-
count on Saccameno’s first fax, in which she mistakenly said
that she had sent three payments in May. (She sent them in
March.) Ocwen'’s representative suspected that this comment
caused researchers to limit the scope of their review to the
time before May when counting the payments. Why they
thought it notable that Saccameno owed two payments, when
she had two months left on her plan at the time they stopped
looking, eludes us. Still, the representative admitted that this
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explanation justified only the letter in August, as no one else
at Ocwen would have had any reason to limit themselves so.

The jury was not obligated to withhold punishment be-
cause Ocwen’s acts were not purely harmful. Ocwen contends
the erroneous credit toward Saccameno in the last few months
of her bankruptcy demonstrates its employees were incompe-
tent, not malicious. Saccameno ignored this false credit,
though, and did not benefit from it; if she had believed
Ocwen, and waited until September to pay her mortgage, she
would have defaulted during her plan, risking the real dismis-
sal of her bankruptcy. Ocwen next points to its offers of assis-
tance as demonstrating good faith, but we agree with the dis-
trict court that the jury could have found those aggravating,
not mitigating. Ocwen had pushed Saccameno towards finan-
cial assistance, but as the district court explained, “Saccameno
no longer needed financial assistance; she simply needed
Ocwen to correct its records.” The loan modification offers
were even worse, Putting to one side their timing, the terms,
especially of the second offer, were far from generous. Why
would Saccameno, having then endured four years with
Ocwen, want to chain herself to the company three decades
more, only to owe it money at the end?

The jury, having little evidence to the contrary, concluded
that Ocwen had accepted its employees’ indifference to Sac-
cameno. Robinson, 433 N.E.2d at 1009; see also Dubey, 918
N.E.2d at 280. Ocwen insisted it had not seen errors like these
before, but its representative admitted it had never bothered
to look. The jury was not required to accept Ocwen’s bare as-
sertion that this was a unique case—especially considering
the consent decrees implying it was not—and could have
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inferred that this is just how Ocwen does business. For that,
Ilinois law permits punitive damages.

. III, Due Process

We next turn to the amount of punitive damages awarded
to Saccameno—$3,000,000. Ocwen contends that this award
exceeds constitutional limits and we address its arguments on
those terms. We remind litigants, though, that the Constitu-
tion is not the most relevant limit to a federal court when as-
sessing punitive damages, as it comes into play “only after the
assessment has been tested against statutory and common-
law principles.” Perez v. Z Frank Oldsmobile, Inc., 223 F.3d 617,
625 (7th Cir. 2000); see also Beard v. Wexford Health Sources, Inc.,
900 F.3d 951, 955 (7th Cir. 2018). The Constitution is the only
federal restraint on a state court’s award of punitive damages,
so it takes center stage in Supreme Court review of state judg-
ments. Perez, 223 F.3d at 625. A federal court, however, can
(and should) reduce a punitive damages award sometime be-
fore it reaches the outermost limits of due process. Id.; Payne
v. Jones, 711 F.3d 85, 97-100 (2d Cir. 2013).

Compensatory and punitive damages serve different pur-
poses. Compensatory damages seek to make the plaintiff
whole and to redress the wrongs committed against her, but
punitive damages are retributive in nature and seek to deter
wrongful acts in the first place. State Farm Mut. Auto. Ins. Co.
v. Campbell, 538 U.S. 408, 416 (2003). The risk of grossly exces-
sive or arbitrary punishment, well beyond that necessary to

~ deter, requires close scrutiny of the amounts of these awards.
Id. at 416-17. We therefore conduct an “[e]xacting” de novo
review of the jury’s award, in which we consider three guide-
posts: the degree of reprehensibility, the disparity between
the harm suffered and the damages awarded, and the
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difference between the award and comparable civil penalties.
Id. at 418; BMW of N. Am., Inc. v. Gore, 517 U.S. 559, 575-85
(1996); Green v. Howser, No. 18-2757, __ E.3d __, 2019 WL
5797158, at *6 (7th Cir. Nov. 7, 2019). Reviewing these guide-
posts, we conclude that the $3,000,000 awarded here exceeds
constitutional limits and must be reduced to $582,000.

A. Reprehensibility

The first and most important guidepost is the reprehensi-
bility of the defendant’s conduct, which we judge based on
five factors including whether .

the harm caused was physical as opposed to
economic; the tortious conduct evinced an indif-
ference to or a reckless disregard of the health
or safety of others; the target of the conduct had
financial vulnerability; the conduct involved re-
peated actions or was an isolated incident; and
the harm was the result of intentional malice,
. trickery, or deceit, or mere accident.

Campbell, 538 U.S. at 419; Green, 2019 WL 5797158 at *6. The
existence of any one factor may not always be enough to sus-
tain a punitive damages award, but “the absence of all of them
renders any award suspect.” Campbell, 538 U.S. at 419. The dis-
trict court considered these factors here, concluding that the
first two factors were inapplicable, but that the last three were
present. Though the parties challenge the district court’s anal-
ysis of all five factors, we largely agree with its reasoning,
though not its result.

The district court rightly concluded that the first two fac-
tors are irrelevant to this case. Saccameno argues otherwise
by framing her depression, anxiety, and panic disorders as
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physical injuries. “Mental deterioration, however, is a psycho-
logical rather than a physical problem.” Sanders v. Melvin, 873
F.3d 957, 959 (7th Cir. 2017) (interpreting Prison Litigation Re-
form Act, 28 U.S.C. § 1915(g)). The first factor is intended to
draw a line—however hard to police—between physical inju-
ries and those that are essentially economic, even if those eco-
nomic injuries cause distress. With that understanding, we
agree that Saccameno did not identify any evidence that she
suffered physical symptoms or that Ocwen should have been
aware of a risk to her health. Cf. McGinnis v. Am. Home Morig.
Servicing, Inc., 901 F.3d 1282, 1288-89 (11th Cir. 2018) (finding
factors met because plaintiff's depression caused projectile
vomiting and she had told her mortgage servicer she was suf-
fering undue stress).

On the third factor, the district court concluded that Sac-
cameno was highly vulnerable financially because she was
just coming out of bankruptcy. Ocwen contends this was er-
rot, as it did not intentionally “exploit” her vulnerability. This
argument is unconvincing both legally and factually. We have
not required intentional exploitation to find that this factor
weighs in favor of punitive damages. See Green, 2019 WL
5797158 at *6 (finding factor relevant because plaintiff was un-
employed); EEOC v. AutoZone, Inc., 707 F.3d 824, 839 (7th Cir.
2013) (same for plaintiff who testified he needed his abusive
job). Moreover, Ocwen’s conduct would have been both dif-
ferent and less reprehensible had Saccameno not recently
come out of bankruptcy. Ocwen sent the letters based on its
belief that the bankruptcy court had dismissed Saccameno’s
case, reflecting her extreme vulnerability. Ocwen’s repre-
sentative also explained that it would have acted differently if

~ the 2009 foreclosure were not pending, as Ocwen ordinarily
starts with a formal demand letter before filing a complaint

Case 7:20-cv-00043-80 DEXEHBIFi@4s/06120 Page 2FRGS Q147



No. 19-1569 21

and only then sends the “you’ll never rent in this town again”
letters. Though the evidence does not show that Ocwen mis-
treated Saccameno because she was in bankruptcy, and so
does not favor a ma_ssive award, the close connection between
her bankruptcy and the conduct in this case supports some
award of punitive damages.!

The fourth factor is whether “the conduct involved re-
peated actions or was an isolated incident.” Campbell, 538 U.S.
at 419. Ocwen asks us to adopt the position of the Sixth Circuit
that this factor refers exclusively to recidivism, see Bridgeport
Music, Inc. v. Justin Combs Publ’g, 507 E.3d 470, 487 (6th Cir.
2007), and thus that the factor does not apply here. We again
disagree legally and factually. We have consistently found
this factor met in cases involving repeated acts against the
same person. See Rainey v. Taylor, 941 F.3d 243, 254 (7th Cir.
2019) (“Taylor continued to grope and expose Rainey’s most
intimate body parts even after she protested, so his miscon-
duct was both repetitious and malicious.”); Estate of Moreland
v. Dieter, 395 F.3d 747, 757 (7th Cir. 2005) (“The defendants'
assault on Moreland was sustained rather than momentary,
and involved a series of wrongful acts, not just a single blow
...."”"). We agree with the Third Circuit that recidivism may of-
ten be more reprehensible than repeated acts against the same
party, but that goes to the degree and not the relevance of the
factor. CGB Occupational Therapy, Inc. v. RHA Health Servs.,
Inc., 499 F.3d 184, 191 (3d Cir. 2007). In any event, the record
contains evidence that Ocwen was a recidivist. The consent

1 Ocwen also argues Saccameno is not vulnerable because she won
such a large verdict. We reject the implication that a defendant’s conduct
is less reprehensible if it causes more harm.
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decrees described how it had treated other customers as it did
Saccameno, and that it had continued its ways despite re-
peated warnings from regulators. The number of opportuni-
ties Ocwen had to fix its mistakes is the core fact that justifies
punishment in this case.

Finally, the last factor is whether the harm was “the result
of intentional malice, trickery, or deceit, or mere accident.”
Campbell, 538 U.S. at 419. Ocwen continues to insist that its
employees were only negligent. Like the district court, we
think Ocwen’s actions were not “mere accident.” The evi-
dence shows instead “reckless indifference,” which we have
found to suffice for this factor to be relevant. Autozone, 707

* F.3d at 839. Certainly, it would be worse if Ocwen had preyed
~ on Saccameno intentionally but Ocwen does not need to be
the worst to be subject to punitive damages.

Ocwen’s conduct was reprehensible, but not to an extreme
degree. It caused no physical injuries and did not reflect any
indifference to Saccameno’s health or safety. Ocwen was,
however, indifferent to her rights, including those rights that
originated from her bankruptcy. No evidence supports that
Ocwen was acting maliciously, though the number of squan-
dered chances ithad to correct its mistakes comes close. These
factors then point toward a substantial punitive damages
award, but not one even approaching the $3,000,000 awarded
here. Such an award was deemed proper in McGinnis v. Amer-
ican Home Mortgage Servicing, Inc., 901 F.3d 1282, a factually
similar case, but there the jury found a specific intent to harm,
and the Eleventh Circuit considered evidence supporting all
five factors, Id. at 1288-91. Ocwen’s conduct was less repre-
hensible than that in McGinnis and thus warrants a smaller
punishment.
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B. Ratio

Ocwen’s primary concern on appeal is with the second
guidepost, the disparity between the harm to the plaintiff and
the punitive damages awarded. Campbell, 538 U.S. at 424. This
guidepost is often represented as a ratio between the compen-
satory and punitive damages awards. The Supreme Court,.
however, has been reluctant to provide strict rules regarding
the calculation of this ratio and instead has offered some gen-
eral points of guidance. Id. at 425. First, few awards exceeding
a single-digit ratio “to a significant degree” will satisfy due
process. Id. Second, the ratio is flexible. Higher ratios may be
appropriate when there are only small damages, and con-
versely, “[w]hen compensatory damages are substantial, then
a lesser ratio, perhaps only equal to compensatory damages,
can reach the outermost limit.” Id. Third, the ratio should not
be confined to actual harm, but also can consider potential
harm. TXO Prod. Corp. v. All. Res. Corp., 509 U.S. 443, 460-61
(1993).

Ocwen argues the district court wrongly inflated this ratio
by looking to the entire compensatory award instead of just
the $82,000 awarded under the ICFA. We agree, not because
the district court was obligated to use a certain denominator
but because the choice between available denominators—and
their resulting ratios —reflecting the same underlying conduct
and harm should not unduly influence whether a given
award is constitutional.

The district court calculated its ratio by adding the com-
pensatory damages awarded on all counts, resulting in a
roughly 5:1 ratio, which the court approved because it was a
single digit. In doing so, it recognized that several courts of
appeals have implied or held that courts should calculate
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punitive damages ratios claim-by-claim. See, e.g., Quigley v.
Winter, 598 F.3d 938, 953-55 (8th Cir. 2010) (considering com-
pensatory damages on one claim while ignoring a small addi-
tional award); Dubey, 918 N.E.2d at 279-82 (considering puni-
tive damages on two claims separately); see also Zhang v. Am.
Gem Seafoods, Inc., 339 F.3d 1020, 1044 (9th Cir. 2003) (consid-
ering punitive damages on only one claim and ignoring other
award that included statutory double damages); Zimmerman
v. Direct Fed. Credit Linion, 262 F.3d 70, 82 n.9 (1st Cir. 2001)
(finding it “appropriate” to consider ratio claim-by-claim but
considering both ratios). The Eighth Circuit explained its ra-
tionale for this approach in JCB, Inc. v. Union Planters Bank,
NA, 539 F.3d 862 (8th Cir. 2008). In that case, the two claims—
trespass and conversion—“protect|ed] distinct legal rights”
and were based on separate acts, so the two awards of puni-
tive damages were considered separately as a matter of both
state law and due process. Id. at 874-75. The district court here
followed the corollary of this logic and aggregated the dam-
ages becatise Saccameno’s four claims involved related con-
duct. See Bains LLC v. Arco Prod. Co., 405 F.3d 764, 776 (9th Cir.
2005) (aggregating a compensatory award with nominal dam-
ages on separate claims because conduct was “intertwined”).
In doing so, the court relied on Fastenal Co. v. Crawford, 609 F.
Supp. 2d 650 (E.D. Ky. 2009), which reasoned that the related
conduct addressed in other counts was. like potential harm,
which the Supreme Court has deemed a valid consideration.
Id. at 660-61.

The Fastenal court started with the premise that “the
award would be unconstitutionally excessive if the ratio is cal-
culated on a claim-by-claim basis, but it would be appropriate
under ari aggregate basis.” I4. at 660. No matter which denom-
inator we use here, though, the actual award of $3,000,000
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remains the same. More importantly, so does Ocwen’s con-
duct and the harm it caused, and it is that conduct and harm
we must assess against the amount awarded. Said another
way, given the same conduct, an increased compensatory
damages award leads to a decreased permissible ratio, and
vice-versa. Campbell, 538 U.S. at 425; Mathias v. Accor Econ.
Lodging, Inc., 347 F.3d 672, 677 (7th Cir. 2003); Cooper v. Casey,
97 F.3d 914, 919-20 (7th Cir. 1996). As the Second Circuit ex-
plained in Payne v. Jones, 711 F.3d 85, the ratio without regard
to the amount “tells us little of value.” Id. at 103. If the jury
had awarded more compensation, then a small ratio of puni-
tive damages might seem high; but if the jury had awarded
less, a larger ratio becomes permissible. Id. Tellingly, most
cases considering whether to aggregate damages reach the
same result either way. See Pollard v. E.I. DuPont De Nemours,
Inc., 412 F.3d 657, 668 (6th Cir. 2005) (affirming); Bains, 405
F.3d at 776 (reversing); Zimmerman, 262 F.3d at 82 & n.9 (af-
firming). More tellingly, the sole exception among federal ap-
pellate decisions is JCB, which based its analysis on principles
of state law distinguishing the different harms—the different
conduct—that each claim represented. 539 F.3d at 874-76.

The disparity guidepost is not a mechanical rule. The court
must calculate the ratio to frame its analysis, but the ratio it-
self does not decide whether the award is permissible. See Wil-
liams v. ConAgra Poultry Co., 378 F.3d 790, 799 (8th Cir. 2004)
(“It is not that such a ratio violates the Constitution. Rather,
the mathematics alerts the courts to the need for special justi-
fication.”). The answer might be yes, despite a high ratio, if
the probability of detection is low, the harms are primarily
dignitary, or if there is a risk that limiting recovery to barely
more than compensatory damages would allow a defendant
to act with impunity. Mathias, 347 F.3d at 676—77. It might be
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no, even with a Iow ratio, if the acts are not that reprehensible
and the damage is easily or already accounted for. Rather
than simply move numbers around on a verdict form to reach
a single-digit ratio, courts should assess the purpose of puni-
tive damages and the conduct at issue in order to evaluate the
award. On the facts of this case, Ocwen’s conduct, which over-
laps all four claims, would be no more or less reprehensible
or harmful if the jury had shifted $50,000 from the compensa-
tory award on the other claims to the ICFA claim or if the ver-
dict form had provided only one line for compehsatory dam-
ages on all four claims.?

The district court recognized this problem. It noted that
the 37:1 ratio without aggregation was high but thought it
might still be constitutional. It did not go so far as to hold, in
the alternative, that this ratio was constitutional, however, and
it was right to hesitate. It listed several cases upholding even
higher ratios on compensatory awards ranging from about
$300 to $8500. Most notable is our decision in Mathias v. Accor
Economy Lodging, where we upheld a 37:1 ratio on $5000 in
compensatory damages. 347 F.3d 672. The compensatory
damages in this case and Mathias, though, are quite different.
Moreovet, the acts in Mathias were incredibly reprehensible.
The defendant motel company knew its rooms were infested
to “farcical proportions” with bedbugs but refused to pay a
small fee to have them exterminated; it instead told employ-
ees to call them ticks and avoid renting infested rooms (unless

2 We express no opinion on whether the verdict form could have or
should have been drafted differently absent the parties’ agreement. The
best verdict form for a given case is a question left to the broad discretion
of the district court and is informed by the unique facts, legal issues, and
other circumstances presented.
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the motel was full). Id. at 674-75. On those facts, a modest
punishment of $186,000 was constitutional, and the high ratio
did not undermine that conclusion. Id..at 678. In contrast, the
$3,000,000 here is not a modest award, and the $82,000 in com-
pensatory damages for the ICFA claim are substantial enough
that a huge multiplier was not needed to reflect harm that was
“slight and at the same time difficult to quantify.” Id. at 677.
A single-digit punitive damages ratio relative to the $82,000
reflects an appropriate punishment on these facts.

 The district court should have hesitated just as much be-
fore upholding a 5:1 ratio relative to the $582,000 compensa-
tory award on all four claims. Campbell instructs that a “sub-
stantial” award merits a ratio closer to 1:1. 538 U.S. at 425.
Ocwen correctly notes that courts have found awards of
roughly this magnitude “substantial” under Campbell and im-
posed a 1:1 ratio. See, e.g., Jones v. United Parcel Serv., Inc., 674
F.3d 1187, 1208 (10th Cir. 2012) ($630,000); Bach v. First Union
Nat. Bank, 486 F.3d 150, 156 (6th Cir. 2007) ($400,000); Williams,
378 F.3d at 799 ($600,000). But see Lompe v. Sunridge Ptrs., LLC,
818 F.3d 1041, 1069 (10th Cir. 2016) (noting that other cases
draw the line at roughly $1,000,000). What counts as substan-
tial depends on the facts of the case, and an award of this size
(or larger) might not mandate a 1:1 ratio on another set of
facts. See Rainey, 941 F.3d at 255 (upholding 6:1 ratio relative
to $1.13 million compensatory award because defendant’s
conduct was “truly egregious”). Here, though, $582,000 is a
considerable compensatory award for the indifferent, not ma-
licious, mistreatment of a single $135,000 mortgage. Moreo-
ver, nearly all this award reflects emotional distress damages
that “already contain [a] punitive element.” Campbell, 538 U.S.
at 426. A ratio relative to this denominatoz, then, should not
exceed 1:1.
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C. Civil Penalties

The final guidepost is the disparity between the award and
“civil penalties authorized or imposed in comparable cases.”
Campbell, 538 U.S. at 428 (quoting Gore, 517 U.S. at 575). The
district court identified two civil penalties to compare to the
punitive damages award. The first was the $50,000 monetary
penalty authorized by the ICFA, which can be calculated per
offense if there is intent to defraud. 815 ILCS 505/7(b). Ocwen
concedes that this penalty is appropriately considered but ar-
gues it cannot support a $3,000,000 award. We agree that
Ocwen'’s actions are not so reprehensible that they might jus-
tify an award equal to the maximum penalty for 60 intentional
violations. Notably, we see no evidence that Ocwen’s actions
in this case' were either intentional or fraudulent, only indif-

~ ferent. This aspect of the guidepost thus points to a lower
award, % o

The second civil penalty the district court considered was
the possibility that Ocwen could have its license to service
mortgages suspended or revoked under the Illinois Residen-
tial Mortgage License Act (RMLA), 205 ILCS 635/4-5. The
court noted that this was far from hypothetical —as Ocwen
had its license placed on probation for, among other things,
RESPA violations. Ocwen insists the court could not consider
the possibility its license would be revoked both because it
was based on the RESPA claim, and not the ICFA, and because
comparing a punitive damages award to a major corporation
losing its license would allow just about any amount of dam-
ages.

We do not think the district court erred in considering the
possibility that Ocwen could lose its license. First of all, the
ICFA too, allows, the attorney general to seek “revocation,
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forfeiture or suspension of any license ... of any person to do
business,” 815 ILCS 505/7(a), and though that may give way
here to the more specific provisions in the RMLA, that law al-
lows revocation of licenses for violation of “any ... law, rule
or regulation of [Illinois] or the United States,” 205 ILCS
635/4-5(a)(1), presumably including the ICFA as well as the
RESPA. This does not mean, of course, that any punitive
award that is less than the value of Ocwen'’s business license
is per se constitutional —far from it. Illinois is not likely to take
away Ocwen’s business license for deceptively saying one
customer owes a few thousand dollars on a $135,000 mort-
gage, no matter how unjustified the error. Like a criminal pen-
alty, then, this sort of extreme equitable remedy has “less util-
ity” when it is used to determine the amount of an award.
Campbell, 538 U.S. at 428. Still, also like a criminal penalty, this
weapon in Illinois’s arsenal has “bearing on the seriousness
with which a State views the wrongful action.” Id. This seri-
ousness would be exaggerated by comparing the award here
with the loss of Ocwen’s license but would be unduly mini-
mized by limiting an award to only the $50,000 civil penalty.

D. Remedy

Considering all the factors together, we are convinced that
the maximum permissible punitive damages award is
$582,000.- An award of this size punishes Ocwen’s. atrocious
recordkeeping and service of Saccameno’s loan without
equating its indifference to intentional malice. It reflects a 1:1
ratio relative to the large total compensatory award and a
roughly 7:1 ratio relative to the $82,000 awarded on the ICFA
claim alone, both of which are consistent with the Supreme
Court’s guidance in Campbell. It is equivalent to the maximum
punishment for less than 12, not 60, intentional violations of
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- the ICFA, though it is also ‘a miniscule amount compared to
the value of Ocwen’s business license.

The final issue the parties dispute is whether the Seventh
Amendment mandates an offer of a new trial after determin-
ing the constitutional limit on the punitive damages award.
We have previously said, without deciding the issue, that
this offer of a new trial is “a matter of sound procedure, not
constitutional law.” Beard, 900 E.3d at 955. Ocwen insists that
this holding was limited by the fact that no party had asked
us to decide the constitutional question, and here it asks us
to do so. Though we continue to emphasize that parties
should focus first on procedural and statutory limits on pu-
nitive damages awards, id. at 955-56, we agree with every
circuit to address this question that the constitutional limit of
a punitive damage award is a question of law not within the
province of the jury, and thus a court is empowered to de-
cide the maximum permissible amount without offering a
new trial. See Lompe, 818 F.3d at 1062; Cortez v. Trans Union,
LLC, 617 F.3d 688, 716 (3d Cir. 2010); Bisbal-Ramos v. City of
Mayaguez, 467 F.3d 16, 27 (1st Cir. 2006); Ross v. Kansas City
Power & Light Co., 293 F.3d 1041, 1049-50 (8th Cir. 2002);
Leatherman Tool Grp. v. Cooper Indus., 285 F.3d 1146, 1151 (9th
Cir. 2002); Johansen v. Combustion Eng’g, Inc., 170 F.3d 1320,
1330-31 (11th Cir. 1999); see also Cooper Indus. v. Leatherman
Tool Grp., 532 U.S.-424, 437 (2001) (“[The level of punitive
damages is not really a ‘fact’ “tried’ by the jury.”).

IV. Conclusion

We therefore remand for the district court to amend its
judgment and reduce the punitive damages award to
$582,000. Each party is to bear its own costs on appeal.
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